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Note by the secretariat

1. The UNFCCC financial procedurest! require that a final audited statement of accounts
for the full financial period be provided to the Conference of the Parties as soon as possible
after the accounts for the financial period have been closed. They also stipulate that the
accounts and financial management of all funds governed by the financial procedures shall
be subject to the internal and external audit process of the United Nations.

2. The United Nations Board of Auditors has audited the financial statements for 2024.
The full text of the Board’s report and of the audited financial statements is included in the
annex and reproduced as received, with the original pagination. The secretariat’s response to
the audit recommendations is contained in the addendum to this document.?

3. The Subsidiary Body for Implementation is invited to take note of the information
contained in the audited financial statements and the report of the Board. It may also wish to
recommend appropriate actions in draft decisions on administrative and financial matters for
consideration and adoption by the Conference of the Parties at its thirtieth session, the
Conference of the Parties serving as the meeting of the Parties to the Kyoto Protocol at its
twentieth session and the Conference of the Parties serving as the meeting of the Parties to
the Paris Agreement at its seventh session.

1 Decision 15/CP.1, annex I.
2 FCCC/SBI/2025/INF.10/Add.1.
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Report of the Board of Auditors on the financial
statements:
Audit Opinion

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of the Umited Nations
Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) which comprise the
statement of financial position (statement I) as at 31 December 2024, the
statement of financial performance (statement IT), the statement of changes in
net assets (statement II), the cash flow statement (statement IV} and the
statement of comparizon of budgets fo actual amounts (statement V) for the
vear then ended, as well as the notes to the financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opiniton, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in
all matenal respects, the finaneial position of UNFCCC as at 31 December
2024, and its finanecial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with the Internatonal Public Sector Accounting Standards

(IPSAS).
Basis for Opinton

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on
Aunditing (ISA) and the International 5tandards of Supreme Audit Institutions
(ISSAT). Our mesponsibiliies under those standards are desembed i the
Aunditor’s Fesponsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of
our report. We are independent of UNFCCC in accordance with the ethical
requirements that are relevant to our andit of the financial statements and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilifies in accordance with these
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opimon.

Emphasis of martter

We draw attention to Note 17 to the financial statements, which describes
the recognition in 2024 of $6.5 millicn in revenue related to prior financial
periods, due to a systemic anomaly in the recognition of conditfional voluntary
contnbutions. Char opinion is not medified in respect of this matter.

Informanen other than the Financial Statements and Auditor’s Reporr
thereon

The UNFCCC Executive Secretary is responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the financial report for the year
ended 31 December 2024 included in chapter IV, but does not include the
finanetal statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Ouwr opinien on the finaneial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the finaneial statements, our responsibihty
15 to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information 1s materially inconsistent with the finaneial statemnents or our
knowledge obtained in the aundit or otherwise appears to be matenally
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there 1=
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing o report in this regard.
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Responsibilines of the Managemenr and Thase Charged with Governance for
the Financial Statements

Management 15 responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the
finanetal statements in accordance with IPSAS and for such internal control as
Management determines is mecessary to enable the preparation of finaneial
statements that are free from matenial misstatement, whether due to fraud or
EITOT.

In prepanng the finanecial statements, Management 15 responsible for
assessing UNFCCC™s abality to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concem and using the going concern bazis
of accounting unless Management either ntends to hgmdate TNFCCC or to
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are respemsible for oversesing
UNFCCC’s financial reporting process.

Aunditor’s Responsibilities for the Audir of the Financial Statements

Owr objectives are to obtain reasonmable assurance about whether the
financial statements as a2 whole are free from material misstatements, whether
due to fraud or error, and to 155ue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Feasonable assurance 15 a hugh level of assurance, but 15 not a gnarantes that
an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material
misstatement when 1t exists. Misstatements can anse from fraud or emor and
are considered matenal if, individually or i the aggregate, they could
reaszonably be sxpected to mfluence the economic decizions of users taken on

the basis of these financial statements.

Az part of an audit i accordance with International Standards on
Auditing, we exercise professional judgment and maintan professiomal
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

{a) ldentify and assess the rizks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those nisks, and obtain audit evidence that
15 suffictent and appropriate to provide a basis for our opimon. The
nzk of not defecting a material musstatement resulting from frand 15
higher than for one resulting from emor, as frawd may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations or the
overmnde of mternal control;

{b) Obtamn an understanding of mnternal control relevant to the audit mn
order te design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpese of expressing an opinien on

the effectiveness of UNFCCC's infernal control;

{c) Evaluate the appropmiateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related dizelosures made
by Management;

{d} Conclude on the appropnateness of Management's use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a matenal uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast sigmficant doubt on UNFCCC's abality to
confitue as a going concern. If we conclude that a materal
uncertainty exists, we ame requred to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the finanecial statements or, 1f such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Owr conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtammed up to the date of our
auditor’s report However, future events or condihons may cause
UNFCCC to cease to continue as a going concern; and
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(e) Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the
finanecial statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achueves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and fiming of the audit and sigmificant audit
findings, including any sigmificant deficiencies in infernal control that we
identify during our audit.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Furthermore, in our opimon, the transactions of UNFCCC that have
come to our notice or that we have tested as part of ouwr audit have, in all
significant respects, been in accordance with the Finaneial Regulations and
Rules of UNFCCC and legislative authority.

In accordance with Article VII of the Umited Nations Financial
Regulations and Fules, we have also 1ssued a long-form report on our andit of

UNFCCC.
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Chair of the Board of Auditors
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Chapter II
Long-form Report of the Board of Auditors

Summary

The Board of Auditors audited the financial statements and reviewsd the
operations of the Umited Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change
{(UMFCCC) for the vear ended 31 December 2024. The audit was camied out on site, in
Boon (Germany), from 6 to 17 January 2025, 1 to 18 Apnl 2025 and 22 April to 2 May
2023,

Audit opinion

In the Board’s opinon, the financial statements present fairly, in all maternal
respects, the financial position of the operations of the UNFCCC as reported as at
31 December 2024 and it= financial performance and cash flows for the year then
ended, in accordance with the International Public Sector Accounting Standards
(IPSAS).

Overall conclusion

The United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC)
is an international environmental treaty adopted in 1992 that entered into force in
1994 Tts objective is to stabilize greenhouse zas concentrations in the atmosphere
at a level that will prevent dangerous human interference with the climate system.
The overall financial position of the Organization as at 31 Diecember 2024 remained
sound. The Administration needs to continue to strengthen core business processes
in finance such as revemue recognition. The Board also identified areas for
improvement in the coordination of elimate action financing and procurement.

Key findings

Financial overview

Total revenue mereased by 12.8 per cent, reaching $§130.5 mullion. UNFCOCC 15
mainly funded tlrough contributions and service fees. In 2024, total contmbutions
amounted to $115.3. milbon These contributions included $40.8 million of indicative
contributions and $74.5 mollion of veluntary contributions. The total revenue increase
was mainly due to the growth of voluntary contributions, a result of UNFCCC enhanced
fond-raismg efforts and the recopmition of $7.2 million contribution for the Santiago
petwork for loss and damage. Following a reassessment of multi-vear grants inifiated
in 2022, an additional cumulative amount of $6.5 million was recognized as revenue
from conditional voluntary contributions. This amount represents a comection of prior-
year contributions as of 31 December 2024.

Total expenses decreased by 1.6 percent, reaching 5122 4 pmilion. The total
surplus noted in 2024 amounted to $8.1 mullion representing 6.2 per cent of total
revemes recetved m 2024

The 2024 financial statements were presented for andit on 31 March 2025, The
Board lughhghted and diseussed a number of 15sues when reviewing the financial
records of UNFCCC for the year ended 31 December 2024 that were adjusted by
UNFCCC m the final finaneial records submitted on 3 June 2025,
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Key findings

In addition to the follow up of implementation of previous recommendations and
the audit of the financial statements, the Board focused on the audit of the role of the
UNFCCC Secretariat m the coordmation of financing climate action.

Financial management

Systemic anomaly in revenus recognition for multi-year velumtary conditional
contributions

The Board identified atypical accounting entries recorded as reductions of
reverme after analysing several grants, for mulb-year voluntary conditional
contributions.

Umeja system appeared to apply a different accounting treatment to the contracts
reviewed, m contradiction with IPSAS 23 This mechanism hasd a direct impact on the
anmual result, which may be overstated or understated depending on the year, without
any clear ustification or economic rationale.

A= at 31 December 2024, there was an understated revenue estimated at $6.5
million, with full refrospectrve caleulation deemed mmprachicable. Consequently,
UNFCCC decided to reflect the impact of anomaly in the 2024 financial statement.

Eaole of the UNFCCC Secretariat in the coordination of the financing of climate action
Climate finance mandates and organization of the UNFCOCC Secretariar

Chmate finance 155ues are handled by UNFCCC through a financal mechanizm and
the assistance provided by the Standing Committee on Finance The Secretanat, and
especially the Climate Finance subdivision, supports the mtergovermmental negotiation
process and the developing country Parties in accessing financing for climate finance
Since the Pans Apreement, the muwmber of mandates on climate finance has grown
exponentially and 41 per cent of the total of mandates were still active. To face the
situation, the Secretanat relies heavily on additonal fanding to implement these actnates.

The apprecizhon of the support grven by the Secretanat on these orgamzation
matters was posittve. The Secretanat relied on external consultancy, whose contractual
arangements could be reviewed to better reflect the nature of the relatonship and prevent
conflicts of mberest.

Relationship with stakehelders ro promote access te climats finance

The Secretaniat was explonng ways to play a role of “catalyst™ regardmg climate
fimance. It especially counted on the Needs-based finance project that capitahizes on the
convening authority of the UNFOCC Secretanat to assemble all relevant stakeholders. To
pursue this zoal, the Secretanat should structure mese its already exishng engagements
with the other UN entities involved m climate achon, in particular implementing agencies
and formahze 1t. Additionally, mn the context of the Article 2 1 ¢ of the Pans Agreement,
the Secretanat would benefit from strengthemng 1ts engagement with the broader finance
world in the sake of promoting zccess to climate finance.

Role and responsibilities in procurement

The UNFCOCC Secretanat is mandated to operationalize the Article 6 of the Pans
Agreement, which deals with cooperation m implementing this A presment and promoting
of interpational transactions In support of action on chimate change (market-based
mechanizms). Article 6 imvolves rolling out a Mechanism Information System (MIS) and
a centralized registnes tool The procurement process for Article 6.4 MIS rased
concerns 1n particular on the segregation of role and responsibilites between the
stakeholders m the cuwrent orgamzation The Headquarters Commuitee on Contracts
concluded with a recommendation that the Assistant Secretary-General for Supply Chain
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Management reject the contract award for the Article §.4 MIS. This decision created
delays and mmpacted the procurement of the Article 6 4 cenfralized registnes.

Recommendations

The Board has made nine new recommendations based on its audit.
The Board recommends that the UNFCOC Seeretariat:
Financial management

Systemic amemaly i revemue recognition for multi-year voluntary conditional
contributions

(a) carry out a detailed analysis of its grants accounting structure to determine
whether revenue recognition should be adjusted, either through modification
of the automated revenue recognition parameters or through manual
adjustments, in order to ensure full comphiance with IPSAS I3 and avoid
material cut-off misstatements in future reporting periods,

Role of the UNFCCC Secretaniat in the coordination of financing climare action

(b) clarify the leadership role of the Climate Finance subdivizion and formalize
the coordination between thiz subdivizion and other relevant entities;

(c) enhance communication regarding the report: produced by the Standing
Committee on Finance: disseminating the report: to chmate finance
stakeholders, presenting them at meetings not organized by the UNFCOCC
(UIN General Azzembly, annual meetings of Multilateral Development Banls,
ete);

{d) (i) explore alternative contractual arrangement: for cooperation with think
tanks active in the field of chimate finance; (i) specify in those arrangements
the information the think tank will share with the TNFCCC, especially
regarding data and the uze: to which the UNFCCOC Secretariat can put this
data;

(e} include in the TNFCOCC Secretariat’s policy on consultants and individual
contractors (CIC), currently under development, specific provizions on (i) the
prevention of conflicts of interest, in particular for the hiring of individuals
who are likely to represent Parties in negotiations that are directly related to
the delivery of zervices by the CIC and (i) the re-emplovment of CIC as a
staff member;

(f) incorperate indicator: on the outcome of the Needs-based Finance project to
assess its impact on the role of the Secretariat as a eatalyst for chimate finance;

(g} improve the communication towards negotiators on the role of the RCCs
regarding delivery of support on climate finance;

(h) in 2 whole of agency solution seekding approach and where it adds value zign
and'or update legal arrangement: with the TN Agencies, Funds and
Programme: — in particular with TNDP (and UNCDF), UNEF, UNCCD,
UNCED, UNDER, etc. — to maximize the Secretariat's capacity to act as a
catalyst.

Role and responsibilities in procurement

(i) conduct and formalize a leszon learnt exercize on procurement processes,
taking in consideration the lens of the role and responsibilities of the
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Procurement Aunthority, the requisitioners, and management, to ensure the
consistency and the efficiency of the procurement processes,

Previous recommendations

Cut of 15 outstanding recommendations at the end of 2024, 10 have been
implemented (representing 67 per cent of zll outstanding recommendations, compared
with 65 per cent i the report for 2023}, and § remam under implementation (33 per cent).
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Key faces

5130.5 million FRevenne
51214 million Expenses
38.1 milion  Swplus for the year
52180.1 million  Assets
51189 million Liallifes
561.3 million Total net assets
441 Seaff

A. Mandate, scope and methodology

1. The United Mations Framework Convention on Chimate Change (UNFCCC) 15
an international environmental treaty that entered mbo force in 1994 Its objective 15
to stabilize greenhouse gas concenfrations in the atmosphere at a level that wall
prevent dangerous human miterference with the climate system. In 1997, the Kyoto
Protocol has been concluded and established legally binding obhgations for
developed countnes to reduce their sreenhouse gas emssions. Inm 2015, the Pans
agreement bas adopted zoverning emussion reductons as from 2020 by means of
countries commuthng to Nabonally Determuined Contnbutions. The work of
UNFCCC 15 facibitated by its Secretanat located m Boon, Germany.

2. The Board of Auditors (Board) kas audited the financial statements of UNFCCC
and reviewed its operations for the year ended 31 Decermber 2024 n accordance wath
(General Assembly resolutton 74 () of 1946, The audit was conducted 1n conformty
with Aricle VI of the Financial Regulations and Rules of the United Nations and the
ammex thereto and 1n accordance with the Intemational Standards on Auditing (ISA)
and the Internzfional Standards of Supreme Audit Institutions (JSSAT). These
standards requime that the Board cormply with efhical requirements and plan and
pearform the audit to obtfain reasonable assurance as to whether the financial
staternents are free from material misstatement.

3.  The audit was conducted promanly to enable the Board to form an opinion as to
whether the financial statements presented fairly the financial posihon of UNFCCC
zs at 31 December 2024, in accordance with the Internationzl Public Sector
Accounting Standards (IPSAS). This mnchided an assessment as to whether the
expenses recorded in the finaneial statements had been incwred for the purposes
approved by the bodies and whether reverme and expenses had been properly
clazsified and recorded m accordance with the United Mations Financial Regulations
and Rules and financial procedures approved by the Conference of the Partes (COF)
m Decision 15/CP.1 and IPSAS. The audit included a general review of the financial
systemns and mtsmal controls and a test exanunation of the accounting records and
other supporting evidence to the extent that the Board considered necessary to form
#n opimen on the financial statements.

4. Inaddibon to mdimg accounts and financial transactions, the Board camed out
reviews of the UNFCCC operstions under United Nations Fimancial Fegulation 7.5.
This enables the Board to mzke observations with respect to the efficiency of the
financial procedures, the accounting system mternal financial confrols and n
general, the admumishation and management of UNFCCC operstions. The Board
focused its audit, among others, on finance, the role of the UNFCCC Secretanat
in the coordination of financing climate action and procurement. The Board also
followed up on its previous recommendations. These matters are addressed m the
relevant sechions of this report.

3.  The audit was caried out at the premuses, m Bonn (Germany), fom 6 to 17
Jarmary 2025 for the mtenm and the final audit was conducted on zite, in Bonn

10
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(Germany) from 1 to 18 Aprl 2025 and from 22 Apnl to 2 May 2025, The UNFCOCC
audit mcluded a review of the mbernal confrols and accounting systems and
procedures only to the extent considered necessary for the effectve performance of
the Board exanmination.

6. The present report covers matters that, in the opinion of the Board, should
be brought to the attention of the Conference of the Parfies. The Board's
observations and conclusions were discussed with the UNFCCC Secretanat whose
views are appropriately reflected m the report.

Findings and recommendations

Follow-up on previous recommendations

7. Out of 15 outstanding recommendations at the end of 2024, 10 have been
miplemented (representing 67 per cent of all cutstandmg recommendations,
compared with 65 per cent m the report for 2023), and five remain undar
mplementation {33 per cent).

8. Detals of the status of mplementation of the recommendations are shown mn
the armex to the present report.

Financial overview

9. The total swplhs recorded in 2024 amounted to 5.1 million, representing 6.2 par
cent of total revenues received in 2024, while a deficit of $8.6 million had been
recorded in 2023, representing 7.5 per cent of 2023 total revenues. At year-end 2024,
the net assets ammmted to 5613 million. a decrease of $17.1 million compared to
2023.

10. Following the previous recommendations, the quality check of the financial
staternents has been strengthened resulting in fawer errors of all kinds. However, dus
to a systemic apomaly n revemme recogmton for mulfi-year veoluntary conditional
contmbufions, a revaluation of mmlb-vear grants launched m 2022 led to the
recognition of an addiional cummlative amount of %65 mulbon in revenue
Consequently, the audit resulted in a substantial adjustment (3.2).

Revenue and expenszes

11. Total evenue increased by 12.8 per cent, reaching $130.5 million compared to
§115.7 pullion in 2023, UNFCCC 15 mainly fanded through contributions and service
fees. In 2024, total contmbutions amounted to $115.3 mulbion compared to $88.1
million in 2023, These contibutions inchided 540.8 million (332.8 million in 2023)
of indicative contributions! and $74.5 million ($35 2million in 2023) of veluntary
contmbubions. UNFCOCC collected Clean Development Machamsm (CDM) and Jount
Implementation (JT) service fees of 334 milkion (3139 mulbon in 2023). The total
reverme increase 15 mainky due to the growth of veluntary confributions, as a result of
UNFCCC enhanced fundraising efforts and the recogmition of $7.2 milkion
contmbufion to the Fund for responding to Loss and Damage (FRLDY), and also due
to the reassessment of multi-year grants for 56.5 mallion in 2024,

12, Indicative contributions increased mainly due to the Conference of the
Parties approving a higher contnbution based on the approval of a hugher
budget in 2024, There was also a sigmificant decrease in CDM and J1 fees of
510.4 million atfributed to a reduced volumes of Cerfified Emizsion Eeduction

11
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1zsuances for emission reduction projects and programmes mn 2024 compared
to 2023,

13. Total expenses decreased by 1.6 percent, reaching $122 4 million ($124.3
million in 2023). Travel expenses reached 13.8 million ($21.9 million 1n 2023}
following the government of Azerbaijan’s assumption of hotel accommeodations
for Conference of the Parties attendees in Baku and ecross-cuthng measures
taken by UNFCCC Management to reduce staff travel. The remaining expenses
were globally in line with the previous vear and were related to the contractual
services amounfing to $30.6 mullion ($30.5 million in 2023). the operating
expenses amounting to $3.7 million (32.7 mullion in 2023) and losses on foreizn
exchange and investments amounting to $0.5 million ($2.9 millicn in 2023).

14. The decrease in travel expenses was partially offset by an increase in the
personnel expenditures which reached $69_3 million in 2024 compared to $62.8
million in 2023, This increase of $6.5 million was mainly due to a net increase
1o headeount of 10 staff members over the vear 2024, including the filhng of
vacant higher-categories positions, such as Deputy Executive Secretary, and the
full-year impact of staff whe joined in 2023, (+43 staff members).

Figue III
Eevenue and expenzes
(Milliens of United States Dollars)
Revenue M Expenses
135.0 1325
130.5
130.0
1243
1250 1224
1200
1157

115.0 1127

110.0

105.0

100.0

2022 2023 2024

Sewrce: UNFOCC financial statements for 2022, 2023 and 2024

15. In 2024, the revenue-to-expenses ratio’® mmproved, and reached 1.07
compared te 0.93 in 2023, primanly due to increased revenue, while total
expenditures remained relatively consistent with the previous year.

? The ratio is calculated by dividing revenus by expenses.

12
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Table II 1
Breakdown of expenditures by financial statements categories
(Millions of United States Diollars)
Persomnel Trawval Coamractual | Operating Cither Depreciation | Fetomransfer | Losses on
expendi- sEVices EXpenses expenses | famortisation | of donos CDM foreisn
nmes TF transfer exchange
and
Imvestments
2024 9.3 13.8 306 EX] 37 03 04 0.5
2023 628 219 305 17 27 03 04 10
022 585 124 42 64 44 03 03 6.0
2021 56.3 57 0.7 12 49 04 07 27
Source: Board of Auditors’ calculations based oo the UNFCCC financial statements far 2024, 2023, 2022 and 2021.
1.2, Assets and hiahilities

T Met actuarial loss refers to the commlative losses that arise from differences berween the assumptions used in
actuarial calculations (such as discount rates, life expactancy, or salary growth) and the experience adjustments. The

16. As of 31 December 2024, total assets amounted to $230.1 omllion
compared to $273.9 mullion in 2023, The two main elements of the UNFCCC
assets were cash and investments balances, totalling $241.8 nullion compared
to 52309 mullion 1n 2023, representing B6.3 per cent of the total assets, and
contributions receivables of $13.8 million, compared to $22.3 million in the
previous year. Confributions receivables represented amounts already due and
the outstanding over the lifetime of curmrent agreements with donors, of which
an amount of £7.3 million, compared to $1.4 mullion 1 2023, was due in more
than one year.

17. The cash and mvestment balances are managed under a cash pooling
arrangement operated by the United Nations Secretanat in New York. The
retwns on the UNFCCC cash balances and investments totalled $11.5 oullion
($9.9 million in 2023).

18. As of 31 December 2024, total labilities amounted to 52159 mullion,
compared to 51955 million m 2023, The most significant component of
UNFCCC cwrent and non-current liabiliies resulted from employee benefits
liabilities of $182_1 million, compared to $147.8 millionin 2023. The emplovee
benefits habilities represented oblizations inewired at vear-end, the largest
element of which was the estmated cost of after-zervice health insurance
(ASHI) of $167.4 million (5133.9 million in 2023). In 2024, an independent
actuanal firm estimated the UNFCCC emplovee benefits hahility, which
represents the best estimate of this hability but remains subject to a degree of
uncertanty.

19. On the ASHI liability, as disclosed in note 14 to the financial statements,
UMFCCC recognized a net actuanal loss® of §25 million in 2024 while it
recogmzed a net actuanal loss of $6.4 million 1n 2023,

2. The second most sigmificant lability of UNFCCC related to advance
receipts, which amounted to $22.3 million compared to £24.7 million in 2023
The advance receipts of condifional veluntary contnibutions amounted to 5135
mullion ($18.6 mullion in 2023}, and the indicative contmbutions received in
advance amounted to $5.1 million (33.2 mullion in 2023) as disclosed in note
13 In accordance with IPSAS 23 the advance receipts represent agreements

actuarial zains/losses are recognised directly in net assets.
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where the revenue 15 recogmzed when the conditions set out in the agreements
are met in future financial periods. Seen from UNFCCC’s perspective, these
advance receipts represent commitments to demors for the provision of future
services. The amount recognized represents the UNFCCC s best estimate of
what would be required to settle the ocblizations defined in the conditions of the
agreements.

Ratio analysis

21. The Board's analysis of capital structure ratios (Table I1.2) shows that,
despite the competihve environment for donor funds, the financial posihon of
UNFCCC remained sound, with a slightly decreased asset to habilities ratio of
128, compared to 1.40 m 2023. The amaly=sis of ratios shows relative
consistency over the last financial years, with a highest cash ratio at year-end
of 4.63, compared to 3.6 m 2023,

Table I1.2
Capital structure ratios

_— . 31 December 31 December 3] December 31 December
Description of rati 024 013 021 2011
Assets-to-labilities ratioc® 128 1.40 1.55 1.34
Assets/liabilities
Current ratie” 541 441 4.65 361
Currant assets/CurTent
lishilities
Quick ratio® 483 4.06 453 5.49
Cash + short-term
investments + accounts
receivable/ourrent lisbilitias
Cash ratio” 463 3.60 401 5.01

Casch + short-term
investments/'current liabilities

Source: Board of Auditors” calculations based on the UNFCCC financial statements for 2024, 2023, 2022
and 2021.

* A high ratio (gensrally at lzast 1) indicates an entity"s ability to meet its overall oblizations.

= A high ratio (generally at least 1) indicates an entity’s ability to pay off its current liabilities.

= The quick ratie is more conservative than the current ratie becanse it exchudes inventory and other current
assats, which are more difficult to furn into cash. A hizher ratio means a more liquid current position.

4 The cazh ratio is an indicater of an entity’s liquidity. It sarves to measure the amount of cash, cash
egquivalents or invested funds available in current assats to cover curent labilites.

22, Total investments of UNFCCC, handled by the United Nations Secretaniat,
increased by 7.16 per cent from $201.1 million to $215.5 million in 2024 (zee
Figure ILTI below). Long-term investments inereased by 20 per cent while
short-term investments mmcreased by only 3 per cent. Cash and cash equivalents
decreased from $29.7 million to $26.3 million.
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Fizgure ILI
Development of investments during the years 2020-2024
(Millions of United States Dollars)

W 5hort-term. W Long-term
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Sewrce: UNFCOC financial statements for 2020 to 2024, Accmed interests are excluded.

23. NMet assets at vear-end 2024 decreased by $17.1 million compared to 2023,
declining from $78.4 to $61.3 million The figure below shows that it was
primarily due to the decrease of the net assets for the core budget which became
negative in 2024,

Fizure ILIIO
Net aszets by fund
(Millions of United States dollars)

1500

1000

. [ I
o [ —— [ ] | 0
-50.0 I

- 1000
- 1500
2027 m2023 W04
'I'F;]furﬂm TF for Lh:t TF for I-11'1'11' fm-.m INFCCE Total Nat
ean core budg Suppl ary Tﬂmmal. Ermploy Other £ Ne
development af Activiti Tramsaction liahiliries fumd assets
mechanism | UNFCOCC Log
3022 75.1 167 875 7.8 -120.5 17.9 943
1023 783 171 BO.6 74 -1348 198 T8A
024 55.8 -53.7 58.4 45 14.5 -28.1 1.3

Source: UNFCCC financial statements far 2022 to 2024*TF: Trost fund.
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24, The allocation of ASHI and employee benefit actuarial liabilities to each
fund based on the staff members' fund assignments, effective as of 2024 and
until then fully dizclosed under the Emploves habihities fund, had a negative
impact on the net assets of the trust fund for the core budget of =581 million, -
§23 mullion for the CDM fund, —$12 mullion for the tmst fund for
supplementary activities, and -536 million on the Special account for UNFCCC
programme support costs which was mmcluded i “other funds" as at 31
December 2024,

24,  Man Parties contributing to the core budget

25, The figwre below shows that the top seven States Parhies provided 61
percent of total contributions to the UNFCCC core® budget. The shares of the
United States of Amernica (19.7 per cent), China (15.3 per cent) and Japan (8.0
per cent) accounted for almost 43 percent of the total conmbutions.

Figure ILIV
Main parties contributing to the core budget (percentage of total Core budget contributions)

45.0%
39074
40.0% 2
35.0%
30.0%
15.0%
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20.0%
15.3%
15.0%
10.0% a0 e
5.0% I - 4.4% 43% 3.0
5.0 I =
0 | [ | [ |
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States of Eimnzdom
America

Spurce: Analysiz made by the Board of Auditors on the basis the UNFCOC financial statements for 2024

!J
i

Budgetary aspects

26. The budgetary performance resulted in a lower level of expenditure than
the approved budget for 2024. The total approved core® budget for 2024
amounted to EUR 37.5 million. As the budget 15 approved in euros, valued n
US dollars, at the exchange rate® set by the United Nations, the final budget
amounted to $41.7 million, compared to expenditures totalling $39.0 million.
For 2023, the final budget amounted to § 330 million, with a total expendituras
of $34.2 million.

4 The core budgst refers to the budget funded by conmributions from Parties based oo the indicative scale of
assessments of the United Mations. It supports the essential and ongoing activities of the secretariat, including
servicing the interpovernmental process, orgamizing sessions of the Coowention's bodies, and providing
administrative and legistical suppaort.

* The core budgst refers to the budzet funded by contributions from Parties based on the indicative scale of
assessments of the United Mations. It supports the essential and ongoing activities of the secretariat, including
servicing the interpovernmental precess, orgamizing sessions of the Coowention™s bodies, and providing
administrative and legistical suppaort.

*51 =EUR 0.001.
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27. For 2024, the global under expenditure of the core budget was mainly due
to lower expenses regarding means of implementation, communications and
engagement and legal affairs.

28. UNFCCC also had an International Transaction Log (ITL) budget, which
was set at $1.8 million for 2024, compared to a lower ameount of expenditures
of 51.4 mullion, due te lower generz] operating expenses, which represent the
costs of the ITL service providers.

Financial management

Adjustments during the audit

29. The Board identified some transactions that were incorrectly reflected in
the financial statements, and also the need to add details to accounting policies.
In addition, some mustakes were noted 1n the financial statements, mmcluding
misstatements in fotal amounts and cmissions of mformation 1 tables. They

have all been comected by UNFCCC.

Systemic anomaly in revenue recognition for multi-year voluntary conditional

contributions

30, As part of its review of a sample of voluntary condifional contnbutions,
the Board identified atypical accounfing entries recorded as reductions of
revenus.

31. By extending the analysis of one specific grant over the entire duration of
the contract, the Board observed that the revenue recognifion mechanism
applied was wregular. Instead of recogmizing the cummlative revenue
progressively over the life of the grant, in propertion to the eligible
expenditures mewred, as required by IPSAS 23, the Admimistration made
reversal entries from ome year to the next, effectively cancelling revemue
recognized in the prior year. This anomaly was a systemic issue and resulted
from the antomatic reversal, on 1 Jammary of year N+1, of cummlative deferred
revenue of the previous years under multi-year wvoluntary conditional
contmbution agreements. The remaining revenue was typically recognized in
the final vear, upon grant closure.

32. For example, in the case of grant M1-32FEA-000214, signed in 2021 and
completed in 2024 for an mitial ameunt of 54.17 million, later revised to 54.02
million, the full amount was ultimately recognized as cumulative revenue only
after 2024. However, sigmficant vear-on-vear fluctuations were observed
revenue recognifion throughout the grant peried, including the cancellahion of
previously recogmzed revenue in 2023, followed by the recognition of a
substantial amount of revenue in 2024 — resulting 1n a significant mizmateh

with the actual expenditures incurred during those years.

33. Although IPSAS 23 requres revenue from such agreements to be
recognized annually in line with elizible expenses incwred, the Umeja system
applies a different accounting treatment to a subset of contracts reviewed.
UNFCCC was not able to identify the root canse of this deviation, which
appears to have emerged mm 2022, coinciding with a change i the team
responsible for processing these transactions.

34, Thi: mechanizm has a direct impact on the anonual result, which may
be overstated or understated depending om the vear, without any clear
justification or economic rationale, Thiz inconsistent pattern undermines
the reliability of vear-om-vear performance comparizom: and the fair
prezentation of financial performance.
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35. To assess the overall impact of this systemic anomaly, the Board requested
data on all mulh-vear veluntary contnbutions that remained open as of 31
December 2024, This population compnsed 72 grant agreements, representing
atotal of $20.3 mlhon mn deferred revenue habilihes. The Board compared the
revenue recogmized between 2015 and 2024 wath the actal expenditures
recorded under the same agreements. Over this penod, total expenditures
amounted to $50.23 mallion, while recognized revenue reached only $44.11
million, resulting m an unexplamed vanance of $6.12 mullion, mamby
impacting the 2023 and 2024 financial years.

36. The UNFCCC Finance team acknowledged that the cwrent revenue
recogmition mechanism does not comply with IPSAS 13, particularly regarding
the proper application of the cut-off principle.

37. This 1ssue represenfed a fundamental weakness requinng immediate
attention. It constituted a2 sigmficant nsk with potential implications for the
achievement of the Orgamzation’s financial reporting objectives.

38. In response, the UNFCCC Secretariat consulted with UN headquarters in
MNew York to obtain their methodology for accounting for conditional
contributions which considers not enly cummlative actual expenditures, but also
commitments * and foreign exchange adjustments. Based on the approach
shared by headguarters, a revised calculation was performed by UNFCCC, with
a related population enlarged to 30 grants, resulting in a vanance of
56,524 828 04

39, This adjustment related to multiple finanecial periods, mneluding 2022,
2023, and 2024. However, due to system hmitattons 1n Umeja, UNFCCC was
unable to retroactively reconstruct individual grant balances as of 31 December
2024 to process the adjustments at the grant level.

40. Consequently, UNFCCC has decided to reflect the estimated impact of the
anomaly in the 2024 financial statements by recognizing an additional $6.5
million in revenue, without restatmg financial statements for 2023, The
adjustment has been recorded mm 2024, without restating prior-year financial
statements. It represents a comection of prior-yvear contributions as of 31
December 2024,

41. As a result, the nature and estimated financial impact of the prnor-penod
anomaly are explained in Mote 17 “Revenue” to the 2024 financial statements,
in accordance with IFSAS 3 provisions regarding the correction of errors when
full retrospective adjustment 15 impracticable.

42, The Board takes note of the adjustment made to the 2024 financial
statements, the underlying system limitation, and the resulting accounting
treatment. In light of the sigmficance of this 1s5ue to the wsers’ understanding
of the finaneial statements, the Board has decided to include an Emphasis of
Matter paragraph in ifs audit opinion.

43, The Board notes that the revenue recogmtion methodology applied by UN
headquarters includes not only actual expenditures but also commutments (1.e.,
open purchase orders), regardless of whether the associated goods or services
have been delivered From an accrual accounting perspective, this treatment 1s
subject to debate, as commmitments do not represent reahized expenses, except
for the portion comresponding to aceruals.

44, UHN headquarters justified this approach on the grounds that commitments
are never refunded to donors and are thus considered definitively allocated to
the enfity, supporting their inclusion in revenue recogmition.

45, Inthe present sifuation, based on the data provided, 1t was not possible to
distinguish commitments from aceruals for the related zrants population. As a

T Commitments were estimated at 1.9 million.
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result, the amount subject to uncertainty could not be precizely quantified,
although it was estimated to be below 31.6 million.

46, The Board recommend: that UNFCOCC Secretariat carry out a
detailed amalyziz of itz grants accounting structure to determine whether
revenue recognition should be adjusted, either through modification of the
antomated revenue recognition parameter: or through mannal
adjustments, in order to ensure full compliance with IP5AS 13 and aveid
material eut-off misstatements in future reporting periods.

47. The UNFCCC Secretariat accepted this recommendation and indicated
that, i 2025, the Secretamat will perform a full recaleulation of revenue
recognition using the revised methodology and record the cummlatve
adjustment in Umeoja. This entry will reflect revenue atimbutable to eligible
expenditures incurred during 2022, 2023, 2024, and 2025, ensuring alignment
with IPSAS 23 and comecting the cumulative misstatements on a prospective
basis.

4. The role of UNFCCC in the coordination of financing climate action
4.1, Climate finance mandate: and organization of the UNFCCC Secretariat

48. With nutigation and adaptation, climate finance 15 a pivotal 1ssue in the
UNFCCC negotiations. Consequently, it constitutes a sigmificant portion of the
Secretanat's workload, particularly in supporting the negotiation process.
However, the Secretaniat is not responsible for the delivery of climate finance
to developing country Parties, a task entrusted to the financial mechamsm of
the UNFCCC. Regarding the financial mechamism and other providers of
climate finance, notably bilateral or multlateral development banks, the
Secretanat plays 2 coordinating role or, as it characterizes it, a catalytic one.

4.1.1. Climate finance

49 According to the United Mations Framework Convention on Climate
Change (UNFCCC) Secretariat climate finance website, climate finance refers
to “local, national or transnational financing — drawn from public, private and
altemative sowrces of financing — that seeks to support mifigation and
adaptation actions that will address climate change™.

50.To facilitate the provision of climate finance, the Convention established a
finanecial mechanizm. In 1998, the Conference of the Parties (COF) designated
the Global Environment Fund (GEF) as operating entity of the financial
mechanism of the Convention, which also serves the Pans Agreement. In 2001,
Parties establizhed the Special Climate Change Fund (3CCF) and the Least
Developed Countries Fund (LDCF) managed by GEF. At the same COF, Parties
also establizshed the Adaptation Fund (AF). At COP 16 m 2010, the Parties
established the Green Climate Fund (GCF). In 2022, the Parties established the
Fund for Responding to Loss and Damage.

51.Each fund has a goverming body and a secretanat, either independent or
hosted by another entity. The COP and CMA provide gmidance to the GEF {and
the Special Climate Funds), GCF* and FRLD on matters relating to policies,
programme priorities and eligibility criteria.

52 At COP16 n 2010, the Parties established the Standing Committee on
Finance (SCF). This Committes supports the COF on matters related to the
finanecial mechamism. Cheer the years, Parties have entrusted the SCF with

* https:/funfccc inttopics/introduction-to-climate-finance.
® Anmmal until 2024, The Parties agreed to issue bieonial puidance from 2025
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pumerous mandates. It orgamzes an annual forum on climate finance, prepares
draft gmdance for the COPF to the operating entities, and publishes a biennial
assessment report on climate finance flows, biennial reports on progress
towards achieving the goal of jointly mobilizing $100 billion per year through
COP 33, a quadrenmal report on the determination of the needs of developing
country Parties as well as other ad hoc reports such as reports on the doubling
of adaptation finance and on clustening types of climate finance defimitions 1
use in 2023.

4.1.2, Climate finance mandates

53.In 2024, the ongoing mandates in the field of climate finance represented
10 per cent of the mandates assigned to the UNFCCC Secretanat (see Fizure
IILV). The main mandates relate to support for the SCF, the Sharm el-Sheikh
dialogue'’, the New Collective Quantified Goal on Climate Finance (NCQG)',
the reporting activities, and the activities linked to the financial mechanism,
including the operationalization of the FRLD'

TableII2
Allocation of the staff of the Climate Finance subdivizion in 2024

Worldorce
allocated
Supporting negodations 5%
Support for the b\g 'thei cop ted ™
intergovernmental -
i i
negotiation process gement with the
operating entities of the 25%
financial mechanism
IMeeds-bazed finance 725
Suppert for developing project :
country Parties in
accessing financing for Engzaming with other
climate action stakeholders of climate %
fnance

Spurce: Board of Auditors - UNFCOOC Secrsfariat (rounded percentages).

54, Although the first mandate on climate finance was given by the Parties to
the UNFCCC Secretanat in 1997, the Pans Agreement marks a tarning point in
climate finance. Since then their pumber has grown exponentially, 57 per cent
of the total number of mandates on climate finance were given betwean 2016

" The Sharm el-Sheikh dialogue between Parties, relevant crganizations and stakeholders to exchange views on
and enhance understanding of the scope of Amicle 2, paragraph 1(c). of the Pams Agreement and its
complementarity with Articla 9 of the Paris Agreement. It aims to play a significant rele in the transformation
of the global financial system.

' The Wew Collective Quantified Goal on Climate Finance (WCQG) is a new global climate finance goal that the
Conference of the Partie: serving as the meeting of the Parties to the Pans Agresment (CMA) set from a
floar of $100 billion per year. In COP 29, Parties called “all acrars ro work rogether o scale up financing
to developing counsries for climate action from all public and private seurces to at least 3 1.3 wmillion per
year By 20357 It sets a goal of at least §300 billion per year by 2035 for deweloping countrizs’ climate
ACTion.

2 The FELD was established through decisions 2/CP27 and 2/CMA 4. It is hested by the World Bank. After a
phase of prefisuration with a Tramsitional Committes, an interim secrstariat bas been esfablished to
operationalize the erganization. This interim secretariat is composed of staff members of the UNFCCC
Secretariat, UNDP and the GCF Secretariat.
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and 2024 (see Figure ILV). It 15 worth mentioning that 41 per cent of the total
of mandates are still active and need to be implemented by the UNFCCC
Secretariat. Some are related to recumng actions such as support for the
production of periodic reports or for negotiators' activities.

Figure IIV.

Evolution of the climate finance mandates assigned to the UNFOCC Secretariat
from the beginning of the intergovernmental negotiation processes on climate
change
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Spwrce: Board of Anditors —- UNFCOC Secretariat.

Organization of the UNFCCC Secretariat to achieve the climate finance
mandates

55. Within the UNFCCC Secretaniat, activities on climate finance are almost
entirely camed out by the Climate Finance subdivision, which reports to the
Director of the Means of implementation division.

56.The Climate Finance subdivision activifies rely in majority oo
supplementary funding. For the bienniwm 2024-2025, the voluntary
contributions represent 74 per cent of the consumable (§ 11,323,141 as Apnl
2025). 15 posihons out of 22 are funded by supplementary funding. Yet, for the
pext biennium, the UNFCCC Secretanat aims to make the budget more
sustainable by presenting in itz proposed budget an increase of 54 per cent of
the subdivision’s core budget ($ 6.342,678.70) and, therefore, reducing the
reliance on supplementary funding.

57.The Climate Finance subdivision internal workforce 1s composed of 22 open
positions, including 17 international pesitions. Seven positions are sustammably
funded by the core budget (32 per cent), while the other rely on the availability
of supplementary funding (68 per cent). As of Apnl 2025, six positions were
vacant (27 per cent) due to funding shortcomings. These are suppesed to be
funded by supplementary funding. The positions are mosthy in the Policy and
analysis unit and in the Loss and damage finance and adaptation umit, including
the posibion of head of unit. The head of subdivision will retire and he 15
currently handing-over. Contnmty of activities and transfer of knowledge
should be ensured. To this end, mformal exchanges with s team are being
bheld The entire organization, and especially the next head of subdivision,
would benefit if this knowledge 15 captured 1o a formalized document.

58.The UNFCCC Secretanat 15 under increasing pressure in the area of climate
finance, as the number of related mandates continues to grow sigmificantly. As
the mumber of filled posihons 1= hmited and the mandates on climate finance
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may overlap, staff find themselves assigned to one unmit but working on the
activities of several umits throughout the vear. The workplan defimtion over the
last three vears underscores this observation. This trend has tended to dimimish
smee the Loss and Damage Finance and Adaptahion Finance Unit was created,
even though it has no head and is managed by the head of the Policy and
analvsis umit.

59 The climate finance issue 15 not limited to the Climate Finance subdivision.
Other substantive entities of the UNFCCC Secretariat are mandated to conduct
activities that have a climate finance component.

60.Indeed, the Adaptation division has been invelved in the prefiguration of
the FELD 1n 2023, engages on substantive 15sues with the funds, m particular
the AF and integrates a climate finance component when it deals with the
support to the defimtion and the mmplementation of the National adaptation
plans (MAPs). The Mihzation division inteprates climate finance into the
narrative on Mationally Determined Contributions (MD(Cs) to make them more
investable. Also, the Capacity bulding subdivision of the Means of
implementation division 15 imvolved in activifies on climate finance For
instance, dunng COP 29 the Pans Committee on Capacity-bulding decided to
work this year on climate finance and capacity-building 1= mentioned in the
NCQG's negotiation. Im 2024-2025, the Legal Affairs Division is being
involved in the prefisuration and the operationalization of the FRLD by
providing support on the definibon of the legal amrangements and the
establishment of the FRLD Board and Secretariat.

61 . There 1= room for better coordimation between the Climate Finance
subdivision and the other Secretariat entities having actions on climate finance.
The goals are to averd duplication of achons, to ensure coherence in the
orgamization and on external engagement. The Climate Finance subdivision, as
the expert of the fopic 15 the relevant entity to ensure coordination. However,
in light of the level of resources allocated to the subdivision management and
oversight roles, this coordination remains limited.

62.The Board recommend: that the UNFCCOC Secretariat clarify the
leadership role of the Climate Finance subdivizion and formalize the
coordination between this subdivizion and other relevant entities.

63.The UNFCCC Secretaniat accepted the recommendation.

Support of negotiations

Climate Finance subdivision was responsible for 30 per cent of agenda
items during COP 19

54.The Climate Finance subdivision plays a pivotal role in the negotiations
process. In Baku, 1 was respomsible for 18 agenda ifems under the
governingbodies (COP/CMA ¥ /CMP 4], representing 30 per cent of the
agendas. More than just the pumber, some agenda items are very sensifive
politically and invelve an extremely sustained commitment from the
subdivision. On top of the agenda items, the subdivision bhad to orgamize three
High-Level Ministerial Dialogues (HLMD:): on the urgent need to scale up
adaptation finance, on the long-term finance and on NCQG.

65.During the COP, the Secretanat provided presiding officers with detailed
briefing notes, which were highly appreciated for their precision and accuracy.
The Secretanat's suppert duning the negotiations was also commended by those
co-chairing negotiations on specific agenda items. For the High-Level

' Conferance of the Parties Serving as the Mesting of the Parties to the Paris Agresmant.
™ Conference of the Parties Serving as the Meeting of the Parties to the Kyoto Protocel.
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Ministennal Dhalogues (HLMDk), the Secretanat provided comprehensive
admunistrative support.

66.The Standing Commuttes on Finance meets three times a vear, with a trend
in 2024-25 to hold more meetings in Bonn. The Secretanat provides suppert to
the SCF. This responsibility falls under the Climate Finance subdivision.
67.Overzll, the number of mandated events has substantially inereased over the
past few vears, having more than doubled between COP 26 and COP 29, While
in 2021 the subdivision was tasked with organizing only eight mandated events,
it was subsequently requested by the COP to orgamize 20 events in both 2023
and 2024.

Figure IL.VL

Number of climate finance mandated events requested by the Parties and
organized by the UNFCCC Secretariat between 1021 and 2024
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Source: UNFCCC Secrefamiat.

68.The Board conducted a survey to assess the appreciation of the suppert
provided by the Secretariat for the COP negotiations and the SCF'*. Despite the
increasing pumber of mandated events, the feedback was pesitive, with
satisfaction levels exceeding 60 per cent for each item.

" The survey was open from 17 Febroary 2025 to 14 March 2025, It targeted the members of the SCF. the group on the
NCQG, the zroup oo the guidance to the GCF and the GEF, the group on the guidance to the long-term finance. 59
individuals responded to the survey, coming from 49 different negotiation participants (B Parties part of Annex I out of
43, 24 Parties part of G-77 out of 134, 12 Parties of Least Developed Countries group out of 43, 7 Parties of Small
Island Developing States group out of 39).
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Figure IL.VII.

EResponse to the question “do you consider the UNFOCC Secretariat’s support
for the SCF / COP negotiations to be sufficient”™ in the survey conducted by the
Board
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69 However, certain areas were ldentified by Parties where the support
provided by the Secretariat could be enhanced. Notably, communication among
stakeholders was highlizghted as an area for improvement Some Parties
suggested that the Secretanat could play a2 more achve role by crganizing
additional pre-COP preparatory meetings for countries, ensunng the full
partictpation of all Parties in the process and facilitating understanding of the
discussions for all attendess, including newcomers.

A growing number of mandated reports for which the drafting process
relie: heavily on external conzultancy

T0.The number of reports mandated by Parties on chimate finance, as recorded
by the Secretanat'®, has doubled from 17 in 2021 to 37 m 2024, Tt should
nevertheless be noted that the workload generated by these reports can vary
considerably.

Figure II.VII
Number of mandated reports on climate finance requested by Partes
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Sowrce: Board of Auditers - UNFCCC Secretamat

Tl.In drafting of these reports, the UNFCCUC Secretanat relies heavily on
affihated workforce including consultants, indvidual contractors and imterns.

* For example, the BA Feport is counted as two separate reports, consisting a synthesis report and a technical one.
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T2.The feedback from the Parties that responded to the Board's survey 1s lughly
positive regarding the support provided by the Secretanat m producing chmate
finance reports (see Figure TLIX). However, the co-facilitators’ assessment'” 1s
more nuanced, with some noting that the finalization of the reperts required
substantial engagement on their part due to the limited analytical contnbutions
provided by both the Secretariat and the consultants.

Figure [LTK.

Fesponse to the guestions “do you consider the UNFCUCC Secretariat’s efforts adequate in
ensuring transparency. Do vou consider the support provided by the secretariat (including
consultaney) in producing climate finance reports mandated by the COP a: adequate” in the

survey conducted by the Board
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73.Indeed, consultants sometimes possess a background smmular to that of
Secretaniat staff, with expertize in negotiations. However, some Parties have
expressed regret that certain consultants hired lacked quantfitative and
statistical expertize.

74 Furthermore, wvarnous stakeholders hawve 1dentfied commumecation
regarding the reports as an area for improvement for the Secretaniat Due to
resource constraints, the Secretanat focuses primanily on the publication of the
reports, often neglecting the necessary commumecation of the reports’ findings
and results. However, effective communication in this regard would be erucial
to consolidate the positioming of the UNFCCC Secretanat as a catalyst for
climate finance. It would be particularly mmportant to disseminate thas work to
finanecial institutions beyond those directly serving the Convention

75. The Board recommend: that the TUNFCOCUC Secretariat enhance
communication regarding the reports produced by the Standing
Committee on Finance: dizseminating the report: to chimate finance
stakeholders, prezenting them at meetings not organized by the UNFCCC
(UN General Assembly, anoual meetings of Multilateral Development
Banks, ete.).

T6. The UNFCCC Secretariat accepted the recommendation.

Focus on the use of consultancy by the Climate Finance subdivizsien

T7.Given the significance of the workload 1n 2023-2024 and the uncertainties
due to the high reliance on short-term supplementary funding, there has been
an increasing reliance on consultants for the Climate Finance subdivision, with
an increase in consultancy expenditures from $261.817 m 2022 to $413.845 n
2023 and $384,210 in 2024. Thiz represents a 52 per cent increase i 2023-
2024 compared to 2022,

b o | 00 o=

(o | s |
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78.The Needs-based finance project (as detailed below) played an important
role 1n this increase, accounting for 58 per cent of the consultancy expenditures
of the Climate Finance subdivision for 2024

Figure L3
Conzultancies expenditure for the Chmate Finance subdivizion
(Umited Stares dollars)
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79 This figure shows the three main activities for which the Secretariat utilizes
consultancy services:

- The drafting of reports mandated by Parties, which accounted for 65 per cent
of the consultancy expenditures i 2022, but onky 24 per cent m 2024;

- The needs-based finance project, which increased from 15 per cent of the
consultancy expenditures in 2022 to 58 per cent m 2024;

- The suppert for the Secretanat’s regular activafies, parficularly duning
sessions of the COP or of the Standing Committes on Finance.

E0.The Board considers that the use of consultancy contracts is not always
reflect adequately the nature of the relationship between the consultants and
the Secretanat.

Relationship betwesen the UNFCOCC Secretariat and think tanks

£l.Some consultants are active within think tanks that produce and publizh
research on the same topies for which they are hired by the Secretanat. Thesze
consultancy confracts provide access to thew experfise, but also to their
databases, and even to their staff The use of think tank staff without the prior
approval of the Secretariat does not appear to be in line with §7 of the General
Conditions of Contracts for the Services of Consultants and Individual
Contractors, which are annexed to the contracts concluded by the UNFCCC.
Substantively, 1t can put the Secretaniat in a difficult situation, given that the
same individuals are publishing reports on the same 15sue in the name of their
other organization. Another contractual engagement could be sought directly
with the think tanks active in the field of climate finance, acknowledging the
use of thewr work mn the official UNFCCC report where appropniate.

16
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82.The Board recommends that the UNFCOCC Secretariat: i) explore
alternative contractual arrangement: for cooperation with think tanks
active in the field of climate finance; ii) specify in thoze arrangements the
information the think tank will share with the UNFCCC, especially
regarding data and the uses to which the UNFCCC Secretariat can put this
data.

83 The UNFCCC Secretariat accepted the recommendation.
A policy on consultants and individual contracters that should be improved

B4 Similar difficulties may arise when the Secretariat contracts individuals
representing Parties during the UNFCCC negotiations. Specifically, huring a
consultant to draft a report that must later be endorsed at a COP — where the
same ndividual 15 represenfing a party—could raize comcern:z about the
report’s impartiality and, by extension, of the impartiality of the
Secretariat’s. Parties interiewed dunng the audit expressed doubts about the
appropriateness of hiring negotiators to draft reports, particularly since these
reports are later reviewed by the S5CF and potentially adjusted by the
negotiators. In their view, consultants should prowide expertize that the
Secretariat lacks, especially in areas requining quantitative and statistical skills.
Instruction ST/AL2013/4 does not contain any provisions pertaiming to the
engagement of individual: representing Parties in negotiations. It solely
establishes mles on former and retired staff members (3.7, and following) or
staff members on special leave {3.14).

£5 Some consultants remnforce the Secretanat's staff for short peneds (fypically
dunng COPs), with these contracts 1n one case serving as a bndge to permanent
integration into the UNFCCC staff. The Board considers that these individuals
do not have “special skills or kpowledge not nommally possessed by the regular
staff of the Orgamization and for which there 15 no contioming need in the
Secretaniat™ (§2), as foreseen by the UN Secretanat admimstrative instruchion
ST/AL2013/4 on consultant and individual contractors. Indeed, these
individuals perform tasks that are tvpical of the Secretanat’s work and are
engaged dunng perieds of particularly heawvy workload—a sitwation not
envisaged by the instruction.

86 The same instruction states that consultants may not be engaged as “a means
of applyving a probationary period ro candidares prior to gffeving them a siaff
appointment” (3.4). Also, the instmuction put restrichions on reemployment of
consultant as a staff member: a period of at least six months need to have
elapsed between the end of an individuzl contract and the same mndividual
applying for a position in the Secretariat (3.15). Since 2021, the Secretariat has
waived this mle on the basis of an email from the then Officer-in-Charge of the
ASHE/ICT division. This waiver has been applied since 2021, despite the
email clearly stated that it was solely intended for the wear 2021'%. This
approach has been applied as an interim measure, pending the implementation
of UNFCCC's own policy on consultants and contractors, which 1= emrrently in
the final stages of development.

87.The Board recommends: that the UNFCOCC Secretariat’s policy on
consultants and individual comtractors (CIC:), currently under
development, include specific provizions on; (i) the prevention of conflicts
of interest, in particular for the hiring of individual: whe are likely to
represent Partes in negotiations that are directly related to the delivery of
services by the CIC, and (ii) the re-employment of CIC: as a staff member.

88.The UNFCCC Secretaniat accepted the recommendation.

** Extract of the Email sent to the HR subdivizion en 17 February 2021: "With that in mind and unti] we implement
and complete our recruitment plan for the year 2021, Twonld conffrm the need to remain fTexibile and agile,
thergfore we would not apply this provision of the six months guoted belaw ™.
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89.The UN Secretariat admimistrative instruction recommends that the
selaction process be based on the use of a roster (4.1} and a competitive
selaction procedure (4.3). A roster has been established, listing 312 consultants
specializing in climate finance. Additionally, a selection procedure is in place
that requires the substantive division to list at least three candidates when
requesting external expertise. Furthermore, despite the roster's importance, two
mdividuals were hired for three comsecutive vears and with one of them
assigned to significantly diffevent tasks. This observation raises concems about
the effective implementation of the roster system and the competitive selechion
procedure.

4.3, Management of the financial mechanizm

4.3.1. Eelationzhip with the operating entities of the financial mechanizm'®

90.The relationship between the UMNFCCC Secretanat and the operating
enfities, Council of the GEF, GCF, SCCF. AF, and SCCF and LDCF both
operating by the GEF, is perceived to be smooth and appropnate by the
stakeholders. However, the framework of collaboration ties 15 not
systematically formalized, and where it exists, remains broad. Both the
UNFCCC Secretariat and the operating enfities would benefit from elanfying
areas of cooperation, formalizing the key shared objectives and updating them
regularly.

91.The UNFCCC Secretaniat is working with the funds on two fonts:
governance aspects and substantive aspects.

92.The Climate Finance subdivision takes the lead on the governance aspects
and 15 the dedicated focal point for the fund bodies. The participation of the
UNFCCC Secretanat in the Boards and Council meetings of the operating
entities 15 recogmzed as valuable. The UNFCCC Secretanat has a status of
observer during these events. However, it remains available for any additional
information on the negotation process and for clanfication on the guidance.
The subdivision 15 alse supporting the AF Board organization on logistics
matters, as it is incorporated in Boon, Duning the sessions of the Subsidiary
Bodies (5Bs) and COPs, it contributes to ensure the organization of side events
for the benefit of operating entities.

93.The UNFCCC Secretariat, through its divisions, 15 more extensively
engaging in substantive fund issues, especially the Adaptation division.
Cwrrently, the two key areas of discussion with the operating entities are the
common work fo support the counfry Parties achieving their Nationally
Determuned Contnbutions (ND(Cs) and the implementation of pniontes defined
in Mational Adaptation Programmes of Action (WAPAs), and Natonal
Adaptation Plans (NAPs). The entities should confinue to explore these areas
of cooperation and should strengthen their commeon engagement. With regard
to the call for complementary and coherence between the funds, the UNFCCC
Secretaniat 15 not involved. This work 15 led by the Parties and the funds

thamselvas.

94 The UNFCCC Secretaniat intends to organize refreats with the members of
the GCF and GEF Secretariats to exchange views on the current 1s5ues and thear
strategic prionties. It contributes to creating an environment conducive fo
collaboration. The successful organization of new retreats m 2025 could be
beneficial for UNFCCC, as this 15 a replenishment year for GEF, and that

" For the record, the operating entities are the Global Envirenment Facility, the Green Climate Fund, the
Adaptation Fund, the Special Climate Change Fund, the Least Developed Countrizs Fund and the Fund for
Besponding to Loss and Damage.

13
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discussions on the NCQG are due to take place with GCF. The Board notes that
no refreats have been held with the AF Secretanat.

4.3.2. Secondment of staff

95.The UNFCCC Secretanat and the GCF signed a Letter of Understanding
{LoU) on 6 October 2023, proposing to strengthen their cooperation and
relationship through exchange of staff. It renewed a LoU signed in August
2018. The LolJ states that “either Party may therefore consider the possibility
af sending members of its stqff to work for a period of time at the headguarters
or the decentralized affices or hubs of the other Parny™™. To date, the LoU has
not been vet implemented. The UNFCCC Secretanat has not hosted GCF staff

and the reverse 15 also true.

96.The CF has recently undergone a restmucturing which has delayed the
discussions. A draft terms of reference was defined between the stakeholders.
Follow-up of these discussions 15 requred. In a context where the UNFCCC
Secretanat tries to strengthen its role of support to the developing country
Parhies accessing funding to climate action, 1t 15 relevant, as the GCF staff have
expertise in engagement with the private sector.

97.The Board considers that this Lol betwreen the UNFCCC Secretariat and
the GCF should materialize as soon as possible, to allow the strengthening of
cooperation. This practice should be promoted with other funds such as the AF
and the FRLD, once they are fully operational.

4.3.3. Prefiguration and operationalization of the Fund for responding to Loss
and Damage

938.The Parties requested the UNFCCC Secretanat to play a key role in the
establishment of the Fund for Responding to Loss and Damage. The related
missions were shared between the Adaptation drvision and the Climate Finance
subdivision within the Means of Implementation division.

99 In 2022, during COP 27, the Parties established new funding arrangements
and a fund for assisting developing country Parties that are particularly
vulnerable to the adverse effects of climate change, m responding te loss and
damage A Transihenal Conumttes on the operationalization of the new funding
arrangements and fund was established to make recommendations for COP 28,
The Adaptation division was tasked to support the canying out of a set of
workshops and consultations thronghout 2023, The activities were conducted
thanks to a voluntary contnbution of $2,739.684.

100. The years 2024 and 2025 are characterized by the operationalization of
the FELD. To this end, an interim secretanat has been created. It 15 composed
of staff from the UNFCCC and the GCF Secretanats, and from UNDP. Ths
project 15 2 good example of cooperation between the UNFCCC and an
operating entify.

101. The UNFCCC Secretariat received a grant of 510,000,000 early in the
vear 2024 to conduct this activity. The interim Secretaniat proposed the
following budget for operationzlization for the year 2024:

= DED/MDGAT023/034.

i
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4.4,
4.4.1.

* Memorandum of Understanding between the UWFCCC and the GCF Secretariats dated July 2024; UN w0 UN

Tabla I 4.
2024 proposed budget for the operationalization of the Fund for responding to
Lozs and Damage

(United States dollars)
Budget category Amount
UNWFCCC Secretariat costs (mcluding staff costs) E36.804
GCF Secretarist costs (incduding staff costs) B38.253
TUNDP costs (inchiding staff costs) D62 120
Board of the FRLD 162,168
Contingencies for expenditures required for the
Board and imterim secTetarist relevant contingent 014,262
itzms
Total 3,703,607
Spurce: Memorandum of understanding betwesn the UNFCCC and the GCF Secrsfanat on the

administrative and logistical suppart provided to the fimd for responding to koss and damaze

102, As of May 2025, 53,536,581 had been consumed. The GCF Secretanat
and UNDP agreed to recerve their contnbutions via cost recovery facilitated by
the UNFCCC Secretariat”. Once the FRLD secretanat 15 fully operational, the
unspent funds will be transferred to it.

103, The Climate Finance subdivision is the main contributing entity in the
UNFCCC Secretamiat. In 2024, 1.60 full-time equivalent: (FIEs) of the
subdivision were dedicated to the operationalization of the FRLD, including 40
per cent of the workload of the head of subdivision As mandated, staff
members of the subdivision attended the fouwr meetings of the Board®®.

104. In addition to the Adaptation division mentioned above, the Legal Affairs
division 15 alse supporting the establishment of the FRLD. It has advised the
governing bodies on the determunation of the legal framework dunng the
prefizuration phase and is working on the legal amangements during the
operationalization phase, such as the defimbon of the MoU with the
Government of the Philippines, which hosts the Board.

105. The Secretaniat of the Fund will be hosted by the World Bank. Its staffing
table 15 still under development by the Fund management and approval by the
Fund Board. The final organizational chart 15 expected by the last quarter of the
vear 2025,

ERelationship with stakeholders to promote access to climate finance

A role of the zecretariat az a “catalyzt™" that still need: to be developed
(a) A flagship praject: the Need:-based Finance praject

106. Since 2017, the Conference of the Parties has directed the Secretanat, in
cooperation with the operating entities of the Fmaneial Mechanism, United
MNations agencies, and bilateral, regional, and other multilateral channels, to
explore methods and ways to support developing country Partie: in assessing
their needs and prionties through a2 countrv-dnven approach—including
technology and capacity-bulding needs—and m translating climate finance
requirements into actionable plans. In accordance with these COP mandates,

transfer agreement between the UNFCCC Secretariat and UNDP dated December 2024,

2 First meating of the board: 30 Aprl — 2 May 2024, Abu Dhabi, UAE | Second mesting of the Board: 8-12 July
2024, Songdo, Eorea | Third meeting of the beard: 18-20 September 2024, Baku, Azerbaijan | Fourth

meeting of the beard: 2-5 December 2024, Manila, Philippines.
OIn the words of the Secretariat.
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the UN Climate Change Secretariat launched the Needs-based Finance (NBF)
project in 2017,

107. The NBF project 15 being implemented at the regional or national level
of countries. The approach consists of three phases:

Figure L. NI
Fhased approach of the Needs-based Finance Project
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Source: UNFCOC Secretariat

108. The first phase consists of desk-based research, and concludes with a
technical assessment. These assessments undergo review and validation by
regional or national workshops (Phase 2), which also formulate a climate
finance mobiization and access strategy and a project pipeline. Dunng phase
3. the Secretaniat facilitates the development of project concept notes and
organizes fraining workshops.

109, This project has been implemented across 11 subregions, covering 112
countries. 14 techmical assessments have been published, 23 techmical
workshops were facilitated (Phase 2), mine regional chimate finance strategies
were finalized, and s1ght tramning workshops (Phase 3) were orgamized.

110. MBF has a budget of $6.28 mullion for 2017-25. It relies entirely on
voluntary contributions. The list of donors includes the Ewropean Umiom,
Germany, Norway, Russia, Spain, Sweden and Citibank, and the largest single
confribufion originates from the Mimistry of Economy and Finance of the
Republic of Korea (MOEF). The MOEF requested the Secretariat fo conduct
an independent review of this project. This independent review was camed out
in January 2024,

111. The review determined that the NBF project 15 of sigmificant relevance to
the mandates of the UNFCCC Secretariat and the project’s implementing
partners. Similarly, the project 15 complementary and additional to other work
being delivered on access to climate finance. The NBF project 15 distinguished
from related imifiatives in several ways, notably by its robust regional focus,
the countrv-led process of collaboratively 1dentifiing and pnontizing needs,
and the practical workshops that convene countries with operating entities of
the UNFCCC Financtal Mechanism The uhlization of FCC-based chimate
finance experts (through consultants" contracts) to support regional work was
seen as highly appropriate.

112. Several stakeholders identified possible improvements for NBF s internal
and external communications: Secretanat staff and consultants would welcome
more opportunities for internal peer-to-peer and eross-regional learming, there
were some concems around limited communication from regional
implementing partners, and operating enfites have reguested more frequent
updates on the progress of NBF -facilitated project concepts.

113, Furthermore, while the Secretariat has been able to deliver most of the
ocutputs that were foreseen, especially regional climate finance strategies, the
independent review noted that the outcomes were less evident. In particular,
the extent to which national and regional techmical capacities for accessing
climate finance have been developed, with ounimal evidence indicating
whether the workshops and broader NBF processes have contrnibuted to stronger

31



FCCC/SBI1/2025/INF.10

United Mations Framewnek Comnestion on Climate Chomge

institational capacities. It 15 also noteworthy that the monitoning of the project
foensed on the outputs of the NBF project with no indicators on the number of
projects financed through the NBF -project. The introduction of such an
indicator would be beneficial for Phase 2 of this project.

114. The Mimstry of Economy and Finance of the Republic of Korea has
consented to a new contribution of 1 billion South KEorean Won® per vear from
2025 to 2029. This budget reinforces the visibility of the Secretanat. It wall
enable the Secretanat to continue this project, implementing the
recommendations 1ssued by the mud-ferm review.

115. The Board recommends that the UTNFCC Secretariat incorporate
indicators on the outcome of the Needs-baszed Finance project to assess itz
impact on the role of the Secretariat as a catalyst for climate finance.

116. The UNFCCC Secretanat accepted the recommendation.

117. This imtiative serves as a perfinent example of the Secretanat plaving a
catalytic role regarding climate finance. It is based on a mandate conferred by
the Parties. It capitalizes on the conveming authonty of the UNFCCC
Secretaniat to assemble all relevant stakeholders and on its in-depth knowledge
of the needs of the Parties expressed in their NDICs and NAP=. It 15 regionally
and country-led, which distinguishes it from the coordination efforts pursued
by the funds at the global level. Should the results of this imfiative be sustained
and improved, 1t could signify the emergence of the Secretanat as a facilitator
in the mmplementation of climate actions within the realm of climate finance,
in addition to facilitating mtergovernmental negotiations.

(b) Arole gf the RCCs in the field qf climats finance that need te be strengthened
and better commumicated

118. The Board reviewed the work plans of the Regional Collaboration Centres
{(R.CCs), for the peniod 2022-2023. Regarding climate finance, four out of the
six work plans were identical, indicating that the RCCs merely replicated the
template provided by headquarters. Only the ECCs for the Canbbean and for
the Middle East, North Africa, and South Asia adapted this template to specify
the workforce it could deveote to finance (Canbbean) or select the workstreams
in which they would be involved (MENA). Although this was not mentioned in
1ts work plan, the RCC for Asia and the Pacific appears to have been notably
active in this field, particularly in relation to financing adaptation projects and
accessing Global Environment Facility funding (with the support of the United
MNations Environment Programme).

119. The swvey conducted by the Board confirms that the RCCs could be
strengthened to increase delivery of support on climate finance or, at the very
least, that there 15 a need for improved communication of the BCCs' actions on
climate finance to UNFCCC stakeholders. In fact, only seven out of the fifty-
nine respondents to the survey had the opportunity to engage with the RCCs on
climate finance issmes. While this mav be partly explained by the different
audiences surveved and engaged in translating climate finance needs into
action, making inereased use of regional presence to support countries should
be explored.

120. The Board recommend: that the UNFOCC Secretariat improve the
communication towards negotiators on the role of the RCCs regarding
delivery of support on climate finance,

121. The UNFCCC Secretariat accepted the recommendation.

H As of May 2023, § 6,978,367 (UN Treasury - UN Operational Rates of Exchange).
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4.4.2. An engagement with the UN :ystem needing to be more structured and
formalized

122, For chimate finance, exchanges with others UN entities do exist, but these
are limited to specific scopes and actions, notably with UNDP and UNEF. The
strongest relafionship 1s with UNMEP. UNEP is involved in needs-based climate
finance projects. An MoU with UNEP exists and was renewed in Baku. This
MoU permits the implementation of international cooperation on the UNFCCC
Article 6 (education, fraining and public awareness). UNEP develops cutreach
campaign, workshops and survey about climate change in the context of the
scope of the current MolU.

123, Links also exist with both UNEP and UNDP for a joint programme.
Indeed, they have created a global support programme for NAPs, in response
to a mandate given at the COP17 in Dwban. This mandate calls for suppoit to
NAP:. This work serves, among others, to finance imitiatives, bringing together
the perspectives of central banks, private banks, and financial institutions.

124, UNOPS and UNDER participate in the Santago Network, established in
2019 at the COP25. The Santiago Metwork for Loss and Damage amms to
catalyze technical assistance and strengthen the capacity of vulnerable
developing countries to effechively manage climate-related loss and damage.
Following the adoption of a decision of UN General Assembly to formalize the
implementation of the Santiago Network, the UNDER. and UNOPS signed in
2023 a Memorandum of Understanding with the UNFCCC Executive Secretary
to co-host the network’s secretariat™ — marking a sigmficant milestone towards
the network’s full operationalization. The network will operate in coordination
with the Loss and Damage Fund — established during COP28 in Dubai. Theze
imitiatives should deliver the necessary policy, finance, and technical assistance
for vulnerable developing countries te enhance their capacity to cope with
climate-related loss and damage.

125. To strengthen cohesion with other actors in the UN system, UNFCCC
should establish closer collaborations, particularly with UNCBD and UNCCD,
based in Boon. The Secretariat already works clozely with the UNCCD. Its
representatives participate in UMCCD events and co-finance related activities.
This collaboration proceeds without the admimistrative burden of a formal
agresment—an overhead that many partmers are eager to avold So, fixing the
agresment process is needed. Strengthen relationships mvolves drafting Molls
that define the shared objectives and expectations of these collaborations, i
terms of climate finance, as well as the vision of the leadership. Thesze become
increasingly important due to the complexity of climate finance 1ssues and the
structural changes within the UN, wath the UNED mmitative. In this way,
UNFCCC could maximize cooperation n order to achieve climate finance
objectives relying on Agencies, Funds and Programmes {AFPs), acting as a
catalyst.

126. The topic of NDCs could strengthen these hinks. Indeed, the wear 2025
marks the update of NDCs by the Parties. Actors in the UN system must be able
to suppeort the Parfies in drafting these NDCs, which zo beyond the sole
framework of the UNFCCC and have systemuc effects, for example, on
development perspectives or disaster nsk management. Thus, the UNFCCC
could reinforce relatonships with enfities, particnlarly by relying on the
existing interagency group, to support 1t the WNDCs process.

127. The Board recommend: that the UNFCCC Secretariat in a whole of
agency solution seeking approach and where it adds value sign and'or

¥ Memorandum of understanding between the Conference of the Parties to the United Nations Framework
Coovention on Climate Change and the Cenference of the Partiss serving as the mesting of the Parties to
the Paris Agreement, on the one hand. and the United Wations Office for Disaster Fisk Feduction and the
United Nations QOffice for Project Services, on the other, regarding the hesting of the Santiage network
Secrafariat.
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update legal arrangements: with the UIN Azencies, Fund: and Programmes
— in particular with UNDP (and UNCDF), UNEF, UNCCD, UNCEBD,
TUNDER, ete, — to maximize the Secretariat’s capacity to act as a eatalyst.

128. The UNFCCC Secretanat accepted the recommendation.

An engagement with the broader finance world that need: to be
strengthened in the context of art. 2.1.c of the Pariz Agreement

128 Article 2.1.c of the Panis Agreement sets the goal of “making finanecial
flows consistent with a pathway towards low greenhouse gas emissions and
climate-resilient development.” The Secretanat 15 encouraged not only to
engage with the financial mechanism of the Convention but also to reach out
to all stakeholders involved in finance. These stakeholders include the Bretton
Weoods institutions, mimstnes of finance, regulators, banks, insurance
companies, and asset managers, among others.

130. This transformational goal was translated, among other imfiatives,
through the Sharm el-5Sheikh dialogue to facilitate exchanzes between relevant
orgamzatons and stakeholders. The geoal 15 to enhance understanding of the
scope of Article 2, paragraph l(c), of the Pans Agreement and ifs
complementarity with Article 9. In practice, this inttiative has introduced a new
process supported by the Secretanat Specifically, “enhancing collective
understanding in relation to Article 2.1(c) in the context of the Sharm el-Sheikh
dialogue” 15 one of the areas of work for the “policy and analysis umt” within
the Climate Finance subdivision. The objectives of this unit in this area are
closely linked to the negotiations and the work mncludes organizing workshops,
supporting co-chairs, and providing assistance to the infergovernmental
Process.

131. The Board estimates that only 7 per cent of the Climate Finance
subdivision's staff in 2024 were allocated to engaging with climate finance
stakeholders, excluding tme dedicated te orgamzing workshops or other
negotiation-related events. The umit responsible for this engagement has
identified several risks associated with the current engagement strategy, bevond
the issue of inadequate resource allocation, in parficular an inadequate
representation of stakeholders and inadequate engagement strategies.

132. The Board identifies a nsk related to the disproporion between the staff
dedicated to this task (appremimately one individual) and the number of
imitiatives that could be of interest to the UNFCCC. This disparity hinders
regular and m-depth engagement with the most promising mnitiatives, as well
as the identification of new ones. A potential selufion inveolves, on the basis of
a mapping of cwrrent finance mitiatives, engaging with a selected number of
them Furthermore, this techmical engagement should be more effectively
coordinated with the political engagement at the Executive Secretary level

133, Although the resources allocated to this area by the Climate Finance
subdivision are limited, other divisions within the crganization are also
responsible for engagmg with these actors. The tramsparency division 1s
developing an IT tool to collect and track their engagements. It is noteworthy
that, following the report of the High-Level Expert Group on the Net-Zero
Emissions Commitments of Mon-State Entities | established by the UM
Secretary-General m 2022, the UNFCCC Secretaniat has comsidered the
recommendations made in its report. Specifically, the group recommended that
“npon-state actors report in a standardized, open format and through public
platforms that feed info the UNFCCC Global Climate Action Portal to address
data gaps, inconsistencies, and maccessibility that hinder climate action.” The

* https:/'www.un.org/en/climatechange high-level-expert-group.
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redevelopment of the Global Climate Action Portal 2MAZCA™) in 2025 will be
based on a "Net Zero Fecogmton Framework (NEF)' i line with these

recommendations.

134, Orverall, the organization of the Secretanat reflects the processes imitiated
by the Conferences of the Parhies over the years. The dedicated umits
collaborate effectively, as they deal with the same interlocutors depending on
the process. The designation of focal points for the varous mmitiatives could
further enhance the Secretanat’s impact. In addifion, the Secretariat often
engages bilaterally with financial institutions, particularly pmltlateral
development banks, but could benefit from engaging with them as a group.
Finally, engagement with financial regulators, such as the Finanecial Stability
Board, is currently limited and could be strengthened.

o

Fole and responsibilities in procurement

135. The UNFCCC Secretanat 15 mandated to operationalize the article 6 of
the Pans Agreement, which deals with cooperation i 1mplementing the
agreement and promotng of international fransactions in support of achion on
chmate change (market-based mechamsms). The mechanism mntreduced on the
Article &, paragraph 42 1is suppesed to take over from the Clean Development
Mechamsm (CDM) developed to mmplement the Evoto Protocel. It mvolves
rolling out a Mechanism Information System (MIS) and a centralized registries
tools to 1mplement the Article 6, paragraph 4. The competent entity
Fequisifioner®, meaning the Information and communication technology (ICT)
subdivision decided that 1t would be preferable to launch new solicitation
processes for this pwpose. The Procwrement Authority, meaning the
Procurement team, the competent entity requsitionsr and the second
requisifioner, namely the Mitigation division, defined together the selicitation
package and the timeline.

136. The process, the technical evaluation, and the financial evaluation raised
concerns among the members of the Joint Local Committee on Contracts
{JLCoC) and of the Headquarters Committee on Contracts (HCC). The HCC
guestioned the segregation of responsibilities between the stakeholders in the
current organization, including the Procurement Authonty. The latter has had
difficulties in fully ensuring the consistency and efficiency of the process.

137. The JLCoC met twice to discuss this procurement™ . Regarding the
procedure, during the first JLCoC, the members noted that the Source Selaction
Plan™ (S5P) had been formally signed after the process had already begun®,
meaning on 29 February 2024, Indeed, the UN Procwement manual mentions
that “the Procurement Official and the Requsitioner are jointly responsible for
contribufing to, preparning, finalizing, and obtaiming any required approvals for
the 55P before the solicitation documents are 155ued. The Procurement Official

must ensure that the S5P 15 approved prior to the 1ssuance of any solicitation™?.

T WAZCA for Non-state Actor Zone for Climate Action was a portal launched by the UNFCOCC in 2014, following
an initiative of the COP20 Presidency.

™ Article 6. paragraph 4 of the Paris Agreement is one of three approaches for Parties to voluntarily cooperate in
achieving their emission reduction targets and adaptation aims set out in their national climate action plans
(Wationally Determined Contribations).

# %4 Reguizitioner is an individual whe initigtes a reguest for a reguizitionshapping cart in Umagja, the UN3

Enterprise Rezource Planning (ERP) syztem, ie., a request for pood: and'or services. 4 Reguizitioner ha: primary

responsibility far capturing demand data, consolidating needs from end-users and stakeholders, dgfining penaric

and clear specificarions, and managing resources.”, UN Procurement Manual.

* 0O 11 March 2024 and on 8 April 2024.

W g Planning for a single procurement exercise, formal or informal, should be reflecred in the corresponding Source

Selection Plan (55P). The 35P describes critical companents of the seurcing process and provides justffcation for

senrcing decisions in order o achieve Best Falue for Money. It alse provides am oljective approach to the

methodolegy of selecting the best rource to fulfil the esrablished need.”, UN Procurement manual, section 2.3,

2 0m 12 October 2023.

T Bection 4.3.




FCCC/SBI1/2025/INF.10

United Mattions Framework Comvention on Climate Chomen

Internal disagreements on the expected imeline seem to be at the ongin of thas
shortcomimg.  Mevertheless, the Procurement Authonity succeeded fo
demonstrate to the TLCoC that all the elements of the S5P were already in place
prior the commencement of the process and had not changed during the process.

138. Dunng this first meeting, the JLCoC also questioned the techmical
evaluation clarity (see detailed information below) and the financial approach
of the procurement, insofar as the contract has a Not-To-Excead (NTE) amount
significantly above the available budget approved by the Parties of $5,730,000.
Upen their reguest, firther clanfications were provided dunng the second
meeting. The JLCoC agreed on the award and the case was referved to the HCC.

138, The HCC discussed the case on 21 August 2024 and concluded to
recommend that the Assistant Secretary-General for Supply Chain Management
reject the solicitaton. The members hghhighted the two man following
CODCerns:

The technical evalnation criteria, defined by the two Requisihoners, were “nof
ohjectively defined and scored, and there was no clarity on how the percentage
weightings were applied to each criterion™*

- The financial struchue of the procurement was not gZiving to the idders “rhe
opportunity to price out for those increments or establizh the level of effort they
believed neceszary to parform the ncrements. ™ The HCC also asserted that
“there was also a potential issue of segregation of responsibilities berween
procurement and requisitioning office in this instance given that the commercial
evaluation had principally been performed by the requisitioning affice ™

140. On the recommendation and with the approval of the UN Secretanat, the
alternative of relving on a contractual agreement with the Procurement division
of the U Secretariat to develop the Aricle 6.4 MIS was chosen. In the
meantme, fo mimmize delays, interim solufions were rolled out to register the

projects needing to transition from the CDM to the Article 6.4,

141. The difficulfies encountered with the procurement of the Article 6.4 MIS
had consequences on the procurement of the article 6.4 centralized registries.
Despite the JLCol recommended the award and the Executive Secretary
approved if, the decision was made by the Deputy Executive Secretary to cancel
the tendering procedure fo reissue it after modification considenng that the
methodology proposed for the techmeal evaluation was simlar with the one for
the Article 6.4 MIS. It was decided to give the lead to UNDP Copenhagzen,
which offers its procurement services to the UN system, with the oljective of
shortening the duration of the procedure. At the time the Board conducted its
final audit, the tender was not open to solicitation as the two requsitonsrs,
namely the ICT subdivision and the Mitigation division, had different views on
the interoperability requirements of the solutions®’.

142, The Board recommend: that the UNFCCC Secretariat conduct and
formalize a lesson learnt exercize on procurement processes, taking in
consideration the lens of the role and responsibilities of the Procurement
Authority, the requizitioners, and manazement, to ensure the consistency
and the efficiency of the procurement processes,

143, The UNFCCC Secretanat accepted the recommendation.

M Minutes of the mesting n*HCC /2438, 12 August 2024 - Agenda Item 02.

* Thid.
* Thid.

T The initial 55P planned a launch of the solutions implementation by May 2024,

3
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23 Tuly 2025

Transmission of information by management

Write-off of losses of cash, receivables and non-expendable property

144 In accordance with Regulation 6.5 of the Financial Regulations and Rules
of the United Nations, the Management may, after full investigation, authorize
the writing-off of losses of assets, including cash, invenfories and property
plant and equipment, provided that a statement of all such amounts written off
is submitted to the Board with the annual financial statements submatted as
required by regulation 6.1.

145, UNFCCC reported that there were no write-offs of cash, recervables and
assets duning 2024,

Ex gratia pavments

146. Begulation 5.11 of the Financial Regulations and Rules of the Umted
Mations states that the Management may make ex gratia payments as they are
deemed to be necessary in the interest of the Orgamzation, provided that a
statement of such payments shall be submitted to the Board with the financial
statements.

147, UNFCCC stated that ex gratia payments were not made 1n 2024,

Cases of frand and presumptive fraud

145, In accordance with the additional terms of reference to the Financial
Regulations and Rules of the United Nations (Annex-6-c-1), fraud cases are
included in the matters that should be reported the Board. The External
Aunditor's rele 15 not to investigate frand or provide assurance on the matter.
The primary responsibility for preventing and detecting frauwd rests with
management. Mevertheless, in accordance with International Standards on
Aunditing 240 the Board plans 1tz audits of the financial statements so that 1t has
a reasonable assurance of 1dentifying matenal misstatements, meluding those
resulting from frand.

148, UNFCCC stated that there was no case of fraud or presumptive fraud for
the financial vear ended 31 December 2024,
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Annex

Status of implementation of recommendations up to the financial year ended 31 December 2023

United Nations Frmewosrk Comvention oo Climai Change

Staus qfter veriffcation

Audir Undar Nor verrake
No.  mporr  Report rgferonce Board t recommendation Managemen: T respanse Board & assersmant Impiemenred  implemenrati  fmgplemanse nby
wear an avans
1 2019 FCOC/SBI2020Y  The Board recommends that The ERM S0P and enterprizs rizk The enterprize risk
INF& UNFCCC address the risks it is register have besn developed and were management S0P is
chap. I, para. 188 expesed to through an up-to- formally endorsed in April 2023, effective since | May
date enterpriss risk manasement 2025. The sk register
that includes owners and due was promulpated on X
dates and a documentation; 15 Aprl 2025 The
Board considered the
ecommendation s
implamentsd.
2 2020  FCCC/SBI202LT  The Board recommends that The Executive Secretary’s new DoA iz Thiz ropic is still
NF4 chap. IT, UNFCCC comply with the under discussion with the TN under review by the
para.81 Procurement Marual in further Secrefariat, with a draft having been UN Seetariat. The
low value acquisition processes.  prepared. This is curently under review  Board considersd the
* Indicare UNFOCOC Ty the UN Secretariat. recammendation e
TerTetariars margin qf maneuver under implementation
Jor deviation from the
FProcurement Manual in the new
Did thar is fo be izzwed o the
E3
3 021  FCCC/SBI2022T  The Board recommends that The UNFCCC Policy Poral, accessible As  the TUNFCCC
NF.10/chap IT, UNFCCC have a catalogue af via the secretariaf’s infranst, provides Puolicy Portal has been
pana.63 all rules, inchiding those rales o staff with up-to-date access to all curent  made available to all
which applicable rules refer, secretariat policies as well as applicable staff and comtimues to
frespective of whether they are  policies from the Ul Secretariat. As new  be maintained on a
UNFCCC's own rules or United  palicies are developed and coms into regular  basis.  this
Mations males. This catalogus force they are regularly uploaded and recommendation  is
would need to be maintaimed oo maintamed in the Portal to ensure considered as having X

a rezular basis.

contiminus accuracy and relevance.

been implemented in
March 2025 HR AL
following TN rulss.
UNFCCC will hawe o
update all policies
inchided m  the
Tecommendations,

kL
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Staus qfter veriffeation
Audir Ul Not Oherrake
No.  mporwt  Raport rgference Board s rec earfi A T respanse BoardT asserrment Iplemenred  implamenrati  implemente nby
year an d avans
4 2021 FCCC/SBIM22T  Inadditon, the Board FRemaiming shortcomings of polices are UNFCCC  contimues
NF.10/chap I, recommends that UNFCCC addressed and relevant policies are in to develop and update
para.G8 eliminate all shortcomings m varows siages of completion. its policy fTamework,
UNFCCC policies that wers including to address X
identified in the policy review the identified Policy
s 5000 a5 possible. Gaps, on a preTity
*rg¢ Policy (aps tab basis
5 2021 FCCC/SBI2022T  The Board recommends that The IC self-assessment questionnairs The IC assessment
NF.10/chap IT, UNFCCC reconsider was developed based on best practices in guestionnaire and the
para 40 introducing a SIC bazed on the the TN and shared with divisions for statement oo internal
SIC sigmed by the Secretary- their feedhack. On this basis, the contral for 2024 wers X
General in 2021. UNFCCC's first Statement of Internal shared The Beard
Conrrol has been finalized and sizned by comsidered the
the Exacutive Secrstary. recommendation s
implemented.
] 2012 FCCC/SBL2023T  The Board recommends the 0D has reviewed the possibility of The Secremamat is
UNFCCC Secratariat hetter enhanring the secretariat’s ethics warking on enhancing
Para. 224 prevent the fsks of faud, function: farther work on echanced ethic functions 1o
carmuption and misconduct by approach to detecting and treating frand,  prevent framd. This X
enhancing and updating commuption and misconduct, and making recommendation  is
detection and treatment systems:  this better accessible to staff is ongoing. sl under
implementation.
7 2072 FCCC/SBLI2023T  The Board recommends the The ERM SOP and the enterprise risk The enterprise risk
NE® UNFCCC Secretariat identify, register were developed and formally management S0P is
Pana. 163 a3sess and mitizate ina endorsed in April 20235, effective since 1 May
systemic mammer critical risks of 2025. The rizk register
a strategic nature. inchading wa: prommlzated on X
those concerning financial 15 Aprl 2025. The
resources, parmerships and the Board considered
legal environment; recommendation i
implemented.
31 2023 FOCC/2024TNF.  The Board recommends that the The consultation with Parties was done The Secretanat
X chap. IO, UNFCCC Secretariat inform and  in November 2024 during COP22 in informed and
para.57 consult the Parties far ahead of Baku, plus two sessions with Heads of consulted the Pares
the budget appropriation process  Delegations on & March 2023, Further for the budget. withon X
on the main elements and consultations inchaded: line mesting with the
scenarios of the next budget 1. Briefing with SBI Chair key Eroups. regional

2. Briefing to Parties

proups and  bilateral

EL
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Starus qfter veriffeation
Audir Uhder Nor Ovarraks
No.  repert Report rgfarence Bogrd s rec: darion A T response Board & assessment Impigmented  implemenrati  implemente n by
yoear an d avenss
cycle, to betler take mio account 3. Bilateral consnltations with key consultatiens. The
their concems. Groups and Parties pressnfations — were
4. Briefing to COP 29 Presidency and presemted  to the
incoming COP 30 Presidency Board. The Board
5. 3rd round of consultations with key considered the
Groups and Parties during 5B 62 pre- recommendation  is
sessional week implemented
32 2023 FOCC/20J4TNF.  The Board recommends that the Harmonized monitoring is now UNFCCC  reviewed
X/ chap. II, UNFCCC Secretariat develop a conducted using the new tool, Umnoja the ToE of MTSCF
para.83 harmonized monitoring tool on Anabytics. FRMU has developed Commities and
tudget implementation. enhance  standardized financial reparts and implemsnted
budget management oversight, dashboards within Umeja Analytics to dazhbeards to follow
and prowide appropriate enable real-time tracking of budzet badget
justification for any core budget  performance, tailored to specific implementation. The
reallocation. reparting requirements. The terms of core budzet e
reference for the Manapement Team Sub-  reallocations  should
committes on Financial Management be followed and
were reviewed and revizad, and its justified through this
strengthened role is being implemented. tool. The Board
All reallocation requirements are to be considered the
presented to the committes for review recommendation
and, where approprate, escalated for implemented.
Expontive Secretary approval.
33 233 FOCCO0O4INF.  The Board recommends tharthe  LDEW Umoja Analyrics toal has been A dismssion  with
W chap. 1L UNFCCC Secrstariat presepttg  ToLed out and used to prepare the DParties on this matter
X performance documents for 2024, The :
para.98 ll.heCunfuence ofPam.ﬁ_ and dpcument on Efforts to farther improve i now planned  for
implement a sTatezy o MMPIOve  gha afficiency and transparency of the 5B64 in Bomn mest
the qualiry and coherence of its U.\TCCC'bﬂda;‘et Bss ear This X
reporting on budzer (FCCC/SBL2 .S-ﬁl] reflects this. recommendation iz
ERImEnt OImanC Further wark on improving the quality implementation
Famng aud perf : and coherence ofbudg\etn%amg&mf under imp
and performance reporting will continue
throughout 2025.
E 0213 FOCC20J4DNF.  The Board recommends thatthe  The workplan with all the indicators for A workplan with 18
X/ chap. I, UNFCCC Secretariat setupand  all the major workstreams has been stratepic priorities for
par.150 manitor indicators on the presented to MT on @ April 20235, 2025 and )
effertivensss and efficiency of workstreams LH X
the most critical processes for redacted by UWFCCC.
the fanctioning of the The EPI Concept note
was approved by the

40
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mandates, prioritization criteria))
to the Parties, inchading through

Bureau mestings which included updates
an the implementation of key COP

updates to the Bursau.
These doruments
comfain evidences of

Status qfter verification
Audis Not Overrake
No.  rmeporr Raport reference Board & rec ol A T respanse Board & assersment Impiemented  implememrari  fmplomente n by
year d v
Secretanal and stafl engagement Secrstaniat. The
and well-being. recommendation  is
implemented.
35 2023 FCOCC/2014TNF.  The Board recommends that Immplemented Latters by the ES sant to The fundraising
X/ chap. 10, UNFCCC Secretariat widen the neon-Annex I Parties in May 2024 and in Letters were sent to
para. 172 base of the contribution to April 2025, saveral Parties. The
mandated activities by sending Board considers the X
fundraising letters for voluntary recommendation
resources to an extended list of implemented.
Parties.
36 2013 FOCC2004INF.  The Board recommends thatthe  The budget propesal for 2026-2027 and The Secretanat
X/ chap. 11, UNFCCC Secretariat submit to its ammex provide direct evidence thatthe  presented an advanced
para.194 the Parties a new methodalogy UNFCCC secrefariat has implemented wersian of  the
for budget proposal and the BOA recommendation. The document  programme budget for
approval, to better address describes a new, stracrured, and the next hienmium
challenges linked to: (i) the transparent methodolozy for udzet This note represents a
contewt of increasing pew planning and approval—addressing the revised methodology.
mandates, (ii) the mizaliznment challenges of growing mandates, timing The npote enhance X
of the timeframe for mandate misalignments, and the need to define transparency and give
adeption and budget and resource high-stake priorites in more information to
appropriation. and (5ii) the nead censultation with Parties. the SBI Therefors,
to define and approve high stake the recommendation is
prinrities along with the budget considerad a5
necessary for their implemented.
implementation
7 2023 FCOCC/2014TNF.  The Board recommends that the A strategic delivery famework has been The Secretariat has
X/ chap. 10, UNFCCC Secretariat presant to presented to MT on @ April 2025, Further  elaborated a  draft
para.202 the Parties a strategy to increase  work on 2 strategy to incease the operational  strategy
significantly its effiriency and secretariat’'s efficiency and effectivenss:  framewark. The Board
effectivensss in the newt three will continue throwghour 20235 considerad the
vears, and repert yearly on the recommendation
results reached under implementation.
EH 2023 FCOCC2024TNF.  The Board recommends thatthe  The implementation of the The Secratariat
W chap. I UNFCCC Secretariat regulaily recommendation is evidencad by the presented to the Board
) : . - N L SUppOMting  evidences,
para.212 report on its strategic approach detailed brisfings and strategic such 2: brisfinz and X
(smrategic plan. delivery of reflections delivered during recent
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Audir
Board & rec:

No.  rmeport Report reference
year

A IS respoanse

Board t assessmeni

Stz qfter veriffeation

Under Not Overrake
Impiemented  impilementarl  Implemente n by
an d avanss

the Burean of the Conference of
Parties, to puarantes
accountability and inrrease
alignment with considerations of
the Subsidiary Body for
Implementation concemning the
efficiency of the Conference’s

ProCessas

decisions, progress m mandate delmvery,
financial planning alizned with audit
recommendations, and engoing efforts to
streamling processes and McTease
transparency. The Burean serves as an
exsential forum for angoing
accountability, enabling feedback from
Partizs and ensunng alignment with the
Subsidiary Body for Implementation’s
considerations regarding effidency and
effectiveness of Conference processes.
In addition, the secretarat note on
“Amangements for intergovernmental
mestingz" publizshed for consideration by
Parties at SBIS2, mvites the Parties to
provide puidance on:

* Planning for COP 30 and the elements
of the COP 30 provisional agendas;

» Diates proposed for the sessional
periods in 2030-2031;

* Hosting of COP 31, 32 and 33;

» Increazing the efficiency of the
UNWFCCC process towards enhancing
amibition and soenpthening
implementation;

» Eohancing engagement of observer
arganizations in the TNFCOCC process.

[EET
implementation, some
strategic approach. The
Secrefariat Dust ensure
that all Parties ame
properly mnformed.
Neverthelpss, the
Board considered the
recomemendation
implemented.

Total nomber of recommendations

15

[
=
=

Percentage of the total number of recommendations

100%

% 3% (L] (L]
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Chapter III
Certification of the Financial Statements

The financizl statements of the Umted Nations Framework Convention on Climate
Change (UWNFCCC) for the year ending 31 December 2024 have been prepared m
accordance with financial rule 106.1. They include all trust funds and special accounts
operated by UNFCCC.

A summary of sigmificant accountng policies applied 1n the preparation of these
statements 15 mcluded as a note to the financial statements. The notes to the financial
statements provide addifional mmformation and clanfication on the finanmal activibies
undertaken by UNFCCC during the pened covered by the statements, for which the
Executive Secretary had administrative responsibility.

I certify that the appended financial statements of the United MNations Framework
Convention on Climate Change for the vear ended 31 December 2024 are cormrect.

.

Simon Stell
Executive Secratary
21 July 2025
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The Letter of Representation
21 July 2025

Dear Mr. Pierre Moscovici

This representation letter iz provided in connection with yvour audit of the finaneial
statements of the United Nations Framewerk Convention on Climate Change for the vear ended
31 December 2024 for the purpose of expressing an opinion as to whether the financial
statements are presented fairly. in all material respects in accordance with International Public
Sector Accounting Standards and with financial repulation of the Financial Regulations and
Eules of the United Nations and the policies of the United Nations Framework Convention on
Climate Change.

These Financial Statements show total net assets amounting to USD 61.3 million and
include a surplus for the vear of USD 8.1 mullion.

We confirm that, to the best of our kmowledge and belief, having made such inquiries
as we considered necessary for the purpose of appropriately informing courselves:

Financial Statements

- We have fulfilled our responsibilities for the preparation of the financial statements in
accordance with International Public Sector Accounting Standards, the Financial
Pegulations and Rules of the United Nations and the policies of the United Nations
Framework Convention on Climate Change, in particular the financial statements are
fairly presented in accordance therewith.

- The methods, the data, and the significant assumptions vsed in making accounting
estimates and their related discloswes are appropriate to achieve recognition,
measurement or disclosure that is reasonable in the context of the applicable financial
reportiing framework (ISA 540). in particular:

o the valuation of capitalised consumables is based on the available information,

to the best of our knowledge and believe,

o the valvation of investments is estimated at the best of ouwr Imowledge and
believe,

o the valoation method and its related assumptions used to determine the employee
benefits obligations and actvarial adjustments are fairly presented in the
financial statements,

o the valuation of the provisions for legal claims is estimated at the best of our

knowledge and believe.

The valuation of the provisions for legal claims and allowance for doubtful

voluntary contribution receivables is estimated at the best of our knowledge and

believe

[w]
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- Owersight responsibility for assessing the risks of material fraud and controls desizned
to prevent and detect fravd or error have been developed and implemented, including
any specific risks that management has identified or that have been brought to its
attention

- Related party relationships and transactions have been appropriately accounted for and
disclosed in accordance with the requirements of International Public Sector
Accounting Standards (ISA 550).

- All events subsequent to the date of the finanecial statements through the date of this
letter, and for which International Public Sector Accounting Standards require
adjustment or disclosure have been adjusted or disclosed in the aforementioned
financial statements (ISA 560).

Information Provided

- We have provided you with:

o Access to all information of which we are aware that is relevant to the
preparation of the financial statements_ such as records, documentation and other
matters;

o Additional information that you have requested from ws for the purpose of the
audit; and

o Unrestricted access to persons within the entity from whom you determined it
necessary to obtain andit evidence.

- All wansactions have been recorded in the accounting records and are reflected in the
financial statements.

- We have disclosed to vou all internal and external infermation in relation with the
actuarial valuation of employee benefits liabilities as at 31 December 2024,

- We have disclosed to you the results of owr assessment of the risk that the financial

statements may be materially misstated as a result of frand (ISA 240).

- We have disclosed to you all information in relation to fravd or suspected frand that we
are aware of and that affects the entity and involves:

Management:

Employees who have significant roles in internal control; or

Others where the fraud could have a material effect on the financial statements.

- We have disclosed to you all information in relation to allegations of frand, or suspected
frand, affecting the financial statements communicated by employees, former
employees, analysts, regulators or others (ISA 240).

- We have disclosed to you all known instances of non-compliance or suspected non-
compliance with laws and regulations whose effects should be considered when
preparing financial statements (ISA 250).

- We have disclosed to vou the identity of the entity’s related parties and all the related
party relationships and transactions of which we are aware (ISA 350).

- We have disclosed to you all budgetary elements presented within Statement V
‘statement of comparison of budget and actual ameounts * of the financial statements.

OO0
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- We acknowledge our responsibility for the desizgn and implementation of internal
controls to prevent and detect error and we have disclosed to you the results of owr
assessment of the risk that the financial statements could be materially misstated.

- We confirm that all known actual or possible litigations and claims have been disclosed
to vou.

- We have disclosed to you the accurate and complete information related to ex-gratia
payments and write-offs.

Simon Stiell
Executive Secretary



FCCC/SBI1/2025/INF.10

Uzeted Mations Framework Comention on Climais Chonge Firomcial stxtamens

Chapter IV
Financial report for the vear ended 31 December 2024

A, Imtroduction

1. The permanent secretamiat of the Umited Nahons Framewok Convention on Chmate
Change (UNFCOC) was established m January 1996 for the following purposes to (a) amange
for sessions of the Conference of the Parhes and its subsidiary bodies established under the
Convention, the Eyvoto Protorol and the Pans Apreement and to provide them with services as
required; (b} compile and tansmut reports subnutted to it; (c) facilitate assistance to Parties
partienlarly developms country Parties on reguest in the compilation and commmumicanion of
information requred in accordance with the provisions of the Convention, the Eyoto Protocol
and the Pans Agreement; (d) prepare reports on ifs activibes and present them to the Conference
of the Parties; (g) enswre the pecessary coordmaton with the secretariats of other relevant
international bodies: (f) enter, under the overzll gmdance of the Conference of the Parhies, mto
such admimstrative and contractual amrangements as may be required for the effectve discharge
of s funchons; (g) perform other secretaniat fimetions specified m the Convention and m any of
itz protocols; and (b) wndertake any other finchons as mav be determmed by the Conference of
the Parties.

2. The financial statements of the United Nahions Framework Convention on Climate Change
(UNFCCC) are prepared in accordance with Infernational Public Sector Accounting Standards
(IPSAS) and are submitted to the Conference of Parties ({0F) m accordance with the finance
and tudget pohicies. The finaneial statements melode all operations under the direct suthonty of
the Executve Secretary including the core budget, extra-budgetary financed activifies, and
actrvifies under the Clean Development Mechamsm (CDM).

3. This financial report should be read in conjunction with the UNFCCC andited finaneial
statements for 2024, but they do not form part of the statements. The financial report is intended
to provide readers of the finaneial results with a more bolistic understanding of the meaning of
the numbers and inform stakeholders about how financial resowrces are being managed.

B. 2024 Financial highlights
Toral revenue
4. Revenue m 2024 totalled $130.5 mllion mamky consisting of:

(a) The mdicatrve contributions to the core budget of $40.8 million.
(B)  Vohmtary contnbutions from donors totalled 5745 mulhon
()  Fees for the CDM and Joint Implementation mechanizms $3 4 million.
{d) Inferestearned during the period amounted to $11.5 milhon
(e}  Othermiseallanecus revemme of 50.2 oulhon.
Toral expenzes

5 Expenditure m 2024 totalled $122.4 mullion and mamly consisted of:

(a) Personnel expenses amounting to 5693 milhon
(b)  Confractual serices expenses of $30.6 millien
{c) Travel related expenses ftotalling 5138 oulhon.
(d) Operating, other and miscellaneous expenses for $8.7 malhon.
Combinad revenue
a Indicative contributions reverme increased by £5.0 million to $40.8 million (3328 million

in 2023} due to the Conference of Parhies approving a hugher assessed contmbubion based on the
approval of a higher budget m 2024, Vohmtary confributions increased by $19.2 million
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{meludmg 57 2 malhion finds channelled through the secretanat for the Sanfizgo network for loss
and damage) from $35.2 million in 2023 to $74.5 million in 2024, The increase in voluntary
conmbuton 15 driven by enhanced fimd-raising effoats. Besides, following a reassessment of
mli-vear grants infiated m 2022, an additional cummlatve amount of USD 6.5 milhon was
recognized as revenue from conditional volmtary conmbubons, This amount represents a
correction of pror-year contribufions as of 31 December 2024,

7 There was also 2 sigmficant decrease in the fees for the Clean Development Mechanizm
{CDA) and the Joint Implementation (1) by about $10.5 mullion from $13.9 pulbon m 2023 to
%34 pullion in 2024 This is attributable to the discontinuation of JT during the vear and reduced
volumes of Certified Enussion Reduction issuances for enwssion reduction projects and
programs of actaties i 2024 compared to 2023, whach 1= conpmstent with the transmomng of
CDM projects to Article 5.4, The decrease in other revenue by $3.6 mullion is due to fewer
external ICT projects underizken duwring the vear compared to pnor years.

Total expenzes

8 With a 1.9 mallion reduction, representing 1.6 per cent of total expenditure, the curment
year's total expenditure was consistent with expenditure in the prior yvear. The overall spendms
dropped to $122 4 pullion in 2024 ($124.3 million n 2023) mesthy due to the net effect of an 38
million decrease m travel-related costs following the govermment of Azsrbaijan’s coveraze of
hotel accommodations for Conference of Parties attendees in Baku and cross cuthng measures
taken by management of UNFCCC that reduced staff travel. The reduchon i travel-related
expenses was offset by a $6.5 million increase in personnel expenditres, which reached $69.3
milhon (5628 million m 2023}, as a result of the filling of long-standing empty positions,
including the Deputy Executive Secretary role dunng the year. Furthermore, contractual semace
costs, equipment depreciation, and mtangible asset amortization were all m hne with the previouws

year.

Operating resulis

9. In 2024, there was an excess of revenue over expendiure of $8.08 mulhon (compared to
a deficit of $3.6 mulheon m 2023). The total surplus 15 mamky doven by an merease in everme of
£19.2 million, while total expenditure remaimed relatively consistent with levels in the prior year.
The Trust Fund for participstion in the UNFCCC process, the Trust Fund for Supplementary
Artrities, and the Trust Fund for UNFOCC employes habiliies had surplus balanees durmg the
year, while the Trust Fund for the Clean Development Mechamzm, the Tmst Fund for the Core
Budzet of UNFCCC, the Trust Fund for the International Transaction Log, the Trust Fund for
the Special Anmal Conmbuhon from the Government of Germany, the Special Account for
Conferences and Other Recoverable Costs and the Special Accowunt for UNFCCC Programme
Support Costs and Cost Becovery had deficits dunng the year.

Aszets

10. Total assets as at 31 December 2024 increzsed by $6.2 mulbion to $280.1 million compared
to total assets as at 31 December 2023 of $273.9 mulhon. The major components of UNFCCC s
assets are as follows:

Table 1
Summary of azsets as at 31 December 2024
(Thousands of United States dollars)

2024 2023
Cash and cash equivalents 26 2567 71l
Investments 115 501 01 202
Indicative contributions receivable 3458 & 630
Voluntary contributiens receivable 10 360 13 594
Orther receivables 1197 1 656
Orther current assets 13 131 17 621
Property, plant, and equipment 113 114

Intangible assets - 152
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2024 023
Total assets 280127 173 907

11.  The major assets as at 31 December 2024 are cash, cash equvalents and iwestments
totalling 5241 8 mmlhon representing 86.3 per cent of the total assets, voluntary conmbutions
receivable of 510 4 million representing 3.7 per cent, other current assets (primanly mterfiund
transfer and advances) of $23.2 million, representing 8.3 per cent, and outstanding indicative
confributions recervable from Parties of $3.5 million. representing 1.2 per cent of the total assets.
The remaming assets consist of other recervables of $1.2 mulhon, property and plant and
squipment of 301 mmlhon.

Caszh, cash eguivaleniz and invesimenis

12.  Cash and cash equvalents as well as mvestments of $241.8 million, are held in the TN
Treaswry main cash pool. The overall levels of these assets mereased by $10.8 mulhon compared
to 31 December 2023, Following the implementation of IPSAS 41 m 2023, far value adjustment
of 50.3 million ($0.7 million in 2023} has been recognised for investments.

Accouniz receivable

13,  Spmlar to 2023, there confinues to be mprovemsent m the payment of oufstandmgz
conmbutons to the UNFOOC Secretaniat by the Parties. In 2024, indicative contmbutons
recervable reduced by $5.2 million or 60.0 per cent conpared to amounts cutstandmg a5 at 31
December 2023, Sumlarly, voluntary contributions recetvable reduced by $3.3 mulbion or 24.3
per cent compared to amounts cutstanding as at 31 December 2023 This affinms stndes made by
the parties to ensure pavment of amounts due in additon to concerted effort by UNFCCC
Secretanat to follow up on outstanding contmbutions with the Parfies.

Other current asseis
14,  Oher cumrent assets amounted to 3 total of 5232 mulbon and mamly consisted of

prepayments of 112.1 million, interfind advances of $8.9 million and sducation grant advances
of $1.3 mullion.

Lighilities
15.  Liabilifies as at 31 December 2024, totalled $225 4 mulbion (5195.5 million as at 31
December 2023) and were as follows:
Table 2
Summary of labilities az at 31 December 2024
(Thousands of United States dollars)
1024 2023

Employee benefit liabilites 182 058 147 750
Accounts payable and accruals 5 T2 14 567
Advance receipis 12330 14 733
Oither liabilities B 756 2481

Total liabilities 118 355 195 531
Employee bengfir liabilities
16. Emplovee benefit halbfies accounts for 80.8 per cent of total habilines for UNFCCC.

As at 31 Dlecember 2024, the hakahity to fund employee end of-service benefits hability, afber-
service health meawrance, repatmation grant for quabifving staff members stood at $181.0 pulhon
with the remainder of £1.1 mullion being made up of home leave travel, tax remmbursement and
other employee benefit habilihes. The actusnal halibity was mdependently esimated by an
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actuanal firm The details of the calemlatons are contaimed in Mote 14, Whle this amount
represents the best esimate of the habality of UNFCCC, it remams subject to a degree of
uncertamnty, which 15 meported in the sensitivaty analymis. In recognition of this uncertamty, the
actuanal assumptions will be kept under review and the estmate of the liability will be updated
on an anmual basis. As at 31 December 2024, the employes benefit halility 1= fimded by cash
and mvestments of 5146 malhon. This represents a fimding raho of 8.2 per cent.

17.  The remaining liahilities relate to Accounts payable and acemals of $3.7 million, advance
recﬂpﬁuffﬁ_23maﬂmnanduﬂurcmeurhabﬂm of 5 5.8 mullion. Advance receipts mainly
comprnse of indicative contmbubions recerved mm advance of the start of the vear to whech thev
are relating to, vohintary contbution provided by donors that confam conditions requong the
retum of funds {if not spent m accordance with the terms of the agreement), and CDM fees
received In advance but not vet earned by UNFCCC. The balance represents the portion of the
conmbutons as at 31 December 2024 that have not been recogmized as revenue as they are not
vet earned by UNFCCOC by performmmg the services coversd by the respective agreements.

Net asseis

18,  Asat 3] December 2024, after an allowance had been made for all known habilities, the
net assets held by UMPCCC stood at $61.3 million. The net assets include accunmlated surplus
of 316.] million, and programme and staff related reserves of $49.5 million. These reserves are
offset by an actuarial loss pertaining to the valuation of employes benefits at vear-end of 34.1
pulhon and a far value reserve loss on financial instroments held at far valoe through net assats
of 503 millien

Comparison of budgets to actual amounts

19.  The Conference of the Parties (COF) approved a Core expendiiure budget, assessed
Euro for 2024-25 bienmium amounting to €74.6 milhon. The 2024 - 2025 approved brenmium
budget for the International transaction log amounted to €3.3 mllhion.

M. Actuzal expenditure was m hne with approved core budpet for the vear. Actual
expenditre on the budget basis of €36.1 milhon for the year ended 31 December 2024 under the

core budget, represented 96.3 per cent of the approved core budzet. Expenditure trends m 2024
are consistent with the approved budget.

21.  The overall expendihme rate under the Trust Fund for the International Transachon Loz
(ITL} was 80.2 per cent for the vear 2024 This is due to a decreass n operational activities and
the prior penod restuctunng of the secretanat.

12, The core budget, a= well a= the budget for the mternational transachon log contmmes to
be prepared on a2 modified cash basis in accordance with the TN Fmancial Regulations. The
overall budzetary results of the 2024-vear financial peried are summanzed mm Statement V-A to
V-B. The differences between the net results on the IPSAS (full acomual) basiz and those
accordance with the adopted budget are explamed mm the respectrve note to the financial
statements.

Managing financial risk and uncertainties

23 The secretanat’s main mmcome sources are the mdicative conmbuhons from Parties,
volmtary contmbutions from donors as well as fee-based mmeome from the mechanisms supported
by the secretanat, mamly the Clean Development Mechanism (CDM).

M4 Indicatrve contmbutions have been steadily received in past years, and the secretanat has
actrvely followed up on outstandmyz amounts to mamtam a kpgh collecton rate. However,
looking ahead to 2025, there 15 mereased uncerfamty around the level of conmbutions,
parficularly m hght of geopolibical developments, meliding the recent wathdrawal of the United
States from the Pans Agreement While this presents a potential nzk to the overall level of
indiczhve contribubions, the secretanat 1= closely monitering the simaton and engagmg wath
Parties to encourage contimned financial support. Expenditure under the core budget continnes
to be stictly controlled wathin appropriations approved at the entity level m lne with the

L]
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finanrial regulztons, and 1=k mutzation mezsures inelude pricntzaton of essential actvibes,
flezible resource planming, and contmuous engagement with key donors.

25, Whle flurtiating over time, volmtary contnbutions have been recerved at mmfficient
levels to cover the budzeted requurernents for supplementary activities in line with the mandates
miven by the different bodies of the Conference of the Parfies. Spmilar to the core budget
expenditre 15 lnmited to fimding received, and budgzets are developed and implenented to ensure
full cost recovery, takmg info conmderation all dwect and mdwect costs.

26.  The Conference of the Parfies serving as the meeting of the Parfies to the Eyoto Protocol
(CIIP) decided at COP 26 to support the development of new mechanisms wnder Article 6 of the
Pans Agreement The secretanat 15 foresesn as the supporting entity to the new mechamizm
(smmlar to the CDM process). While the respective budgets to support the CDA mechamism
have been adjusted to the necessary resource levels m bienmiuwm 2024-2025 to reflect the
transition to Articls 6, sufficient reserves in the CDM tast fund are available to cover the peeds
for the remaming service penod and the CMP has allocated sigmaficant resowces to the
development of the mew mecham=ms wnder Article 6. This 15 consistent with the reduction
CDM revenue during the vear.

27, In 2017, the Secretaniat introduced a surcharge on the salary costs to set aside fimds to
cover the respective habihifies under pon-core activities following the TN secretanat approach.
Under the core budget, these Labilines are cwrently unfimded and covered under a pay-as-you-
zo arangement financed from the omrent core budget. The secretariat cophrmes to monrtor the
level of the haluliies and 15 considering additonal financing measures to manage the habalites.

28.  The secretanat manages strategic, financial operational and program delvery rizks at the
level of nsk owners where ncks are escalated to the Management Team. The Orgam=azhonal
Development and Orversight Umit acts as the second hne of defence and 15 respomsible for
ensurng a sound framework for Enterprize Fask Management and related ni<k identification
assessmient, and reporting.

29, Eev n=k factors for the secretanat melude: (1) unpredictable or msufficient financial
resources to finance all relevant mandates meludimg supplementary actrvities, TEF and activities
of the subsidiary body from parties ; () unclear or meoherent appreach to the development of
the secretariat a5 an orgamration in support of the mplementaton of the Pans Agreement; and
{1} geopolitical situation and'or energy and economic crisis Impmging on parfies’ conmitment
to wrgenthy combating climate chanpe.

30. Mhhpation achon fo address key nsk factors mchde strenpthemmg the positionme and
relevance of the secretamat twough outreach, active engagement m lugh-level mestings and
mproving the orgamzation’s approach to stateme planming and Enterpnise Fisk Management
(EEN). In additton, the secretariat seeks to broaden 1ts resource base for supplementary project
to non-state actors, general outreach of party and non-party stakeholders to asast with funding
of critical mandates grven UNFCOCOC s funding sitwation and risks, ERM, focus by management
to reducing costs by management as well as conscientions efforts to cluster mestings to reduce
travel costs.

Strategic plan and ohjectives

31.  The secretariat provides the foundation for global cooperstion to address climate change.
It 15 an authonitative, recogmzed UN body that empowers all actors to achieve the objective of
the Convention. In dommg o, 1t puts the well-being of humanity and sustainable development at
the cenfre of climate achon m pursumg the full mmplementahon of the Convention, the Eyoto
Protocol and the Pans Agreement To this end, the secretanat facilitates infergovermmental
negofiations, provides technical and legal expertize. and supports the mplementation of climate-
related commitments through capacity-buildmy, data menagement, and cutreach activibes. It
also serves as a b for collaboration among Parties, observer orgamzations, and non-state actors,
ensunng that diverse perspectives contibute to zlobal climate sclubions. By maimtaimmz
instrutional memory and operational contmurty, the secretanat pl.t_'; a vital role mn advancmz
transparency, acoountabihity, and ambihon under the UM climate regime.
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32.  The secretaniat m 1ts 2024-2025 budget proposals presented the budgetary requrements
along orgamzaton-wide strategzic objectves and prionties, provided a comprehensrve reference
for all stakeholders. The budzet was developed from the ground up through a comprehensive
and participatory secretariat-wide effort All budget proposzals underwent a ngorous mmltsten
peear review and proposals put forward by the divisions were consolidated and carefully reviewed
from a secretaniat-wide perspectrve for coberence. Adjustments were made to ensure that the
proposed budget best responds to the pricnities specified by Parties.

33. Dunng the budget process, each division assessed opportumaties for any firther inmovation
and efficiency gains m terms of supportng the mtergovernmental process but also mtemal

34, In 2024-2025 budget period, the secretariat’s work continued fo be muded by the
following overarching objectives:

(a) Fambfate mterpovernmental engagement on respondmg to the threat of chmate
change by providing effective organizational. process, technical and substantive support for:

L Onzomz intergovernmentzl oversight of established processes and negotation of
revised or enhanced processes, as appropnate (Interpovernmental engagement).

1. Orperating established processes ansmgz from the demsions of the COP, the CAP
and the ChiA (intergovernmental processes).

(b} Enable the consttuted bodies to fulfil therr mandates, mehdmg by providms
effective orgamzational, process, techmeal and substantive support (constituted bodies).

(¢) Manage a trusted repository of data and mformation m support of climate action
and ephanced accountability of Parties and non-Party stakeholders {(data and information
manzFement).

{d) Facilitate greater engzgement in the TTNFCCC process in order to promoete action
towards the achievement of the objectives and goals of the Comrention, the Kyoto Protocol and
the Fans Agresment (enhanced engagement).

(8) Overses and manage the secretanat’s operafons effectively and efficiently and
foster iInnovation (oversight and management).

Programme delivery highlight=

35. Dunng the reporting period, the secretanat coganized SB 60 and COP 29, both of wiuch
took place 1 person with a robust virtual component. These sessions mnereased m complexity
and scope compared with previous sessions. It also orgamzed around 142 workshops, capacity-
building sezzions, and mestmzs m and outside Bomn

36, Work under all constituted bodies, processes, and work programmes supported by the
secretanat progressed in line with the respective mandates and weork plans The secretanat
confimed to support the interpovernmental process m relation to mitpation, adaptation, means
of mmplementaton, and tansparency, as well as other cross-cuting areas such as the Global
Stock take, st transition. and gender. Some of the highhghts are melided in the following
paragraphs.

37. The secretanat facilitated intergovenmental engagement on cross-cuthng arezs such as the
followr-up on the owtcomes of the first global stockizke of the implementation of the Pans
Agreement and the Just Transition work programms.

38, On oungation key areas the secretanat facilitated m 2024 include the Shamm el-Sheikh
mrhaton ambrbon and implementaion work programme, Arficla 6 of the Pans Agreement and
the mmpact of the mplementaton of response measwres. Facilitation for key areas related to
adaptztion and loss and damagze mcludes supportmg the process of the operatonabization of the
Fund for responding to Loss and Damage and the Santiago Network, global goal on adaptation,
formulaton and mmplementation of the Mational Adsptation Plans (NAPs), the Nawob Work
Programme (WWT), the Warsaw Infermational Mecham=m for loss and damage (WINM) and
manzgement of the adaptation-related data and information.

1]



FCCC/SBI1/2025/INF.10

United Mations Framework Comention on Clima Chonge Firomcisl stxtomens

39, Imrelation to the means of mplementation of the Pans Apreement, the secretanat facmbitated
Parties’ engagement m areas meluding the new collective quantfied goal on chimate fimance and
other climate finance 155ues, the technology mplementation programme, and related to the Pans
Commuttes on Capacity-Bulding. While a senes of substantial and technical support have been
provided on the former Measunng Reportng Venfication (MEV) anangements and the current
Enhanced Transparency Framework (ETF), mecludmng by providmg technical assistance to
developing countries and traming to experts engaged m the reporting, review and amalyais
processes, espectally in preparation and submmssion of their first Bienmal Transparency Reports,
1z the secretanat also confmued to facilitate the operatonabization of the ETF and work on
meathodolomical 1s5ues, nclodmg in relabon to GHG wventones, REDDH, agnculture, land use,
land-use change and forestry, Intergovermmental Panel on Chimate Change (IPCC) gdelines

and common metrics.

40. Fuwthermore, the secretamat also facibtated interpovernmentzl engagement on and
implementation of established processes relating to gender, Action for Climate Empowsrment
(ACE), youth engagement, cbserver engagement and global climate achon, mcluding by
prepanng reports and events under the gender action plan, orgamzing the ACE Thalogue, and
supporting the Presidency and relevant observer constituencies n organizing Gender Day and
children and vouth and ACE elements of the Human Development Day at COP 29
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Chapter V
Financial statements for the vear ended 31 December 2024

United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change

L Statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024

(Thozsends of United States dellars)
Reference 31 December 2024 3] December 2023

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents HNote § 25 267 23 711

Short-term Investments HMote 7 157 780 153 266

Indicative contributions receivable HNote & 3458 & 650

Voluntary contributions receivable HNote § 3004 11259

Other receivables HMote § 1187 1 656

Other current assets HNote 9 2131231 17 621
Total corrent assets 115037 114 163

Nom-current assets

Voluntary contributions receivable HNote § 7266 1435

Long-term investments HMote 7 57711 47 B43

Property. plant and equipment Wate 10 113 114

Intangible assets MNaote 11 - 152
Total non-current assets 65 090 49 744
Total assets 180 127 173 007

Liabilities

Current labilities

Accounts payables and accmals Hote 12 5 702 14 587

Advance receipts Wote 13 11339 14 733

Employee bensfits Note 14 2086 3055

Other current liahilities Naote 15 B 756 g 481
Total current labilities 19 782 50 826

Non-current liabilities

Employee bensfits MNote 14 179072 144 693
Total non-current liabilities 1T @72 144 695
Total liabilities 118 855 185 531
Net of total assets and total liabilities 61 272 T8 376

Net assets

Accumulated surphises Nome 19 15 024 8011

Fesarves Note 19 45 189 70 365
Total met assets 61 272 T8 376

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change

II. Statement of financial performance for the vear ended 31 December 2024

(Thoesands of United States dollar)

Reference 2024 2023

EEVENTE HNote 17
Indicative contributions 40 300 3z p42
Velmtary contributions 74 513 55245
CDM and IT service fess 3414 13 857
Interest revenue 11 474 0 g04
Other'miscellaneons reveme 142 3 850
TOTAL REVENTE 130 464 115 688

EXFENSES Note 18
Personnsl expenditare §9 343 G2 810
Trawvel 13 832 11872
Contractual services 30 587 30527
Operating expenses 3834 1731
(Oither expenses 3 665 1719
Depreciation of property, plant and egquipment 101 od
Amortization of intangible assets 152 171
FRemum transfer of donor/'CDM Trust Fund Transfer 412 448
Laosses oo foreign exchanze and mvestments 434 10245
TOTAL EXPENSES 121 380 114 311
SURFLUS/DEFICIT) FOR THE FERIOD B 083 {3 623)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of thess financial statements.

o
F
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United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change

IIL. Statement of changes in net assets for the vear ended 31 December 2014
(Thomsends of United Stdes dollar)

Accumuilated

Reference Surpius Rererves

Opening balance as at 01 Jannary 2023 16 757 TT5M 84191
Surphus{deficit) for the period (B 423) (B 6123)
Actuarial gains/(losses) on employee benefits liabilities  Note 14 - (9 102) (9101
Adjustment to operating ressrve amounts against (123) 123 )
accunmlated surphis = =
Fair value gains/(losses) on invesments beld at Fair 1810 13810
value through net assets/equity

Opening balance as at 01 January 2024 5ol 70 365 T8 376
Surphus/{deficit) for the period 2 083 B 083
Actuarial gains/(losses) oo employee benefits liabilities  Note 14 - (25 615) (25 615)
Adjustment to operating reserve amounts against (1 1 )
accunmlated surplas )
Fair value gains/(losses) on iovestments held at Faor - -
value through net assefs/equity Fore 7 413 418

Balance as af 31 December 2024 16 034 45 189 61 272

The accompanying notes form an integral part of thess financial statements.
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IV, Statement of cash flows for the yvear ended 31 December 2024
{Thousands of United States dollam)

Reference 31 December 2024

31 December 2023

Cash flows from operating activities

Surphas/(deficit) for the year B 0B3 (B 623)

Non-cash movemenss

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment Note 10 101 ]

Amortization of mtangible assets Naote 11 152 171
Hvzt_slrplns.'(surpl'n:] before changes in working 1811 (8 356)
capital

{Increase)/decrease in indicative contributions receivahble Note 8 5192 1774

{Increase)/decrease in volunfary contributions receivable Note 8 3334 (1 963)

{Increase)/decrease in other receivables Note 8 1459 (433)

(Increase)/decrease in other curment assets Mol (5 6100 (12 044)

Increase/[{decrease) in accounts payables and accroals Note 12 (B 865) 6742

Increase/[decrease) in advance receipts Note 13 1393 {3 034)

ID:I?HEE (decre ase) in employee bensfit net of actuarial o 14 g 503 7733

gams/{losses)

Increase in other current liabilities Note 15 275 G 603
Het_ :_a_sll flaw generated from.{msed in) operating 10 420 (3 980)
activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Het proceeds from (purchase)/sale of investments Note 7 (13 864 176
Net cash flow (nsed in)'generated from imvesting -
activitias (13 864) 176
Net cash flow generated from/ {used in) financing . _
activities
Net increase/{decrease) in cash and cash equivalent (3 444) {3 804)
(.:ash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the 0 711 11515
year
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year Note 6 16 167 3711

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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V.A. Statement of comparizon of the core budget and actual amounts for the year ended 31
December 2024

Original and Original and
2024 final Budget Actual Difference final Bud get Actual Difference
(EUR) (EUR) (EUR) (UsD) {UsD) (USD)
oo RLLTN "o 00 000 "onn”
Executive 12468 1113 133 2517 2238 10
Programmes Coordnation 355 355 - 304 385 o
Adapiation 3819 3246 an 4230 4158 81
Mirigation 1193 2131 G4 2437 2 3046 131
Means of Implementation 3429 2870 T30 4028 3122 206
Transparency 7582 B 555 (873) 8415 Q238 (823)
Operation Coordination 7B TO4 5] 876 762 114
Secretariat-wide costs 1724 2080 (286) 1991 2204 (213)
ASHRICT 1228 2123 105 2472 2297 175
Conference Affairs 1524 1383 143 1494 1498 108
Legal Affairs 1455 1172 183 1 415 1241 334
Intergovernmental Support and Collective - = - - -

Progress 1478 2403 74 2751 2598 153
Communications and Engagement 1415 1951 454 2 680 2112 566
IPCC 245 143 - 171 265 7
Sub total nm 31 842 LR 36 281 34 492 18387
Programme support Costs 4252 4102 a0 4730 2471 158
Adjustment to working capifal reserve 487 - 487 41 - 541
Grand total 3T 528 36 144 1334 41 652 38 963 2 637

Contribution from the Hest Govermment 167 T67 B51 B51

Income from Indicative Contributions 36 761 34055 40 200 37797

Net result (bndgetary) (1312) (315)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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V. B. Statement of comparizon of the International Tranzaction Log budget and actual for the

vear ended 31 December 2024,
{Thousands of United States dollars)

Original and Criginal and
2024 Final Budpset  Actual Difference  Final Budget Acual — Difference
(EUR) (EUR) (EUR} {USD) (USD) [UsSD)
000 "0 000 "D ey 00"
Staff costs G4 306 ! 671 545 16
Consultants a7 - a7 £l - in
Travel of staff 12 4 18 15 4 b |
Experts and expert groups - - - - - -
Training g 3 & 10 3 7
(General operating expenses 753 330 123 236 571 163
Contributions to COMMoD s&Ivices 64 57 7 7 i1 10
Sub total 1478 1180 159 1642 1284 is9
Programme support costs (overheads) 182 154 EF 13 154 40
Agdjustment to working capifal reserve {12) [22) - {25) (2%) -
Grand tfotal 1648 1312 T 1831 1423 408
Income from indicative contributions -
Net result (budgetary) (1311) (1411

* Further information is confained in notes 21 and 22.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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MNotes to the financial statements

Mote 1
Reporting entity

1. The permanent secretariat of the United Matons Framework Convention on Chmate
Change (TMNFCCC) was established m Tanuary 1996 for the following puposes:

(a)  Toamange for sesmons of the Conference of the Parties and its subsidiary bodies
sstablizhed under the Convention, the Kvoto Protocol and the Paris Apresment and to provide
them with seraces as requured.

b} To compile and transmit reports submatted to 1t

(c) To facihtate assistance to Paries particularly developmg countrv Parties on
request m the compilation and commumnication of mformation required m accordance with the
provisions of the Comention, the Evoto Protocol and the Pans Apreament.

{(d}  To prepare reports on its activities and present them to the Conference of the

{8} To ensure the pecessary coordimation with the secretanats of other relevant

(fi  Teo enter, under the overall gmdance of the Conference of the Parties, mto such
admmistratrve and contractual arrangements a5 may be required for the effective discharpe of 1ts
funchons.

(g}  Teo perform other secretariat funchons specified in the Convention and m any of
it protocols; and

(B}  Toundertake anv other functions a5 mav be determined by the Conference of the
Parhes.

2 UMNFCCC 15 governed by the following constitwent bodies:

(a) The Conference of the Parties (OOF) 1= the supreme decision-making body of
the Convention All States that are Parties to the Comvention are represented at the COP, at whach
they review the mmplementztion of the Convention and any other legal mstrments that the COP
adopts and take decizions necessary to promote the effectrve mplementation of the Comrention,
including mettutional and adnuimstrative amangements.

(b} The Conference of the Parties serving a: the meeting of the Partes to the
Eyoto Protocel (CAIF): All States that ave Parties to the Eyoto Protocol are represented at the
CMP, while States that are not Parhes participate as cbservers. The CMP reviews the
mmplementation of the Ewvoto Profocol and tskes decisions to promote 1tz effechve
implementation

(c) The Subszsidiary Body for Implementation (SBI) 15 one of two permanent
subsidiary bodies to the Convention established by the COP/CMP. It supports the work of the
COP and the CMP through the assessment and review of the effective implementation of the
Convention and 1tz Kvoto Protocol. A parficularly pmportant task m this respect 15 to exanume
the mformation n the national commmmcations and emission imventones submatted by Parties
in order to assess the Convention's overall effectivensss. The SBI reviews the financial
assistance ziven to non-Annex [ Parties to help them implement their Comvention conmmitments
and pronndes advice to the COP on pudance to the financial mechamsm (operated by the Global
Environment Facility - GEF). The SEI also advises the O0OPF on budgetary and adwimistrative
muathers.

(d) The Conference of the Parhies, the supreme body of the Convention, shall serve
as the meeting of the Parties to the Pariz Agreement (CANLA). All States that are Parties to the

L]
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Pans Agreement are represented at the Conference of the Parhies serving as the meeting of the
Parties to the Pans Agreement (ChA), while States that are not Parties participate as observers.
The CMA oversees the mnplementzhon of the Pans Agreement and takes decisions to promote
1tz effactive mplementation.

(e} The Bureau of the COP and CAMP supports the COP, CMP and the ChA
through the provision of advice and pmdance regardmg the on-going work under the Convention
and 1ts Eyoto Protocol, the orgamzation of thew sessions and the operation of the secretanat,
especially at times when the COP and the CMP are not n session. The Bureau 15 elected from
representzirves of Parfies nommated by each of the five United Mations repiomal proups and
smzll 1sland developmgz States. The Bureau 15 mainly responsible for questions of process
manzgement. It assists the President in the performance of his or her dutes by providmg advace
and by belpmgz with various tasks (e.g., members undertake consultations on behalf of the
President). The Burean 1s responsible for examiming the credentials of Parties, reviewing the hist
of mtergovernmental and non-governmental orgamratons, seeking accreditation and submitting
a report thereon to the Conference.

£ In addifion to these princpal bodies, a mumber of constituted bodies such as the
Clean Development Mechamsm (CDM) Executive Board operate under the authonty and
gudance of the COP, CMP, or CMA, and are supported by the secretaniat m the fulfilment of
thewr mandates.

3. UNFCCC 1z finanesd by mdicative conmbutons pand by Parties to the Convention, fees
dertved from services provided by the orgamzation and volunfary contributions from Parties to
the Comvention and the Eyoto Protocol and other donors, and mterest from imrestoeents.

4. The Orgamzation emjoys privileges and mmrmmities as granted under the 1947 Convention
on Povileges and mmunities of the Umited Mations and the 1996 Headquarters agreement with
the Federal Government of Germany, notably being exempt from most forms of direct and

MNote 2

Basis of preparation

5. The finzmmal statements of the UNFCCC have been prepared on the acorual basis of
accounfing in accordsnce with the Intemnationzl Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS),
usmg the stone cost convenfion except for wvestoeents held m the cash pool recorded at far
value through net asset. The financial statements cover the penod frony 1 Jamary to 31 Decermnber
2024 The financal statements comply with IPSAS as 1:sued by the Infernational Publie Sector
Accounting Standards Board (IPSASE). Where IPSAS does not address a particular issue, the
approprizte International Fimancial Reporting Standard is adopted. The accounting polictes have
bean applied conmistently in the preparation and presentation of these financial statements.

& These financial statements are prepared on the bazis that UNFCOCOC will contimue m
operation and meet 1ts mandate for at leasta 12-month penod after the financial statements have
been approved The gomg concemn basis 15 based on the approval by the Conference of Parties
of the programme budget appropnations for the bienniwm 2024-2025, the historical trend of
collection of mdicative and vohintary contmbutons over the past vears and that the Conference
of Parties has not made any decision to cease the operations of UNFCCC,

7. Matenahty 1= central to the preparztion and presentation of the Organization’s finaneial
statements and 1ts materiahity framework provides a systematic methed iIn puiding accountimz
decisions relating to presentation, disclosure, aggrepation, offsetting and refrospective versus
prospective applicabon of changes m accounting policies. In gepeszl, an tem 15 consdered
matenial 1f its omassion or its aggregation would have an impact on the conclusions or decisions
of the users of the financmal statements.

g Prepaning financial statements m accordance with IPSAS rmequues use of estumates,
Judgments and assumptions m the selechon and application of accounting policies and in the
reported amounts of certain assets, habilities, revenmes and expenses.

6l
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9. Apcounting estimates and underlying assumphons are reviewed on an ongomg basis and
revizions to estmates are recogmized mn the vear in which the estmates are revized and m amy
futwre year affected Sizmficant estimates and assumptions that may result in material
ad_]ushmnts m future vears melude actuanial measwrement of emploves benefits; selection of
useful lves and the depreciaton’amortization methods for propery, plant and
asqupment'intangible assets; mpanment of assets; clasmfication of financial mstroments; far
value measurements; and mflation and discount rates nsed m the caleulation of the present value
for emplovee habalihes.

Change: in accounting policies and disclosures

New standards, amendments and imterpretation issued but not yer gffective and not early
adopied by the organization

10. IPSAS 3: Accounting policies, changes m accounfing estimates and emrors requires
disclozure of pew IFSAS standards that have been 15ued but not vet effectrve. The following
standards have been 1ssued by the IPSAS Board UUNFCCC 15 mn the process of assessmg the
impact of these new standards on 1ts financial statersents.

TablaIV.1
IPSAS standards issued but not yet effective

Strndard Anticipated impact in the year of adoption

IPSAS 43: Leases, replaced IPSAS 13: Leases aliening puidanc e with International
Fmmancial Reparting Standard (IFR.S) 16. The newly issued standard introduces new
coofract and leases definitions and prescribes a right-of-use recognition and measurement
made] for all leases apant from these mesting short-term and low-value exzmption

IPSAS 43 categories. IPSAS 43 also provides additional goidance on the application of the risks and
rewards model for lessor accounting. Adoption of the standard is mandatery for UNFCCC
for the year ending 31 December 2023, The broadened leases definition is estimated to
result in the recognition of more binding arrangements as leases, with a commesponding
increase m lease liabilities and right-of-use assets.

IPSAS 44 Noo-cumemt assets held for sale and discontinned operatons, promulgates
accounting for assets held for zale and the presenfation and disclosure requirements of
discomtimied operations. in aliznment with Iofernational Financial Feporting Standard 3.

IPSAS 24 Adeption of the standard is mandatory for the UNFCCC financial year ending 31 December
2015, This standard is not expected to have a material impact on the organization in the curent
of fumure reporting periods and on foreseeable furure ransactions.

IPSAS 45: Property, plant, and equipment replaces IPSAS 17: Property, plant and equipment
(PP&E). [PSAS 45 removes the scope exclusion for hertage PP&E, provides application and
implementation gudance on infrastruchure assets and captores PREE-related measurement

IPSAS 45 impacts from IPSAS 46. The effective date of the standard is 30 June 2025. This standard is
not expected to bave a matenal impact on the erganization in the current or future reporting
perieds and on foresesable fohure transactions.

IPSAS 46 Measurement is the IPSASHs first measuwrement-dedicated standard which draws

upon IFES 13 Fair Value Measurement with the addition of public sector specific elements,

including the current operational valoe measurement basis. Adoption of the standard is
IPSAS 45 mandatery for UWFCCC financial year ending 30 June 2024

The adoption of IPSAS 4§ is not expecied to change the Organization™s accounting policy
choice applying the historical cest model to tangible and intangible assets.

IPSAS 47: Revenue replaces the three existing revenue standards:

(a) IPSAS 9: Fevemue from Exchange Transactions.

(B) IPSAS 11: Constmaction Confracts; and

(c) IPSAS 23: Revenue from Won-Exchange Transactions (Taxes and Transfers).

IPSAS 47 aligps to the IPSASBE"s Conceptnal Framework for General Purpose Financial
IPSAS 47 Feporting by Public Sector Entities (the Concepfual Framework) and presents two

accountng models based on the existence of a binding arrangement.

Where a binding arrangement exists, revenne accounting is alizoed with IFES 13: Revenus
from Contracts with Customers. Otherwise, the accounting model is consistent with the core
principles of IFSAS 23
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Standard Anricipated impact in the year of adoption

Adoptien of the standard is mandatory for the financial reperting for the year ending 31
December 2024. The impact of IPSAS 47 will be assessed prior to the | Jamuwary 2024
efective date of the Standard

IPSAS 4B: Transfer Expenses provides guidance on accounting for transfer expenses. The
tramsfer expense model aligns with the Conceptual Framework and presents twe accounting
models based on the existence of a binding armangement.

Adoptien of the standard is mandatery for the UNFCCC financial year ending 31 December
1025. The impact of IPSAS 48 will be assessed prior to its effective date.

IPSAS 48

IPSAS 49: Fetirement Benefit Plans aligns to International Accounting Standards ("TAS™)
24: Accounting and Reparting by Fetitement Bensfit Plans and prescribes the accounting
and reporting requirements for public sector retirement benefit plans, which primarily
provide benefits to retired public secter employees. A refirement benefit plan that prepares
and presents financial statements under the accrual basis of accounting shall apply IFSAS

IDSAS 42 49, The Standard does not deal with other forms of employment benefits such as employment
termination bensfit or health and welfare plans.

Adoption of the standard is mandatory for the UNFCCC financial year ending 31 December
2024. The detailed impact of IPSAS 49 will be assessed prios to the | JTamuary 2024 efective
date of the Standard.

IPSAS 30 provides guidance related to the costs incwrred for exploration for, and evaluation of,

mineral resources (for example, minerals, oil. natural gas and similar non-regenerative

resources), as well as the costs of determining the technical feasibility and commercial viability
IPSAS 50 of extracting the minaral resources.

Adoption of the standard is mandatory for the UNFCCC financial year ending 31 December
2027. The impact of IPSAS 50 will be assessad poor fo its effective date.

Note 3

Summary of significant accounting policies

11.  The pnneopal aceountng policies apphied m the preparation of these financial statements
are sat out below.

Functional and presentation currency

12, The Unted States dollar 15 the fimctional cwrency of UNFCCC and 15 the cwrency of
these financizl statements. The amounts mn the financial statements, schedules and notes are
rounded to the nearest thowsand Umted States dollars, unless otherwise stated. Transactions,
including non-monetary items, in currencies other than dellars are translated into dollars at the
Umited Nations operational rate of exchange on the date of the transaction. Foreign exchange
zains and losses resulting from the setilement of such ransactions and umrealized exchange
differences (zams and losses) from the translation at period end are recogmzed m the statement
of financzl performance and as cwrrent 1n the statement of financial position.

13, The Core budgzet and the budgzet for the Internztional Transacton Log are approved and
assessed m Fures. The continpeney budzet for conference services of UNFCOCC 15 approved by
the COP. However, funds are not accessed unless requured. Information on the Statements of
Budget to Actual Compansons for each budget are presented on both Eurcs and Umted States
dollars.

14, For statements V, Ewro amounts from the approved budgets for the onginal and final
budget are converted to United States dollars using the UNOERE as at 1 Jammary 2024 wiile the
Burc amowunts for the actuals are converted to Unnted States dollars using the average apphcable
maonthly TMNOEE rate at the time of the transachon.

Financial inztrument:

Financial aszet:

15, The classification of financial assets depends primanly on the purpose for whach the
financial assets are acguired. The Orgamzaton classifies its financial assets in one of the

63
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categonies shown subsequently at mmhal recognrbon and re-evaluates the classification at each
reporting date.

Table IV.2
Classification of financial assets

Clasziffcation Financial assets

Fair value through net assets / ) . .
equity (FVNAE) Investments in cash pools

- Cash and cash equivalents and receivables. Accnals from
Amortized cost (AC) investments are classified at amertized cost.

16. Al financial assets are mitially measwred at far value. The Organization mafially
recogmzes financial assets elassified as amortized cost on the date on which they enginated All
other finanmal assets are recopmized mitally on the trade date, which 15 the date on which the
Chrgamization becomes party to the confractual provisions of the mstnoment,

17. Fmancial assets with maturities in excess of 12 months at the reporting date are
categonized as non-current assefs in the finoneial statements. Assets denominated in foreign
cmrencies are franslated mio United States dollars at the United Mations operational rates of

exchange prevaling at the reporting date, with net zain= or losses recopmized m surplus or defiext
in the statement of financial performance.

18. Fmancial assets at fair value through surplus or deficit are those that have been designated
i this category at imfial recopmtion, ave beld for trading or are acqured prmerpally for the
purpose of selling in the short term. With the adoption of IPSAS 41, such financial assets have
been reclassified to fairvalue through net azset after an asseszment of thewr contractual cazh flows
charactenstics as well as the determination of the Orgamsation’s pxanagement model of such
financial assets, which 1s to both collect confractual cash flows and sell the financial assets. These
aszets are measured at fair value at each reporting date, and amy gaimns or losses ansmg from
changes m the fair value are presented in the statement of nat assets in the vear m whach they
anse. UNFCCC does not have any financial assets designated at fair value through swophos/deficit.

19.  Loans and receivables are non-denvatve financial assets with fixed or determuinable
pavments that are not quoted m an active market. They are mitally recorded at fair value, plus
transaction costs, and are "u]:rsvequenﬂvrqmrrad at amorized cost caleulated using the effective
interest method. Inferest revenue is recogmzed on a tme proportion basis using the effechve
interest rate method on the respective finaneial asset.

2.  Fmancial assets are assessed at each reporting date to determume whether there 15 objective
evidence of mmpaimment. Eividence of impanment meludes default or delmaguency of the
counterparty or permzanent reduction m the value of the asset. Impanment losses are recogrized
in the statement of financial performance in the year m which they anse.

21. Fmancial assets are derecogmzed when the nghts to recerve cash flows have expored or
have been transfemred and the Orgamzation has transfermed substantially all nsks and rewards of
the financial asset Finaneial assets and habilihes are offset, and the net amount 1= reported i the
statement of financial posiion when there 15 a legally enforceable nght to offset the recognized
amounts and there 15 an iInfention to seftle on a net basis or realize the asset and seitle the liabality
sinmltanecnsly.

TDmveztment in cash poals

22, UNFCCC participates in a cash poolng system where The United Natons Treasury
imvests fimds pooled from Secretaniat entibies and other parhicipating entihes. These pooled finds
are combined in two internally managed cash pools. Paricipation m the cash pool implies shanng
the risk and rehums on imvestments amongst participants. Given that the funds are conmmmsled
and mvested on a pool basis, each parficipant 15 exposed to the overall nsk of the investment
portfolio to the extent of the amount of cash mvested.

21 The Orgamizahon’s mvestments m the cash pools are included as part of cash and cash
squrvalents, short-term investments and long-term mmvestments m the staternent of finameial
position depending on the matunity penod of the investment.



FCCC/SBI1/2025/INF.10

TUzeted Mations Frarework Coevention on Climas Chonge Fizemcial stxtomgns

M The mvestment pools are subject to an Expected Credit Loss (ECL) for the reporting
peniod. The ECL on mvestments 15 calculated using a reference default rating by rating agencies.
Dhe to the conservative and nsk averse mvestment strategyv/model, the UN does not mmvest 1o
rizkw low-grade metuments. As a result, most of the mvestments carry a zevo-default ratng and
there has not been any history of non-collection m the past. Baszed on assessment by UNFCCC
at the end of the vear, the ECL on mmvestment and cash 15 not material.

Cazh and cash equivalents

25, Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand. and short-term, haighhy
lqmd investments with a matunty of three months or less from the date of acqusinon.

Receivables and non-exchange revenue

26,  Indicaftive contributions to the Core budget and to the Trust Fund for the Infernational
tram=action log from Parties to the Convenfion are recognized at the bagpinmimg of the vear to
whuch the assessment relates. The reverme amount 15 determaned based on the approved budgets
and the scale of assessment approved by the General Assembly as adopted by the Conference of
the Parties.

27, Volmtary commbutions are recogmsed upon the sizmng of a binding agreement with the
donor. Revenue 1= recognized mmmediately 1f no condrnon 1= attached If conditions are attached,
including a requirement that funds not whbized It accordance with the agresment mmst be
returned to the contnbubng entity, revenue 15 recogmsed only upon sabisfving the condions.
Untl such condiions are met a hability (deferved mevenue) 1= recogmised Volmtary
conmbutons such as pledges and other promised donations which are not supperted by bmdms
agreements are consldered confingent assets and are recogmsed as reverme when recerved and
disclosad in the Notes to the financial statements 1f receipt is considered probable.

28, Mulo-vear vohmtary condibonal contibufions due m futwe financial peneds are
recognized as receivables on the sipning of the agresrnent along wath 3 habibity (deferred revenue)
until the conditions are met.

19 (Goods inkind are recogmsed at their fair value, measured as of the date the donated assets
are recemved or acqured. Services mm kind are not recogmzed on the face of the finaneial
statements but instead the nature and tyvpe of services m-kind are dizelosed m the notes.

Other assets

30, (Other assets include education grant, advances and prepavments that are recorded as an
asset unhl goods are delivered or serices are rendered by the other party, at which point the
expense 15 recognized.

3l.  Recervables are mifially measured at faar value and subsequently at amortized cost less
allowances for expected credit losses. For receivables, the loss allowance 15 caleulated using
objective historical evidence of collections of the partfolio of recervables.

32.  Prepayments are not impamed as they do not qualify as financial assets.
Property, plant and equipment

33. UNFCCC recogmizes property, plant and equipment at their histoncal cost less
depreciation and mmparment losses m hine with IPSAS 17: Property, plant and equpment. For
any rteny of property, plant and equipment recerved as a contribution in kind, the far value at the
date of acquisition 15 deemed to be its cost, in line with TPSAS 23: Bevenue from non-exchange
transactions.

34.  UNFCC depreciates 1ts property, plant, and equipment on a stranght-lime basis over ther
estimated useful Life. Property, plant, and equipment are also subject to a systematic annual
review to confirm the remaimng wseful Life and to identify any mmpaimment.

35.  Indradual dems of property, plant and equpment are capitabized when their crigmal
acquisition value is equal to or meater than the threshold of $5,000 UNFCCC is deemed to
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confrol equipment of 1t can use or otherense benefit from the asset mm the pursmt of s objectives
and 1f UNFCCC can exclude or regulate the access of third parties to the asset.

36,  UNFCCC performs an anmal review of the wseful economic rves of matenal property,
plant, and equpment m line with the requirements of IFSAS 17, There were no extensions to
useful economic lves durng the year under review. The estmated unseful hife ranges and
capitalizzhon threshelds for the vanous classes of property, plant and equipment are as follows:

Table IV 3

The estimated useful life for equipment classes

Class of equipment Estimared wsgfl iife (tn years)
Computer equipment 5
Communication and audio equipment 5
Farnitare and fittings 10
Vehicles 6-7

10 (o1 lease term,

Leazehold improvements whichever iz chortar)

37.  Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for mmpanment at each reporting date if
matenal tzking inte considerafion wvarious impatrment indicators. Any mpairment loss 1s
recognized in other expenses within the statement of finaneial performance when the canrving
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable service amount.

Intangible azsets

38. UNFCCC's miangible assets compnse purchased software packapes and mmtermally
developed software. Intanzible assets are recozmized at cost less acoumulated amertizaton and
imparment losses m lme with IPSAS 311 Infangzible assets. Annmal software hcences are
expensed and admsted as neceszary for any element of prepavment.

39, Intenzible assets acqguired externally are capitalized if thew costs exceed the thresheold of
£5,000. Internally developed software 1= capitalized if its cost exceeded a threshold of $100,000
excluding research and maintenance costs and including directly atimbutable costs such as staff
assigned full time to a development projects, sub-contractors, and consultants.

40.  Amortizzfion 15 provided over the sstimated uzeful hifs of the mtangible asset using the
straight-line method

Table IV 4
The estimated useful lives for intangible aszet claszes

Class gf intangible astet Estimated usaful iife (in years)
Softerars acquired externally 3I-1a
Internally developed sofrware 3I-1a

L Set § vears or period of copyright.
Copyrights whichever is shorter

41, Impawment 15 assessed at ezch reporting date for all mtanzible assets based on indications
that an asset mav be pmpaired. and any mmpaiment losses are recogmzed m the Statement of
Financial Performance.

Leases

42, UNFCCC has reviewed the property and equipment that it leases, and in no instance does
it have a sipnificant portion of the nsks and rewards of ownership. Accordmgly, all leases are
recogmzed as operating leases.

41 Payments made under operating leases are charged to the statement of financial
performance on a straight-line basis over the penod of the lease. A provision is established to
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cover the cost of making good dilapidations on leasehold properties where required to do so
under the terms of the lease.

Payables, advance receipts, and aceruals

4. Accounts payable are financial habilites 1o respect of erther zoods or sermices that have
been acqured and recerved by UNFCCC and for which the imweices have been recenved from
the supplers. They ame mhalhrecugm&datﬁlrf.alueani when apphcable, subsequenthy
measired at amortized cost using the effective mberest method As the accounts pavable of
UNFCCC genemlly fall due within 12 months, the mmpact of discounting 15 immatenal and
nomunal vakhies are applied to izl recogmution and subsequent measurement.

45, Accmals are habilies for goods and services that have been recerved or provided to
UNFCCC dunng the yvear and have not been mvoiced by supphers as at the reporting date.

46. Advance receipts are prepavments from customers, pariies, or doners for subsequent
periods.
Emplovee benefits

47. UNFCCOC provides the following emploves benefits:

(2) Short-term employes benefits.
(k) Post-employment benefits.
(c) Other long-term employes benefits; and
{d) Temunation mdemmity.
Shert- term employes bengfits

48, Short-term employee benefits comprise salanes, and those elements of other emplovee
benefits (including home leave, assigrmment grant, education grant, tax repmbursements and rental
subsidy) payzble within one year of peniod end and measured at therr nomimal values. Short-term
emploves benefits are dus to be settled wathin 12 months after the end of the accounting period
in which emplovees render the related service.

Post-employment benefits

49.  The hability recogmized for post-emplovment benefits 15 the present value of the defined
benefit oblizations at the reporting date. An mdependant sctuary using the projected umit credit
method caleulates the defined benefit obligations. The present value of the defined benefit
oblization 15 deternuned by discountimg the eshmated fuhore cash outflows usmg interest rates
of lgh-grade corporate bonds with matwity dates approximatng those of the mdividual plans.
The porhion of the repatnahon benefit and zcoummlated armuzl leave benefit that 15 expectad to
be settled bv means of 2 monetary pavment within 12 month= after the reporting date 15 clasmified
as a cmrent hability.

50.  Emplovee benefits mmcluding payments to staff members on separation from service such
as repatnanon grant, acemed anmal leave, repatnation travel and removal on repatriation are
expensad on an zcemal basis.

51, Actuanal gains and losses related to post-employment benefits for afier service health
Insurance are recogmised in the period m whach thev ocour on the statement of changes m net
assefs as @ separate ihem In net assets/equity.

52, UNFCCC 15 a2 member orgamzaton participating m the Unated MNatons Joint Staff
Pension Fund (UMNISPF, the Fund), which was established by the Umited Nations General
Aszembly to provide retrement, death, dizability, and related benefits to employees. The Fund
1= a fimded, mmlt-emplover defined benefit plan. As specified by Article 3(b) of the Eegulations
of the Fund membership in the Fund chall be open to the specialized agencies and to any other

international, intergovernmental orgamzation which parficipates mm the comumon system of
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salanes, allowances, and other conditions of service of the United Nzhons and the specialized
agencies,

53.  The plan exposes paricipating organizations to actuanal nsks associated with the cwrent
and former emplovees of other orpanizations parficpating m the Fund, with the result that there
15 no consistent and reliable basis for allocating the obhgation, plan assets, and costs to mdrvidual
orgamizabons parteipatng i the Fund UNFCCC and the Fund in bne with the other
participating orgamzations m the Fund are not 1n a position to 1dentify UNFCCC = proportonate
share of the defined benefit obligation the plan assets and the costs associated wath the plan wath
suffictent reliabality for accounting purposes. Henee UNFCOCC has treated this plan as 1f 1t were
a defined conmbution plan mn hne with the requrements of IPSAS 39 Emploves Benefits.
UNFCCOC s conmbutons to the Fund durmg the financial period are recogmzed as expenses m
the Statement of Fmancial Performance

. UNFPCCC conmbuton to the plan duning the financial period are recogmused as an
expenss m the statement of Ananeal performance.

Other long-tevm emplovee bengfit=

55, (ther long-term emploves benefits comprize the non-cwvent porton of home leave
entitlements.

Termination imdemrity

56. Temunston mdemmity 1= recogmized as an expense only when UNFCCC 15 demonstrably
committed, without realishe posmbibity of withdrawal, to 3 forpaal detmled plan ather to
terminate the employment of a staff member before the normal refrement date or to provide
termunation benefits as a result of an offer made m order to encowrage voluntary redundancy.
Termunation benefits settled within 12 months are reported at the amount expected fo be pad.
Where terminztion benefits fall due more than 12 months after the reporing date, they are
discounted.

Provizion:

57. Provizsion 15 made for future habihities and charges where UUTNFCCC has a present legal
or constructive obligation 2= a result of past events and 15 probable that TNFCCC wall be requured
to seitle the obhigation, and the value can be rehably measured.

Contingent liabilities and contingent aszets

58. Contmgent liabilities where their existence will be confirmed by the ocourence or non-
ocowmrence of one or more uncertain fitture events that are not wholly within the control of
UNMFCCC or where the value cammot be reliably estimated are disclosed m the Notes to the
financial statements. Contingent habilines are assessed confimually to determume whether an
outflow of resources has become probable. If an outflow becomes probable, a provimon 1=
recognazed in the financial statemsents i the peried m wiach probability cccurs. A contmzent
asset 15 a possible asset that anses from past events and whose exastence will be confirmed only
by the ocomrence or non-ocomrence of one or more uncertain firhare events not wholly wathm
the control of the entty.

Exchange revenue

59, Revenue from the fess charped m connection with the Clean Development Mechanizm
(CDM) and the Joint Implementation Determunation () 15 recognized upen completion of the
underlving service for whech the fee has been charped A habality 1= establizhed covenng the
estimated amount of fees rermbwr=able to the applicant. Interest meome 15 recogmrzed on 2 Hme
proportion basis as it accrues, considening the effective yiald

60, Imvestment reverme meludes the (rgamzation’s shave of net cazh pool revenue and other
interest revenue. The net cash pool revenne meludes any gams and losses on the sale of
investments, which are calculated as the difference between the sale proceeds and book value.
Transachon costs that are directly atmbutable to the mveshment activities are netted against
revenue and the net revenue 15 distributed proporfionately to all cash pool participants on the
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basis of thewr average daily balances. The cash pool revenue also meludes wmrealized market
gans and losses on securthes, which are distnbuted proportionately to all participants on the
baszis of year-end balances.

Expenze:

6l. Expenses ar=ing fromm the purchase of goods and semices are recopmzed when the
services or goods have been recerved and accepted by UNFCCC, Sermace is considered recemved
on the date when the service 15 certified as rendered. For some semace contracts, this process
Ay OCCUr In stages.

Taxaton

62.  UNPCCC enjovs privileged tax exemption. and its assets, income and other property are
exempt from all direct taxaton. Accordmgly, no provision 1s made for any tax habihty.

Met assets'equity

63, ‘Met assets/equity’ 1s the standard term used m IPSAS to refer to the residual financial
pozition (assets less habihtes) at penod-end, compnzing conmbuted capital, accummlated
surplizes and deficits, and reserves. Met assets/equity may be postiive or negative.

64, In the absence of any capital contmbutions, UNFCOCC net assets comprise zccumulated
swrphis and reserves 2= detzled m Mote 19,

Segment reporting

65. A sepment 1= a distmgmshable actvaty or group of activites for wioch finaneial
information 1 reported separately mn order fo evaluate an entify’s past parformance m achieving
itz objectves and to make decisions about the fiuture allocatnon of resources.

66. UNFPCCC 15 a smgle purpose entity with a2 mandate to assist the signatones of the UN
Framework Convention on Climate Change to lmit average global tempershwe mereases and
the resulting chimate change, and to cope with whatever pmpacts are mevitzbls in part through
enforcmng the legally binding emmssion reducton targets established m the Eyoto Protocol. Iis
operations, therefore, conzist of 2 single sepment. However, to provide addrhonal information
for use to semor managensent and Parties to the Convention and Eyoto Protocol, supplemental
disclosures are prepared on a fimd accounting bams, showmg at the end of the penod the
consohidated position of all UNFCCC funds. A find 15 a self-balancmg accounting entity
established fo account for the transachons of a specified purpose or objectrve. Fund balances
represent the acewmmmlated residual of reverme and expenses.

&7 UNPCCC clasmifies all projects, operations, and actrvities into the following ten fimds
and special accounts:

{a) Trust Fund for the Core Budzet of UNFCCC financed from indicative contmbuhons
{or general-purpose contributions from donors).
(b}  Trust Fund for Supplementary Activites fnanced from velmtary contmbubions.

{c) Trust Fund for the Parbicipation m the UNFCCC Process financed from voluntary
contmbuhons.

{(d) Trust Fund for the Clean Development Mechamism financed from fees charged for
registration of projects and 1ssuance of cerificates.

(e) Trust Fund for the Infemational Transachons Log financed from mdicative
contmbutons {or general-purpose conmbutions from donoas).

(f)  Trust Fund for the Special Amnual Conmbution from the Government of Germuany
financed from a vohintary contibufion from the govermment m which the TNFCCC
headquarters 1= located.

(g) Specal Account for Programme Support Costs financed from charges made to the
actrvifies financed from imdicative and volimtzry contbutions s well as fee financed activihes.
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{h) Special Account for Conferences and (Mher Recoverasble Costs financed from
voluntary contmbutions; and

{1} Cost Recovery Fund financed from charges made to the actmities financed from
indicative and vohmmtzry conmbutons.

{j} End of Service and Post Employee Benefits find cwrently not fully fimded
68. Transactions ocowrng betwean funds are accounted for at cost.

69, UNFCCC reports on the transactons of each fimd dunng the finaneial period, and the
balances held at the end of the period.

Budget comparison

T0. UNFCCC's budzet 15 prepared on a modified cash basis as per the apphicable financial
regulations and rules whereas the financmal statements are prepared on 2 full accrual basis. Under
the modified cash basis, expenses are recogmzed on the obligahon prmeiple, 12 when the
orgamzation enters info a finaneial commmtment to obtam goods or services. Costs of equipment
acquisifion are expensed when the equipment has been delrvered On the other hand, the budget
expenses do not inchude costs related to changes in provizions for emploves benefits habilihas.

Tl. The budget 1= adopted on a biermial basis and presented in annual estmates i the
financial statemsents. Unexpended balances at the end of the first year of the bennimm are carmed
forward and added to the anmal budzet estimate for the second vear of the brennmm.

T2, Statements V-4 and V-B, companson of budget and actual amounts, compare the final
budget to actual amounts caleulated on the same basis as the comrespondimg approved budget.

Ti.  As the bams uzed to prepare the budzet and finanmal statements differ, Note 21 provides
a reconcihation between the actuzl amounts presented in statenvent V-A and V-B and the actual
amounts presented on the Statement of Finaneal Performance.

74, The COP approves the bienmial Core budget and the contingent budzet for Conference
Services. The CMP approves the budget for the Intermational Transacton Loz, Budzets may be
subsequently amended by the COP or CMP, as applicable, or through the exercise of delegated
authonty.

Note 4

Finamcial rizks

T3,  UNFCCC 15 exposed to a vanety of financial management nsks, mehdmg but not linited
to market nsk {curency nsk, prnice nsk and mterest rate n=k), credit nizk and hgwdity nsk.
UNMFCCC s approach to nisk management 15 performeed m conjunction with the United Nations
Office at Geneva (UNOGE).

T6. The Umted Matons Treasury (m Mew York) 15 responsible for mvestment and nsk
manzgement for the cash pools, meluding conduchng mvestment activities m accordance with

T1. The objecove of imvestment management 15 to preserve capital and ensure sufficient
hqmdity to meet operating cash requirements while attainims a competitive market rate of refurn
on each rvestment pool. Investment quality, safety and hgmdity are emphasized over the market
rate of rehom component of the objectives.

T8.  An mvestment commmttes that oversees the Umted Nations Treaswy penodically
evaluates mvestment performance, assesses comphance with the Guidelines, and makes
recommendations for updates thereto.

Currency rizk

T9. UNFCCC operates miernationally and 15 exposed to foreipn exchange nsk anaing from
Vanous currency exposures, primarily with respect to the Firo. UNFCCC recerves contbutions
from funding sources and chents n cwrencies other than the Unuted States Deollar and 15 therefore
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exposad to foreizn cwrency exchange 1=k ansang from fluctuations in awrency exchange rates.
UNFCCC also makes pavments in cirrencies other than the dollar. Foreign exchange nick anses
from operating revenue and expenses and recogmized assets and habulines.

80,  Management requires that the Crgamzation manage its cumreney nsk agamst its fanchonal
currency by stmeting contnbubions from its owner orgamzations and 1ts technical cooperation
project donors to comrespond to the foreign cnmeney needed for operastional proposes.

81, The table below shows the potential impact of monstary revaluation of major cwmrencies
as at the reporting date and the inerease or decrease m net assets and surplus by the amounts
shown

TableIV. 5
Currency rizk sensitivity analyss as at 31 December 2024
(Thousands of United States dollars)

EUR SEE GBP AED NOK FIN ERW CAD AUD PEN
= 10 per cent [3856) 001 893 701 535 270 (233) (201) (185) (133
- 10 per cent S§56 (902} (803) (01} (55%) (270 133 201 185 133

‘Abkreviatons: EUR, EUR. Ero; SER, Swedeh frona, GOF, Grea Brimio Pousd, AED, Usited Arab Exizates Liiacs, MOk,
Norwegian Emaa; LM, Poland Zloty; EEW, Korsan Woa; CAD, Canadizn Dollar; AUD, Amstralian Dollar;

PEN, Para Sal.
TableIV. 6
Currency rizk senszitivity analysds as at 31 December 1023
(Thousands of United States dollars)
EUR SEE A4AED GEPF NOE PIN (4D ERW AUD PEN
= 10 per cent 3870 (933) (737) (633) (824) (286) 208 134 164 135
- 10 per cent [(3879) 953 757 633 626 286 (208) (184 (189 (139

Abbreviations: EUR, Euro: SR, Swedish Fopma: AEL), United Amab Emirares Dirham, GBP Great Britan Pound; NOE
Norwsegian Emoma; LM, Poland Zloty; CAD, Canadizn Diollar; ERW, Eorsan Won: AUD, Anstralian Dellar;
FEX, Fara 5al.

82, The forepoing senstiviies are caleulated with reference to 2 smple moment in fome and
are subject to change owing to a mumber of factors, melding fluctuating trade receivable and
trade payable balances, and fluctuating cazh and ivestment balances.

83, As the semsitivihes are mited to period-end financial metument balances, they do not
take account of revemme and opersting costs, which are lughly sensifive to changes m exchange
rates and commeoedity prices. In addition, each of the sensitvities 15 caleulated m 1solation, while,
commodity prices, Interest rates and foreizn cwrencies do not move mdependently.

8. The following assumptons are made mn caleulating the sensitivaty: all income statement
sensitrvities also affect equity; and the sensitivity analy=mis disclosure relates to monstary items
{as defined by IPSAS 4: The effects of changes in foreign exchange rates) at year-end.

Price rizk

85.  The cash pools are ot exposed to sigmificant other price nsks because thev do not sell
short, borrow secumties, or purchase secunfies on margin, which himuts the potential loss of
capital

Interest rate rizk

86.  The orgamzation eams mterest revenne derved from surplus balances that ot maimtzims m
operational and non-operatiomal cash holdings throughout the vear. The mplementation of
UNFCCC s programme and budget 15 pot directly dependent on interest earmmgs.

87.  The cash pools comprnise the Organization s mam exposure to mberest rate nsk with fixed-
rate cash and cash equivalents and investments being mterest-bearing financial mstuments. As
at the reperting date, the cash pools had mwvested primanly in securities with shorter terms to
matwity, with the meomum being less than frve vears (2023 four vears). The average duration
of the mam pool on 31 December 2024 was 0.78 years (2023 .63 years), whuch 15 considered
to be an indieator of low n=k.
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88.  The analyzis below shows how the faw value of the cash pools as at the reporting date
would merease or decrease should the overall vield curve shuft in response to changes in interest
rates. Grven that the mvestments are accounted for at far value through net asset’equuty, the
change m fair value represents the increase or decrease in net assets. The mpact of 2 shuft up or
down of up to 200 basis pomts 1n the vield curve 15 shown (100 basis points equals 1 per cent).
The basis pomnt shafts are illustrative.

Table IV. 7
Alain pool interest rate rizk sensitivity anabvziz as at 31 December 2024

Skt in yield curve (basis

: e -ds -0 -E0 @ #5000 +100 +150 +200
o)

Increase/{decrease) i fair valoe

(Millions of United States dollars):

Main pool tatal 1804 1356 004 432 0 (451) (P04 (1354) (1804)
TableIV. §

Alain pool interest rate rizk sensitivity analysis as at 31 December 2023

Skt in yield curve (basis

poins) -0 -IF -l -F @ +30 100 +130 +200

Increase{decrease) m fair valoe
(Millions of United States dollars):

Main pool ol 19

[
[

14 07 0 07 (14 Q3 o9

Credit risk

89, Credit nsk refers to the nsk that a counterparty to a financial instrument will defanlt on
its contractual obhgahons resulting in a financial loss to the Crganisation. THNFOCC applies the
simplified approach to providmg for expected credit losses presembed by IPSAS 41, which
pernuts the use of 12-month expectad loss provision for all receivables.

Table IV.9
Maximum exposure to credit risk
(Thousands of United States dollars)

024 2023
Cash and cash equivalents 26 267 28711
Invesoments 215 501 201 209
Indicative contributions receivable 3458 g 650
Voluntary confributions receivable 10 360 13 604
Orher accounts receivable 1197 2658
Crther assats excluding prepayments and interfund 2777 11304
ransfers
Total assets 250 060 1602214

Credit rizkz associated with the cazh pool

90. The Gudehnes requre ongoing monrtormg of 1ssuer and counterparty credit ratmgs.
Permuszible cash peol mwvestments may mclude, but are not resticted to, bank depomits,
commercial paper, supranational securnfies, government agency securities and government
secunties with matmities of five years ar less. The cash pools do not mvest m denvative
instruments such as asset-backed and mortgage-backed secunifies or equity products.

91.  The Gumdelines requre that mvestments are not to be made m 15mers whose credit ratmgs
are below specifications, and also provide for masarmum concentrafions with grven 1sswers. These
requirements were met at the ime the mvestments were mads.
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92 The credit raimgs used for the cash pools are those determined by major credit-rating
agencies; Standard & Poor's and Moody's and Fitch are used to rate bonds and discounted
instruments, and the Frich viabibity rating 1= used to rate bank term deposits. At year-end, the
cradit ratings were as shown below.

Table IV.10
Credit rating distribution for azsets in the cazh pool
Muin poe! Ratings in per cent as ar 31 December 2024 Ratings in par cens as at 31 December 2023
Bond: (Long term ratings in per cent) Bonds (Long term ratings in per cent)
ELEY AA+/AS-TAA NA A4 AAHAA-AA NA
S&P 1.2 778 - S&P 371 629 03
Fitch Ala A.&+.-E_-§|_-‘A.—l- A+ NA/NE Fitch Al AAHALAA- A+ NANE
Lo 333 13 170 g4 533 13 17.0
Aaa Aal/Aal2iAal NA Aaa Aal/AaliAald NA
Moody's 377 336 87 Moody's 61.9 305 7.8
Commercial papers’ Certificates of Deposit (Short term ratings in | Commercial papers’ Certificates of Depasit (Short term ratings
per cent) in per ceni)
A-1+/A-1 A-1+/A-1
S&P 100.0 S&P 100.0
F1+F1 NE F1+F1 NE
Fitch 7.4 24 Fitch 3] 1.2
P-LF2 b
Moody's 100.0 Moody's 100.0
“Term deposits'demand deposit acconnt (Fitch 'rjlbiTitjr ratings in Term deposits/demand deposit acconnt (Fitch riabﬁl}' ratings
per cent) in per cent)
aa'az- a+iala- NE aaiaz- r=la‘a-
Fitch k37 e 14 Fitch 138 76.2

91,  The United Matons Treaswy actively monitors credit ratings and gziven that the
Orgamization has imvested only m secunties with kpgh credit ratings, manapement does not
expect any counterparty to fzl fo meet itz oblizations, except for any impamed nvestments.

94,  UNFCCC assessed cash and cash equivalents and imvestoeent balances to deternune therr
expected credit losses. Based on this assessment the credit losses were idenfified to be
insigmificant as at 31 December 2024 (Mil for 31 December 2023).

Credit risks associated with recervables

95,  FRecetvables consists of voluntary contmbutions, indicative contmbutions and other
confmbuhons. Staet credit control 1= exercized throuzh momtonng of cash recarved from donors
and where necessary provision is made for specific doubtful accounts.

96.  The Expected loss rates for recervables are based on the pavment profile of donors and
the comespondmg histoncal credit losses expenenced The ustonical loss rates are adjusted to
reflect current and forerard-looking information. Due to the wide reach of donors of UNFCCC,
manzgement meorporates forward lockmg mformation mto the imparment provisioning based
on generzl economic conditons to pertams to all nations within the world.
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97,  On that basis, the loss allowance as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 is as follows:
Table IV.11

Impairment lozs analyziz as at 31 December 2024
(Thousands of United States dollars)

Currant 1 *:ea? ta 2 years ta 3 _].'ea_?: fo t'.h.'#:r 4 Total
2 years 7 ywars 4 years Years
Gross carrying amount 11 587 1321 174 613 3678 18 815
Expacted creditloss nte 1020 2336 1185 4954 74.80
(per cent)
Lass allowance 1183 ill 315 04 1787 4910
Table IV.12

Impairment lozs analyziz — comparative; as at 31 December 20213
(Thousands of United States dollars)

. lymarto lyearste3  Fyears i Ovar 4
Currant 2 years IS 4 years VRIS Total
Gross carmying amount 15845 50978 1618 691 3205 18527
e et loss e 32 69 172 317 520
Las: allowance 515 210 430 240 1912 3517

Liguidity rizk

98,  Cash flow forecasting 15 performed by the Chgamization m conjunchion with the Umnited
Mations Office at Geneva (UNOG) whach monitors rolling forecasts of hqmdity requirensents to
ensure it has sufficient cash to meet operational needs. There are no restrichions on the amount
that UNFCCC may withdraw at any tme after providing the UN Treaswy with severzl days’
notice.

99.  The cash pools are exposed to lLigmdity nsk assomated wath the requirement of
participants to make withdrawals on short notice. Unmited MNations Treaswy maintzim sufficient
cash and marketzble securifies to meet participants’ commitments as and when they fall due. The
major portion of cash and cash equivalents and mvestments are avalable within a day’s notice
to support operational requrements. The cash pool hqmdity nsk 15 therefore conmidered to be
Loy,

Fair value hierarchy

100, Al mvestments are reported at fair value through net asset'equuty. Cash and cash
equivalents camied at nomminal value are deemed to be an apprommation of far value.

101. The levels are defined as:

(a) Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) m actrve markets for identical assets or
liabalities,

(b}  Level 2: Inputs other than gquoted prices meluded wathin Level 1 that are
observable for the asset or hability, erther directly (that 15, a5 prices) or mdwectly (1.e., derived
from prices).

(g} Level 3: Inputs for the asset or labilites that are not based on observable market
data (that 15, unobservabls mputs).

102. The far value of financial instruments traded in active markets 15 based on quoted
market prices at the reporting date and 15 determmined by the independent custodian based
on valuation of securities sourced from third parties. A market 15 regarded as active if
quoted prices are readily and repularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker,
industiy group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual
and regularly ccommng market trapsactions on an arm's length bazis. The quoted market
price used for financial assets held in the cash pools 15 the cwrrent bad price.
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103. The faw value of financial instruments that are not traded m an active market 15
determined by using valuation techniques whaich maximize the use of observable market
data. If all sigmficant mmputs required to determine the fair value of an mstrument are
observable, the instrument 15 included m Level 2.

104. The following fair value hierarchy presents the cash pool assets that are measured
at fair value at the reporting date. There were no Level 3 financial assets, mor amy
habalities carmed at fair value or any sipmficant transfers of financial assets between famr
value hierarchy classifications.

Table IV.13
Fair value hierarchy as at 31 December: main pool
(Thousands of United States dollars)
3! December 2024 3l December 2023
Levei]  Level 2 Toral  Levei! Leveil Total

Fimancial azsets at fair valoe
throngh net assets'equity
Bonds — corporate 1800 - 1 800 1362 - 136
Bonds — non-United States - —— 2
agencies 52 121 - 52211 49362 - 40 362
Bonds - supranational 9 385 - o585 15401 - 15 401
Bonds - United States treasuries 15 883 - 15883 23 69§ - 13 694
Bonds — non-United States 4 -
soversizns 1003 - 1903 195§ - 1 055
Main pool - commercial papers - 18712 18712 - 1ol 10201
Main pool - certificates of deposit - 64 876 64 074 - IBA32 59 632
Main pool - term deposits - 75 400 Th 408 - GB310 48 310

Total E1581 160187 241768 92777 1381432 13090
Note &
Cazh pool

105, The United Matons Framework Comvention on Climate Change (“UNFCCC™)
participates in the United MNations Trezsury moain pool. The mam pool compnises of operational
bank account balances in a mumber of cwrencies and investments in United States dollars.

106, Poolng the funds has a poastive effect on overall mvestment performance and nsk,
because of economies of scale, and by the abibity to spread vield curve exposures across a range
of matmtes. The allocation of cash pool assets (cash and cash equivalents, short-term
investments and long-termn mvestments) and reverme 15 based on each parbeipating entity’s
principal balance.

107, Asat3] December 2024, the overall cash pools managed by the Unnted Nations Treasury
had total assets of $12,076.1 mulbion (2023: 5115487 mullion), of which 5241 8 pullion was doe
UMFCCC (2023: $230.% million), and its share of revenue from cash pools was $11.5 million
(2023: £9.9 million).
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Table IV.14
Summary of asset: in the United Nation cash pool as at 31 December 2024
(Thousands of United Sates dollars)

Total pool UNFCCC share

Fair value throungh net assets/equity

Short-term inwestments * 7742472 155 006

Long-term investments 1 BB2 612 57711
Total fair value through net assets/equity 10 625 084 n2717

Loans and receivables

Cash and cash equivalents in the cash poal 1 312 000 25 267

Accraed investment revenue (included to short-term o -

investments) * } 139050 2784
Total loans and receivables 1451 050 19051
Total carrving amount of Investments and cash and 12 076 134 241 768

cash eguivalents

* - Short-term imwvestments and accmed mvestment revene makes up fofal shor-temm investment i statemesnt of

108. The table below shows revenue earned by UNFCOCC through its parficipation in the cash
pool. Unreahsed gain={losses) are clasmified as fair value through net assets‘equity m accordance
with IPSAS4].

Table IV.15
Summary of gains/{loszes) of the main pool for the year ended 31 December 20214
(Thousands of United Sfates dallars)

1024 2023
Investment revemue 11474 2504
Urnrealized gains/(losses) 428 (70

108, Unreahised gams of 50.4 million represents movement m unrealised gains on finaneial
instruments recogmsed at fair value through net assets/equaty.

MNote &

Cazh and cash equivalents

110, Asat 3] December 2024, UNFCCC held cash and cash equivalents totalling $26.3 nullion
(2023: £29.7 mullion) within the United Mations Treaswry Main pool.

111. Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at banks, time deposits and money market
instnuments bald withm the cash pool where the mmufial term was less than 90 days. They are held
at nominal value less an allowance for any antcipated losses if any.

Table IV.16
Cazh and cash equivalents
(Thousands of United States dollars)

31 Decembar 2024 31 December 2023

Cash and cash equivalents in cash poal 16 267 20 711

TG
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MNote 7

Investments

112, UNFCCC mwvestments forms part of a cash poels that ave maintamed and managed by the
UN Treaswry. The cash pools compnise UNFCCC = participating shave of cash and term deposits,
short-term and long-term mvestments, and accrual of mvestment mcome, all of which are
manzged mn the pool.

113, UNFCCC cash and mvestments melude $28.9 mulhon (2023: 5247 million) that are
subject to general stipulations m the donor agreements wiach did pot mest the requirements of
condiionality under IPSAS 23, These stpulations mchide earmarking on the use of finding,
mostly regarding thewr programmatic uwse and elizible expenditre penods. Histoncally,
UMEFCCC has had poatve expenences with regard to recenving payment franches from donors
in accordance with the agreement and did not have cases where breach of stpulabions prompted
donors to demand refimds or remmbursement.

114, There have not been any impaimments of investment assets beld within the cash pool
durng the year.

Table IV.17
Clazzsification of investment portfolio
(Thousands of United States dollars)

3! December 2024 31 Decemberl013

Short-term investments at fair value 155 DG 151 0460
Short-term investments at amortized cost 1784 1204
Total shori-term investments 157 TR0 153 166
Long-term mvestments 37111 47043
Total investments 115 501 101 209
Table IV.18
Net proceeds from zale/purchasze of investments
(Thousands of United States dollars)
2024 2023
Total mvestment at the beginnmg of the vear 201 209 199 575
Less: Total investment at the end of the year {215 501} (201 209)
Net investment (14 292) (1 634)
Movement in fair value 428 1810
Net proceeds from the (purchase)/sale of investment (13 Bad) 176
Note 8

Accounts recervable

115 Accounts recervables mehide indicatve conmbuton, velmtary contmbution and other
recervables.

116, Indicatrve contnbutions reflect the contibutions recervable from Parfies to the
Convention, the Eyoto Protocol and the Pans Apreement to fund the core budzet and the
International Transactions log in accordance wath the Fmancial Procedures adopted by the COP.

117, Cuwrent volunfzry conmbutons recervable are confimeed contiibutions that are due
within twelve months from the reporting date.

118, (ther receivables represent amounts mvoiced to Parhes, other UM agenmes and
individuals for services provided.

77



FCCC/SBI1/2025/INF.10

United MNations Fraresrork Comention on Climat Chongs Firomcial shtomomts

119, The full amount of veluntary conmbutions receivable 1s subject to generzl shpulations m
donor agresments winch did not meet the requrements of condinonality under IPSAS 23 These
stipulations meclude earmarking on the use of finding, mostly regarding ther programmatic wse
and elipible expenditwe penods. Histoncally, UNFCCC has had posifive expenences with
regard to recelving payments franches from donors in accordance with the agreement and did
pot have cases where breach of sopulahons prompted donors to demand refunds or
retmbrsement.

120. Provisions for doubtful recervables have been established covenng indicative
conmbuhons, voluntary and other receivables in lme wath IPSAS 41. Refer to MNote 4 on
impanment rates apphed to recervables.

Table IV.19

Accounts receivable
(Thousands of United States dollars)

31 December 2024 3! December 2023

Indicative receivables (gross) 7408 11 412
Less doubtful debt allowance on indicative receivables (4 040 (2 T62)
Indicative receivables - met 3 458 B 450
Voluntary receivables (gross) 11 211 12 447
Less doubtful debt allowance on voluntary recervables (851) (733)
Voluntary receivables - met 10 360 13 684
(Orther receivables 1 216 2 668
Less doubtful debt allowance oo other receivables (19 (12)
Other receivables - met 1187 1 656
Total receivables 15 015 15 000

121. The table below shows the spht of voluntary recenvables between curent and non-current.

Table IV.20
Voluntary receivables
(Thouzands of United States dallars)

31 December 2024 31 Dacember 20113

Current 3094 12 159
Nop-current T 164 1435
Total volumtary receivables 10 360 13 694

122, The table below shows the spht of voluntary receivables between current and non-current.

Table IV.21
Movement in allowance for doubtful debt
(Thousands of United States dollars)

31 December 2024 3! December 20113

(Opening balance 3527 3714
Net increase/{decrease) in provision for receivables 1 383 (201)
Closing balance 4910 527
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Note 9

Other current assets

123,  (her assets consist of the following:
Table TV.22

Other assets
(Thousands of United States dollars)

il December 1024 31 December 20213

Prepayments 12 048 4836
Interfund transfar B 884 B 481
Project clearing 711 588
Travel advances i1l 2438
Education grant advances 1255 1188

Total 13131 17 621

124, Prepayvments mechide advances to vendors and other UN agencies. Included m other
cwTent assets are terfund tansfers of 58.9 muillion that have a comresponding entry in other
cmrent habilhes.

125. The project cleanng accounts 1s the cmrent account balance with the Umited Nations

Development Programme.
Note 10

Property, plant and equipment

1286, The table below shows the movement in property, plant and equipment hald by THFCOCC
durng the period.

Table TV.23
AMovement in property, plant and eguipment
(Thousands of United States dollars)

Communication
Furniture and

Fehicles and IT mac hinery Total
gauinmant

Cast
COpening balance 1 January 2024 77 3488 & 3371
Additions - - - -
Dizposal - - - -

Total as at 31 December 2024 7 3488 13 3571
Accomulated depreciation
Cpening balance 1 January 2024 30 EEL & 3357
Depreciation during the year B 03 - 101
Dizposal - - - -

Total as at 31 December 2024 58 3304 1] 3 458
Net book value

Total as at 31 December 2024 19 LE} - 113
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Table IWV.24
AMovement in property, plant and equipment — 2023 comparative
(Thousands of United States dollars)

Cammunication
. Furniture and

Fehicles and IT’ Lo Total
equipmant machinary

Cast
At ] Jamuary 2023 77 3488 6 ERT
Additions - - - -
Disposal - - - -

Total as at 31 December 2023 ™ 1 488 ] 3571
Accomulated depreciation
At 1 Japuary 2023 42 3213 ] 3 261
Depreciation during the year B BE - Q8
Disposal - - - -

Total as at 31 December 2023 &0 3 01 ] 3 157
Net book valoe

Total as at 31 December 2013 7 187 - 114

127, Assets are reviewed ammually to determune if there 15 any indiczhion that assets may be
imparred m therr value. Durmg 2024 there was no mdication for any equipment being mmpaired.

Note 11

Intangzible assets

128 The table below shows the movement in intanzible assets dunng the penod.
Table IV25

Intanzible azset:
(Thousands of United States dollars)

Internaily developed software

Opening balance 1 Januwary 2024 837
Additions -
Write-off -

Total as at 31 December 2024 837
Accumulated amortization at 1 Janwary 2024 G835
Amortization doring the year 152
Write-off -

Total as at 31 December 2024 837

Net book value as at 31 December 2024 -

1]
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Table IV.26
Intangible azzets - 20213 comparative
(Thousands of United States dollars)

Internaily developed software

Opening balance 1 Januwary 2023 837
Additions -
Write-off -

Total as at 31 December 2023 a7
Accomulated amortization at 1 Jan 2023 514
Amortization during the year 171
Write-off -

Total as at 31 December 2023 G35

Net book valwe as at 31 December 2023 152
Note 12

Accounts payables and accruals

128, Pavables to vendors relate to amounts due for goods recerved and services rendered for
which payment has not vet been made.

Table IV.27
Account: payables and accruals
(Thousands of United States dollars)

31 December 2024 31 December 2023

Vendor payables 3350 4401
Orther payables 10 G352
Accraals for poods and services 213313 2424

Total accomnts pavables and accruoals 5702 14 567

130.  Aeccmals are habihfies for goods and servaces that have been recerved or provided to
INFCOCC during the year which have not yvet been imoiced by supphiers.

Note 13

Advance receipts

131. The advance recarpt balance as at 31 December 2024 are a= follows:
Table IV.2E

Advance receipts
(Thousands of United States dollars)

31 December 2024 31 December 2013

Conditienal weluntary contributions 13 523 18 564
Indicative contributions received in advance 5103 3134
CDM fees received in advance ER k] 3013

Total 11339 14713

132, UNFCCC recogmzes a habilify mn cases where condiions are attached to voluntary
confributions, Conditons are imposed by donors on the wse of conmbutions and imnclude both an
oblization to use the donation in a specified manner and an obhzation to return any ameount mot
expended 1 accordance with performance specified by the donation. The amount recogmized as

|
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a habihity 15 the best estmate of the amount that weould be required to settle the oblization at the
reporting date. As UNFCCOC sansfies the conditons on volunfary contibufions through
performance in the specified manner, the canying amount of the hability 15 reduced and an
amount of revenue equal to that reduchon 1= recogmizad.

133, Indieatrve commbutions recerved in advance melude amounts received before the achual
due date establizhed bv the Financial Procedures. Mult-vear conmbutions recemved in advance
amounted to Eur 2.2 mulhon.

134 CDM and 1T fees in advance represent unearned fees recerved for which UNFCCC has
not completed the delrvery of all the services for which fees have been charped.

Note 14
Employee benefit

135, The emploves benefits habilihes of UNFCCC are composed of

(3) carrent employes benefits: curent portion of post-employment benefit, cumrent
portion of home leave and us tax retmbarsement.

(b} non-cwrent employes benefits: non-cument portion of bome leave; and non-cwrent
portion of post-emplovment benefit.

Table IV.29
Emplovee benafit Habilities
(Thousands of United States dollars)

31 December 2024 31 December 2023

Current employee benefit liabilities

After service health insurance 721 586
Repatriation grant 791 o047
Anmual leave 434 508
Home leave travel G984 665
US tax reimbursement 130 181
Orther employee benafit liabilities 216 168

Total current employee benefit liabilities 1 986 EY ]
Afrer service health insurance 166 681 133 281
Repatriation grant 8 300 T 398
Anmal leave 4047 3083
Home leave travel 44 33

Total non-current employee benefit liabilities 179 072 144 695

Total employee bemefit liabilities 181 058 147 TS0

136,  Post-employment benefits consist of after-service health insurance, repatration grants,
anmmal leave and pension plans. After-service health imswrance (ASHI) 1= a plan that allows
shzible refwrees and thewr ehmble fapuly members to paticpate m the full medical mswance
plan. A repatnaton grant 15 an enfitlement payable to Professional staff on separahon together
with related costs i travel and shipment of household effects. The actuanal valuabon of
lizbilites regarding ASHI, repatmation grant and anmal leave was undertaken by an 1
professional actuary. They are established in aceordance with the Staff Repulations of the United
Mations and Staff Bules for saff members m the Professional and General Service categones.

After-zervice health innrance

137. The year-end habilihes for after-service health inswance are denved from the actuaral
valuzhon conducted at year-end 2024, The net present value of the UNFCCC accrued habihiy
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as at 31 December 2024, net of contmbutions from plan participants, was eshmated by actuanes
at 51674 mulhon (5133.9 mullion i 2023).

138, Upon end of service, staff members and ther dependants may alect to participate m 2
defined-benefit health insurance plan of the United Nations, provided they have met cerfain
ahgbity requirements. These requirements include 10 years of participation m 3 United MNations
health plan, for those who were recruited after 1 Fuly 2007, and 5 vears of participation, for those
who were recrnted prior to that date.

Repatriation grant

13%. Upon end of zerice, staff members who meet certam ehzbility requrements, including
residency outnde thewr counbty of nabonaliy at the tome of separation, are entitled to a
repatriation grant based on length of serice, and travel and removal expenses. These benefits
are collectively referred to as repamation benefits.

140, The net present value of the UNFCOCC acerued hability as at 31 December 2024 was
astimated by actuaries at $9.1 mulkion (353 million m 2023).

Dearh bengfit

141. Death benefit 1= a post-employment defined-benefit plan. for which payment 1= made
upon the death of an elizble employee who leaves behind a suriving spouse or dependent chald.
In hine wath the accounting prachice of the UM secretanat, this habibity 15 not recorded as a long-
term emploves benefit.

Amnnal leave

142, In accordance with UM 5taff Fules and S5taff Regulations, UNFCCC staff puay
accumlate anmal leave of up to 60 working dayvs whech 1s payvable on sepamation from service.

143. The net present vale of UNFCCOC s anmial leave habulity as at 31 December 2024 1=
estimated as #4.5 million ($4.5 oulbion in 2023).

Home leave

144,  Mon-locally recruited UNFCOCC staff are entrtled to retmbursement for the costs of travel
to thewr home county in the second year after thew 1mfial appomtment and thereafter, every
second year. The habulity recorded has been caleulated proporbonately reflecting the mumber of
months relates to the value of home leave enttlements that have been earned by officials since
their last entitlemnent but not taken at the reportng date.

US taxes

145, Amevican catizens that are UNFCOCC staff members are remmbursed for the amount of
income taxes payable on the compensation they eam from the crzamization.

146, An actuanzl valuation as at 31 December 2024 camried out mn 20235 has been utihzed to
determine the UNFCOCC s estimated hiabihity and expenses recopmized on the Statements of
Financial Performance and Fmancial Posihion for repafniation grants and travel, accummulated
anmmal leave and after-service health insrance at the reporting date. The results of the actuarial
valuztion of the End-of-Service schemes are based on a full valustion conducted as at 31
December 2023

Accounting for post-employment bengfits

147. Each vear, the UNFCCC reviews and selects assumptions and methods that will be uzed
by the actuanes in the valuation to determne the expense and contibution requirements for the
UNFCCC s after-service medical care plans and separation benefit plans. The discount rate 15
determined by calculating the expected benefit payments for each fuhwe vear athibutable to past
sarvice as of the valuzton date and then discounting these benefit payvments using spot rates for
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high qualbity corporate bonds. A single equivalent discount rate was then determined that resulted

in the same past service obhgation.

Table IV.30
Poszt-employvment benefits liabilities
(Thounsands of United States dollars)

After-service - . Torxi Toral

health murance Repatriation Annual laave 2024 2021
Liability at 1 Jannary 133 867 8345 4491 146 T03 119 850
Current service cost 4§ 633 628 247 7 588 4§ 088
Interest cost 2 510 300 208 QL 2044
Benefits paid (585) (047 (508) (2 040) (1283)
Actuarial losses/{gains) 24 957 615 43 15 615 2102
Liability at 31 December® 167 402 o091 4 481 180 974 146 T3

* Home leave, tax remmbursement and other emploves bensfit liabilines do not form part of post-employment Habdiies

Table IV.31

Poszt-employment benefits liabilities: active and retired staff

(Thounsands of United States dollars)

Current refirees 33 D65 33 065 14 187
Active employees - fully eligible 48 068 G724 4481 50173 40019
Active employees - oot yet fully 26 160 1357 28 616 71 507
elizihle 3 1 15
Liability at 31 December 167 402 L1 4481 180 874 146 T03
148, The amounts recopmzed in the statement of financial performance are as follows:
Table IWV.32
Impact of post-employment benefitz on financial performance
(Thounsands of United States dollars)
Aftar-zervice . i Total Toral
haaith inturance Repamiation Annual feave gy 202
Current service cost 4§ 653 GBS 247 T 588 § 088
Inferest cost 2 510 390 208 3108 2046
Impact at 31 December 9163 1078 455 10 G946 9034
149, The total expense has been included under “salaries and emplovee benefit=" in the

statement of financial performance.

Actuarial gainz/{lozses)

150, Actuanal gains/{losses) are recognised durectly in net assets, and reflect changes

in financial and demographic assumphions and expenence adjustments:
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Table IWV.33
Actuarial (gains)/losses
(Thousands of United States dollars)

After-service

: . - Total Total
heaith Repatrigtion Annuai leave " Py
Imsurance 2024 203

Changes in financial nyx - -
253 EE2 . 13312 (33%) (195) 12 782 az01
Changes in demographic _ ) A _ (5 005
assumptions : :
Experisnce adjustments 1 645 a50 238 18313 4307
Total actuarial 24957 615 PR TY 9102

(Eaims Wlosses

Aetuarial assumptions

151. The key actuanal assumption used by the actuwary to determine defined benefit
hiabalities 15 the discount rate. For the after-service health mswance habihtv, this also
includes the healtheare cost trend rate.

152, The principal actuarial assumptiens for 2024 were as follows:

Table IV. 34
Principal actuarial assumptions

Repatriation Annwal

ASHI grant & rravel leave
Discount rate at beginning of period (per cent) 1.1 5.0 40
Dizcount rate at end of period (per cent) 1.8 53 56
Salary mmcreases rate at beginning and end of Bazed on the age of staff member calculated
period separately for professional and general service staff
Healthcare cost frend rate at beginning of L L
pericd United Nations scales
Healthcare cost frend rate at end of peried UNISPF scales

Sensithity analysiz

153, Sen=itivity analysis cuthines the potential impact of changes in certain key assumptions
wsed m measuming post-emplovment benefits. If the assumptions about the discount rate and the
bealth-care cost trends were to change, this would mnpact the measurement of the post-

employment benefits as shown:
Table IV. 35
Potential impact of changes in dizcount rates on post-employment benefits
ASHT  Repamigtion  Srmdl
- s Laave
Increase of 0.5 per cent (21 T78) (273) (140}
Diecrease of 0.5 per cent 25027 100 148

1534, Effective 1 Jamuary 2018, a monthly accrual has been implemented to start fundm g after-
service health mswrance liabilihes relating to extra budgetary activites. For this purpose, an
accrual rate of 6 per cent 15 apphed on the sum of Fross salary and post adustment.

155, Short-term emploves benefit habibhes for education gprants and bome leave are
recognized at an undiscounted amount. Short-term compensated absences are recogmized, as
employess earn ther entitlement to future compensated absences through rendering a serice to
the UNFCCC. For non-accummilating compensating absences, an expense 15 recogmized when
the absence ocours.
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Other current Labilities
Table IV.36

Other current liabilities
(Thousands of United States dollars)

Firomcisl stxtomens

il December 1024

31 December 2023

Orther current liabilities E 756

5481

Total 5 756

§ 451

156. Included in other liabilities are interfund transfers of £8.% million that have a

comresponding entry in other assets.
Note 16

United Nation: Joint Staff Pension Fund (UNJSPE)

1537, UNFCCC 15 a2 member orgamization participating m the Umited MNations Joint Staff
Penzion Fund (the “Fund™), which was establizhed by the United Mations General Assembly to
provide refivement, death, dizability, and related benefits to emplovees. The Fund 15 2 fimded,
plh-emplover defined benefit plan. As specified in Arficle (k) of the Regulations of the Fund,
membership in the Fund shall be open to the specialized agencies and to any other mternational,
intergovernmentzl orgamzation which parficipates in the common system of salanes, allowances
and other condibons of service of the United Nanons and the sperialized agencies.

158, The Fund collechvely exposes participating orgamzations to actuanal nsks associated
with the current and foomer emplovees of other orgamzations parbicipating in the Fund, with the
result that there 15 no consistent and rehiable basis for allocating the obhgation, plan assets and
costs to mdridual organizations participating in the Fund UNFCCC and the Fund, in line with
the other parficipating crgamizzhons in the Fund, are not in a posihon to identfy TNFCCC s
proportionate share of the defined benefit obhigation, the plan assets and the costs associated with
the plan with sufficient relizbility for sccounting purposes. Hence, UNFCCOC has treated this
plan as if it were a defined contribution plan m hne with the requrements of IPSAS 39, Employes
Bepefitz. UNFCCC's contmbutions to the Fund duning the financial peniod are recogmized as

expenses i the Statement of Fmancial Performance.

159, The Fund's Regulations state that the Pension Board shall have an actnanzl valuahion
made of the Fund at least once every three years by the Consulting Actuary. The practice of the
Pension Board has usually been to carry out an actuanal valuation every two years. The primary
purpose of the actuanal valuation 15 to determune whether the current and estimated future assets
of the Fund will be sufficient to meet its habilifies into parpetuity. The Fund's published fundmz
policy (available on the Fund's website) set= out the methods, processes and targets that are used
to monitor the fimdmg posiion and assocated nisks. This also meludes the practice of uhhzng
an actuanal value of assets, which smooths short-term mvestment gains and losses for the

purpose of reporting long-term solvency.

160. UNFCCC's finaneial obligation to the Fund conmists of 1t mandated contmbution, at the
rate established by the United Mations General Assembly (cwvently at 7.9 per cent of pensionable
remmumeration for participants and 13,8 per cent for member crgamizations) together with amy
share of amy actuanal deficiency payments under Artcle 26 of the Repulatons of the Pension
Fund. Such deficiency payments are only payable if and when the Umted Nations General
Aszzambly has mrvoked the provizion of Article 26, following determinzhon that there 15 2
requirement for deficlency payments based on an assessment of the actuanal sufficiency of the
Fund as of the valuation date. Each member orgamzation shall conmbute to this deficiency an
amount proportional to the total confributions which each paid during the three years preceding
the valuzhon date. It has never been necessary to imvoke Article 26, and no deficiency pavments

have ever been requested.
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161. The latest actuzrial valuation for the Fund was completed as at 31 December 2023, and 2
roll forward of the participation data as at 31 December 2023 to 31 December 2024 will be used
by the Fund for the pwpose of reporting an actuanal present value of acoummlated plan benefits
in 15 2024 financial statements.

162. The actuanal valuation as at 31 December 2023 reported 2 fimded ratio of actuanal assets
to actuanal habilites of 1110 per cent (117.0 per cent m the 2021 valnation) when fufure
expected pension admstments (cost-of-lving indexation on benefits) were taken into account.
The reported fimded ratio was 132.0 per cent (138.2 per cent m the 2021 valuation) when the
cwrent system of pension admstments was not taken mnfo account and would be the measure by
which actuanal sufficiency 1= established under Article 26.

163. After assessing the actuanal sufficiency of the Fund, the Consulting Actuary conchided
that there was no requirement. as at 31 December 2023, for deficiency payments under Arhicle
26 of the Regulanons of the Fund as the actuanal value of assets excesded the actuarial vahie of
all accrued habilines under the plan. At the tume of thiz report., the General Assembly has ot
voked the provision of Arhcle 26.

164. Should Artecle 26 be mvoked due to an actuanal deficiency, either dunng the engoms
operation or due to the termunation of the Fund, deficiency payments required from each member
orgamzaton would be based upon the proportion of that member crganization’s contnbutions to
the tofal conmbubons paid to the Fund dunmg the three years preceding the valuaton date. Total
confributions paid to the UNISPF during the preceding three wears (2021, 2022 and 2023)
amounted to $9.499 41 milhon of which 038 per cent was contributed by UNFCCC.

165. Dummg 2024, conmbutions paid to the Fund by UNFCOC amounted to $10.5 mlbon
(2023: 9.4 million). Fxpected contributions due in 2023 are approcomately $11.6 million

166, Membership of the Fund mav be terommated by decision of the United Nations General
Aszembly, upon the affirmative recommendation of the Pension Board A proportionate share
of the total assets of the Fund at the date of teroumation shall be paid to the former member
orgamzation for the exchisive benefit of 1ts staff who were participants in the Fund at that date,
pursuant to an arangement rarally apreed between the organizzhon and the Fund . The amount
15 determamed by the United MNations Joant Staff Pension Board based on an actuznial valuation
of the assets and halilihes of the Fund on the date of terounation: no part of the assets whch are
in excess of the labilities are meluded m the amount.

167. The Unted Nations Board of Auditors cammes out an annual audit of the Fund and reports
to the Pension Board and to the United MNattons General Assembly on the audit every year. The
Fund provides weekly informoation on its investments, and 1t can be viewed by visiing the Fund
at wew.unspforg.

Note 17
Eevenue

168, Indicative contnbutions are contributions recerved from Parties to the Convention, the
Eyote Protocol and the Pans Agreement to fund the core budsget and the Internationzl
Transaction Log under the Fimancial Procedures, based on the United MNatons scale of
assessment adjusted for differences in membership. The contributions are based on 2 biennium
budpet and are recogmized as of the first day of the vear to which thev relate. Incheative
contnbutions are considered to be without conditions.

Table IV37
Indicative contributions
(Thousands of United States dollars)

2024 2023

Core budget to the convention 40 200 j211
Intermational transaction log - ]
Total 40 800 32 842
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169. The below table shows the top ten conmbutors to the mdicative contnbutions mcluding

working capital adustments requested from the parties.

Table IV 38
Top ten partiez contributing to the core budzet
(Thousands of United States dollars)

2024 Par cenr
United States of America 2050 19.7
China 6224 153
Tapan 3127 B0
Germany 1404 6.1
United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland 1 785 44
France 1752 43
Ttaly 1302 32
Republic of Korea 1051 16
European Union 1020 15
Canada 2452 14

170, Veoluntary conmbutions are recognized as revenue at the peint of signature except where
such agresment contains 3 conditon in which case recopmtion as revenue 1= deferred until the
condifions specified in the donor agreement have been satisfled. As part of the preparation of the
2024 finaneial staternents and m response to audit observations, the Secretaniat reviewed the
apphication of 1ts revenue recogmtion methodology for condinonal vohmtary contnbutions,
whuch has been consistently apphed sinee 2022, Followmng a reassessment of nmlh-vear grants
imrhated m 2022, an additonal cummulative ameount of USD 6.5 milhon was recognized as revenue
from conditional veluntary conmbutions. This amount represents a comection of prnor-year
conmbutons as of 31 December 2024 A full retrospective restatement 1= not feasible due to
technical constraints. In accordance with IPSAS 3, the entire comection has therefore been

reflected m the 2024 statement of finaneial performance.

Table IV.39
Voluntary contributions
(Thounsands of United States dollars)

2024 2023

Voluntary cootributien to the core budget B31 &71
Participation trust fund 8022 1738
Trust fund for supplementary activities 58 336 41 329
Special annual contribution from the host country 1086 1904
Special account for activities for conferences 62248 2401
Total 74513 55 245

171. Fee meome inchides charges for the Clean Development Mecharism (CDM) and Joimt

Implementation (IT).

Table IV.40
Fee Income
(Thounsands of United States dollars)

2024 2023
CDM feas 3424 13 857
Total 3404 13 857
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172, Income to finance the admimstration of Clean Development Machamssm (CDM)
processes consists of accreditation fees and feas to be charged for 1ssuance of certified emm=sion
reductions (CERs) (share of proceeds) to cover admamstrative expenses as follows:

{a}  The accreditabon fee for the appheation for accreditation or reaccreditation of an
entity amoumting to 515,000,

(b}  The share of procesds to cover admimstrative expenses:

(1) %0.10 per CER izsued for the first 15 000 tonnes of CO2 equivalent for which
1ssuance IS requested in a given calendar vear.
(1) £0.20 per CER issued for any amount in excess of 15 000 tonnes of CO2
equivalent for which 1ssuance 1s requested 1n 2 grven calendar vear.
(i) Mo share of procesds shall be due for activities hosted m least developed
countries.

Table IV.41

Interest revenue
(Thousands of United States dellars)

Fizomicial stxironts

2024 2023

Investment income — Interest earned 11 474 b Rag

Total 11 474 LR
173, Services in kind are not recogmized m the face of the financial statements.

174, Gam(loss) on foreizn exchange represent gams realized on tramsachons ocouwmng I
owrrencies other than United States dollars and unreahzed losses resulting from revaluation of
monetary assefs.

Table IV.42
Oither/miscellanesus revenue
(Thousands of United States dellars)

024 2023

Orther/miscellaneons revenus 242 3 B50
Total 242 3850

175, Other revenue consisted of FX gains realised following the closure of long outstanding
pIojects.
Note 185
Expenses
Table TV .43
Expenses
(Thousands of United States dollars)

2024 023
Parsonnel expendimre 59 343 42 810
Travel 13 332 21872
Contractual services 30 587 30527
(Oiperating expenses ER ) 21731
(Other expenses 3 665 1729
Depreciation of equipment 101 ]
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2024 2023
Amaortization of intangible assets 152 171
Beturn/transfer of dopor fundmg 412 440
Less on foreign exchange and iovestments 434 2026
Total 122 380 124 311

176, Personnel expenditure meludes all mternations]l and national staff expenses mach a=
zalanes, post admstments, entitlements, pension, and health plan contnbutions for professional
and general service category staff. It also meludes temporary staff expenses such as costs mlating
to the employment of temporaries and supsrmmmeraries. Pension and inswrance benefits also
include the service and interest cost as per the actuwarial valuation.

Table IV.44
Perzonnel expenditure
(Thousands of United States dollars)

2024 2023

Salary and wages 42 858 35 804
Pension and msurance benefits 23 003 10 601
Orher benafits 339 34035
Total 69 343 62 810

177. Travel covers the cost of aurfare and other transport cest, daly support allowances
including zccommodation and terminal allowances.

178, Confractual services melude cost of acquiring goods and services from commarcial
providers, mamly for IT related and consultancy services for different service pemods.

Table IV 45
Contractual zervices
(Thousands of United States dollars)
2024 20213

Communication seTvices 513 508
Consulting and individual contractual services B 361 10 304
Facilities and equipment 1083 414
Infrastrucmure Service 3332 2878
IT business and support 15 164 10 840
Other conractoal services 2114 32087

Total 30 587 o 527

179, Operating expenses mchide cost of maintenznce, rent, commmmucations, jont actvities
and other operating expenses.

180. Other expenses include allowances for doubtful debts, cost for mter-agency and meseting
related expenses as well as wnite-offs.

181, There were no wmte-offs processed for the year 2024,

182, Fetums of donor funding meludes the amounts of unspent funds retumed to donors upon
completion of volumtary finded projects mn accordance with the respective donor agresment.

Note 19
Net azsets/equity

183, UNFCCC's reserves are as follows:
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Table TV.45
Net assets/equity
(Thousands of United States dollars)
Actuarial F‘W Accumulated  Programme  Tocal Ner
Eains/(losses) . ‘:_fg: Surpius TRTVEs Assets
Opening balance as at 01 Jannary 2023 10 650 (2 51M 16 757 49 403 24201
Surplos/{deficit) for the peried - - (8 623) - (8 623)
Artuarial gains/{losses) on employes benefits liabilitdes (9 101) - - - (9 101)
Adjustment to operaling reseIve amounts against 123 123
accumulated surplus : ) (123) = -
Fair value gains/losses on investments held at Fair value _ 1810 _ . 1810
through net assets and equity
Balance as at 01 Jannary 2024 11 548 (708 5o 49 516 T8 376
Surplos/{deficit) for the period - - E 083 - B 083
Armuarial gains/{losses) on employes benefits liabilities (25 615) - - - (25 615)
Adjustment to operating reserve amounts against R ) {11 1 R
accumulated surplos
Fair value gains/losses on invesiments held at Fair valoe 213 138
threugh nst assets and equity i - i i -
Balance as at 31 December 2024 {4 06T) (231} 16 084 49 537 61172

Actuarial gains/{losses)

184, Actnanial gains or losses relate to the defined benefit pension plan as requived by IPSAS
39. See Note 3 on accounting policies on emplovee benefits iabihties, The opemmz balance
for actuanal gamslosses) were transferred from acewmulated swrphs into 3 separate reserve as
actuanal gains are not part of accummlated swplus.

Fair value of imvesmments clazsified at fair value through net assets/equity

185,  Fawr value movements on investments clas=afied at fair value through net assets/equity
are recorded directly m net assets, m hine with IPSAS 41, When a revalued imvestment 15 sold,
the portion of net assets that relates to that financial asset is effectvely realized and 1= recogmzed
in the statement of financial performance.

ngra’mms Feserves

186, Programme reserves mclude reserve for core budget and ITL, CDM st fund and
Appendix D reserve.

187. A reserve is established for the core budget and the budget of the Intematiomal
Transaction Log as part of the adoption of the tudget by the COP. For the CDM trust fund. a
reserve of $45.0 million has been established. The totzl programme reserves at the reporting date
amount to 5495 oulbon. The Appendix D to the Staff Bules covers staff members for work
related death, mjwry or illness atmbutable to the performance of official dufies on behalf of the
United Nations for which UNFOCC maintams a corresponding reserve.

Table IV.47
Programme rezerves as at 31 December 2014
(Thousands of United States dollars)
31 December 2024

Razerves for core budget and ITL 3 061
CDM trust fund reserve 45 000
Rezerve for Appendiz D 1476

Total reserves 49 537
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Note 20
Fund accounting and segment reporting

188, The UNFCCC 15 a smgle purpose entity established by the Parties to the Convention and
the Umted MNatons as the jomt techmical cooperston agency for business aspects of trade
development The UNFCCC has one major mandate to assist the sigmatomes of the UN
Framework Convention on Climzte Change to hmit average global termperature mereases and
the resulting climate change, and to cope with whatever mmpacts are mevitable n part through
enforcing the legally binding emission reduction targets established in the Eyoto Protocel. It,
therefore, does not have segments as defined under IPSAS.

189, However, to provide essenfial mformation to semor manapement and owners on the
utihzation of resowrces by finding sowrce, separate fimds have been established to reflect the
major funding sewrces of UNFCCC as follows:

{a) Trust Fund for the Core Budget of UNFOCC financed from mdicatrve conmbubions
{or general-purpose contributions from donors) supports the core funchons of the secretanat.

(b} Trust Fund for the Parhcipation m the UNFCCC Process financed from voluntary
confnbutions supports parbicipation of representatives from ehzible developing coumtry Parties
and Parties with econommes m transition m the sessions of the Conference of the Parhies and 1ts
subsichary bodies.

(¢} Trust Fund for Supplementzry Activibies financed from veluntary contnbutions
including both bilateral fimd= mveolving the UNFCCC, a donor and often a recipient government
and programmes to whach mmltiple donors make volunfzary contmbutons supports mandated
actrvities for which provisions are not made under the Core budget.

(d} Trust Fund for the Clean Development Macham=m fin-meed from fees charped for
regisiration of projects suppart the admmistration of the clean development mecham=m enabling
parties to meet thewr emission mitation and reduction commtments by using certified emmssion
reductions {CER:s) generated from CDM projects.

{e) Trust Fund for the Intermational Transactions Log (ITL) financed from mdicative
confributions (or general-puwrpose conmbutions from domers). The ITL to venfy the vahdity of
transachons undertaken by national regisines of Parhies of Annex B of the Convention and CDM
regiziry. The ITL takes a central role between remstries and 1= an essential component of the
settlement infrastructure for emissions trading under the Evoto Protocol.

(f)  Trust Fund for the Special Ammual Conmbution from the Government of Germany
financed from a voluntary conmbubon frem the government m which the UNFCCOC
headquarters 15 located. Funds are used to finance the logistcal amrangements of events taking
place m Germany meluding workshops and sessions of the subsidiary bodies.

(g} Specal Account for Programme Support Costs financed from charges made to the
actrvities under all operational funds used to manzge the overhead charges payable on all trust
funds to cover costs relating to admmistratrve services.

(b} Spectal Account for Conferences and Other Bacoverable Costs financed from
volmtary conmbutions used to finance costs associated with the hosting of the Conference of
the Parfies under the host counby agreement. Balances m this aceount are refunded to the host
country.

(1} Cost Becovery Fund financed from charges made to the activifies financed from
indicative and vohmtzary conmbutons.
{7} End of Service and Post Emplovee Benefits Fund net cumrently financed

190. Programme Support FEevenue is charged m line with the TN finanecial procedures where
UNFCCC charges a standard programme support cost rate of 13 per cent on expendrhures
wowred. For associate experts and Ewropean Compumssion finded projects, the rate vanes from
5 per cent to 13 per cent. For pass through transfers, the rate apphed 1= 3%,

191, All funds elimunation inchides revenue and expense ansing from transfers between fimds
which are accounted for at cost and are eliminated on consolidation.



FCCC/SBI1/2025/INF.10

United Nation: Framework Convention on Climate Change Notes to the Financial Statementz

Table IV.48
Statement of financial position by fund
(Thousands of United States dollars)

Trust fund for the Special account

T’mi{gﬁg ;' Trust fund for ﬂ{ﬁ;{-’; !:J;:jﬂﬂ:: Special Armual Trust fund for  Trust fund for for conferences S ;::.mért;gz? UNFCCC
the core budget - ‘onfribution from Supplementarythe Internationa and other 05t Recovery mployes A
development The cors budgar PTG Coniri Suppl o J ! d oth rogramme (057 A Empl TomL
- of UNFCCC : the Government  Activities Transaction Log  recoverable P ™ liabilities find
mechanism process of Germany costs suppart costs
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 3256 367 43 10 242 676 1278 674 1589 26 267
Short-term investments 19 562 2202 259 61 567 4063 7 680 4041 9547 790
Indicative contributions 3458 3438
receivable N - - - - - - - - -
Voluntary contributions i B 166 ) 5928 ) ) . ) . 1004
receivable
Other receivables 181 204 - 36 138 38 204 9 387 - 1197
ther current assets 32 2 7 2525 202 3 - 232
Oth 6528 1694 2 17 12525 34 202 1335 804 23231
Total current assets 61200 28174 353 87 407 4811 1829 10 302 5996 11136 215037
Non-current assets
Other receivables - - - - - - - - - 7266
Long-term investments 17114 7155 805 95 1486 760 2800 1478 3401
Property, plant and equipment - 21 - 30 - 36 18 - - 113
Intangible assets - - - - - - - - - - -
Total non-current assets 17114 7176 805 125 29792 1486 796 1827 1478 3491 65 090
TOTAL ASSETS 78 404 35350 3542 480 117 199 6297 3623 13120 T474 14 627 180127
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Payables and accrmals 367 525 493 86 1768 85 1409 21 948 - 5702
Advance receipts 3712 5107 (44) - 13 564 - - - - - 22339
Employee benefits® 14358 - 9 448 26 - 516 130 21986
Other current liabilities - (130) 500 - 8346 - 40 - - - 8 756
Total current liabilities 4401 6 960 949 95 14126 111 1449 537 1078 77 30 782
Non-current liabilities
mployee benefits 2 - 24 655 7 - 362 2502 79 072
Employee benefits* 18 449 82045 3444 24 655 1708 36 268 12 502 1 179 072
Total non-current liahilities 18 449 82 045 - 3444 24 655 1708 - 36 268 12502 1 179 072
TOTAL LIABILITIES 22850 80 005 949 3539 48 781 1319 1450 36 805 13 380 78 118 855
I?I}?IIIT‘FISISEETS LESS 55554 {53 655) 2674 (2059 61 809 4478 1179 (23 676) (6 106) 14 549
NET ASSETS
Accumulated surpluses™® 10 637 (58 012) 2597 (3 039) 68 527 4341 2179 (23 662) (6 100) 18 635 16 084
Reserves 44917 4357 () - (109), 137 3) (14) (6) (4 086) 45189
TOTAL NET ASSETS 55554 (53 655) 2594 (3059) 68 417 4478 2175 (23 676) (6 106) 14 551 61272

*The After-Service Health Insurance (ASHI) liability, along with its related accumulated surplus, previously recorded under the UNFCCC employee liabilities fund, has now been reallocated to the respective individual
funds where the liabilities were originally incurred.
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Table IV.49
Statement of financial performance by fund
(Thousands of United States dollars)

Trust fund for the Special account
Trust fund for Trust fund for  Trust fund for  Special Annual Trust fund for for conferences Special account
the claan  the core participation in Contribution from Trust fund for ‘the and other  for UNFCCC UNFCCC
development budget of  the UNFCCCrhe of Suppls I I} recoverable programme Cost Employes
mechanisn UNFCCC process Germany vy Activities Transaction Log costs _ suppoit cosis Recm:er:'}mbl(me: Zumf Elimination TOTAL
REVENUE
Indicative contributions - 40 800 - - - - - - - - - 40 800
Voluntary contributions - 851 8922 1986 56 536 - 6228 - - - - 74523
CDM and II service fees 3424 - - - - - - - - - - 3424
Interest Revenue 3602 1105 153 30 4630 332 190 417 410 583 - 11 474
Gain on foreign exchange - - - - - - - - - - - -
Other/miscellaneous revenue (3 920) - - - 3499 - 3 - 16 413 2623 (18392) 226
Programme support income - - - - - - - 12 683 - - (12669) 16
TOTAL REVENUE 3106 9077 2036 64 665 332 6420 13102 16 822 3106 (31061) 130 464
EXPENSES
Personnel expenditure 5034 28 048 73 1152 21372 783 - 10874 3720 325 (2 940) 69 343
Travel 430 2310 4048 106 4743 2233 48 (90) - - lasa
Contractual services 1062 4701 - 433 18 146 638 2249 444 12702 179 (9 987) 30 587
Operating expenses 2 333 - 27 1694 1 362 3 1166 - - 3834
Other expenses 615 1317 87 284 3005 51 1068 2459 243 1 (5463) 3663
Depreciation of equipment - 10 - 32 1 - 39 9 - - - 101
Amortization of intangible _ . - ; 148 _ 4 _ _ . _ 152
assets
Retumn/transfer of -
donor/CDM Trust Fund - - - ¢ a0 - 308 - - - - 42
Loss on foreign exchange (55 1 699 (198) 67 (882) ) 0] (118) @) - 454
Programme support 865 4471 494 220 6133 164 - - - (12669)
TOTAL EXPENSES 7879 44 009 4504 2327 54288 1660 13830 17623 496 (31 061) 122380
TOTAL 4873 (1153 (2901) 10 378 (13128) (305) (728) (300) 2710 - 8082

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT)
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Note 21
Budget comparizon and reconciliation

192, UNFCCCs budget 15 prepared on a modified cash accounting basis and the financial
statemsents are prepared on a full acerual basis m accordance with IPSAS. The budgets are
adopted on a eenmial bass and drvided into annuzl amounts for presentation mn the financial
statement. Compansen of budget and actuzl amounts compares the final budzet to actual
amyoumts caleulated on the same baziz as the comesponding budgetary appropriations. The
comparison 15 ooly made m respect of budgzets adopted by the COP and CMP as per IPSAS 24,

193, The actuzal amounts presented on a comparable basts to the budget are not prepared on 2
comparable bazs to the Statement of Fmancial Performance. A reconciliabion of the budgetary
amyoumits to the amounts presented on the financial statements, 1denfifving separately amy basis
and entity differences 1z presented in table 50. There may zlso be differences m formats and
claszification schemes adopted for presentation of financal statements and the budzet.

194, Bams differences caphue the differences resulting from prepanne the budget on a
modified cash basis. In order to reconcile the budgetary results to the net results on an IPSAS
basis the non-cazh element= such as unliqmdated oblipafions, payments against prior vear
oblhizations and outstanding mdicative conmbutions are mmchided as basis differences,

195. Presenfation differences are differences i the format and classification schemes o the
Statement of Financial Performance and the Statement of Companson of Budget and Actual
Ansoumits.

196. Entity differences represent fimds other than Core budget, International Transachions Loz
and Contmzent budget for conference services that are reporfed mn the Statement of Financal

Performanca.

197. The reconciliaton betwean the actual amounts presented m statemsents V-A and V-B and
the actual amounts presented on the Statement of Fmancial Performance 1= as follows.
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Table IV.50
Eeconciliation of met result on budgetary and IPSAS basis
(Thousands of United States dollars)

Reconciliation gf net resuit on budgetary and [PSAS bazis

Actual net result on the Statement of budgets o actnal comparison

Statement V-A Core Budgst (315)
Statement V-B International Transaction Log {1423)
Actual net resuli on budgetary basis {1738)
Basis differences
Additional income compenents under IPSAS 1435
Exchangze gains/(losses) {1 803)
Conversion of unliquidated oblizations to delivery principle 811
Capitalization of equipment & infangible assets (10}
Changes in provision for doubtfal debis {1277
Snb-total basis differences (843)
Entity differences on IPSAS Basis
Trost fund for participaton in UNFCCC process 4654
Trost fund for supplementary activities 3768
Trost fund for the clean dewelopment mechanism (4 873)
Trost fund for the Special Annual Conmibution from the Government of Germany (291)
Special account for conferences and other recoverable costs (301)
Special account for UNFCCC programme support costs (728)
Cost Recovery (B00)
UNFCCC employee liabilities fund 2710
Snb-total entity differences 4139
Actual net resuli on the Statement of Financial Performance 1 558
MNote 22

Budget to Actual variance analysis

198. Explanations of matenal differences between the onginal budget and final budzet and the
actual ameunts are presented m the budpet performance report for hienmnom 20242025 by the
Executive Secretary accompanying these statements. See paragraph 18-21 for further details.

Note 13
Eelated partie:

199, UNFCCC has a range of working relationship with entties wathin the Umnited Nation
system as a whole All payment for expendriure made 1= done through the cash pool wiach 1=
managed by the United Mations Treaswy. Except ctherwize noted in these statements for revenne
from non-exchange transactions meluding contributions m kind, all transachons made with 3nd
parties oocur within a normal supplier or client/recipient elationship or at arm's length terms
and condrhons.

200. The Orgamizahion renmburses the United Mations for the cost of all services provaded at
such rates as may from fine to fme be agreed upon for that purpose by both crgamzations.

201. The authonty to establizh fimds 15 vested in the Secretary General of the Unated MNations
with the approval of the Conference of the Parties. All such funds must be consistent with the
objectves of the UN Convenfion on Climate Change. The temmination of amy exisimgz fimd by
the Conference of the Parhes and the distribution of any remammmg fund balance 15 subject to
consultabon with the Secretary General of the United Nations.



FCCC/SBI1/2025/INF.10

Table IV.51
Summary of senior management and related compensation

PP Aggregate remuneraticn Ouistanding advances ar 31
Numbar of mdividuals iIn thousands gf §) Dac 2024 {in thousands af $)
17 3§20 95

202, The semor management personnel of UNFCCC ae the Executrve Secretary, Deputy
Executive Secretary, Semor Dhrectors of the departmoents and Dhrectors of drnisions, who have
the authonty and responsibality for planmng, drecting, and confrollng the actvities of UNFCCC
and mfluencing 1ts stategic direction.

203, Advances are those made agamst entitlements m accordance with the =aff rules and
regulations. There were no loans granted to kev management personmel.

Mote 24

Leazes, commitments, and contingencies

24, Commitments relating to acqusition of goods and services comfracted for, but not
delivered as at 31 December 2024 amount to $9.7 milbion (9.6 million in 2023). Details are
shewm in the table below.

Table IV.52
Contractual commitments by category

(Thousands of United States dollars)
il December 2014 31 December 2023
Goods and services 044 5074
Travel related commitments 658 ER]
Total & Tz B 560

205. There are no conhngent habihifies ansing from legal actions and claims that are hkely to
result in a sigmficant habihty to UNFCCC.

206. There are no confingent assets of winch relate to offimal pledzes made by donors to
UNPCCC for future contmbutions at the reporting date.

Mote 15
Event: after the reporting date

207. The fmancial statements were approved for 1ssue on the date on which the Board of
Anditors signed the andit opmien Mone other than TTNFCCC has the authonity to amend these
financial statements.

Denor funding suspenzion

208, On 20 Jaouary 2025, a government donor announced a temporary suspension of foreign
aid to re-evaluate its International fundmg prontes. Management conrtinues to closely monitor
developments to nuhgate any potental mmpact on UNFCCC s operations. At the date of
authorizanon of these financial statements, UNFOCC 1= unsble to make an estimate of the
financial impact of the decision. In additon, no puhgations measures taken have resulted in the
creation of onerous comfracts, and po reliably measurable contingent habibibes have been
1dentified a5 a result of these mifization measures.

FProbable COM and TLT clozure

209, Whale the Clean Development Mechamsm {CDM) carbon market under the Trust Fund
for the Clean Development Mechanism (established in 1997 and operationalised m 2006 under
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the Kyvoto Protocol) finished om 31 December 2020, many of the emssion reduction activites
that were registered to the CDM confinue to operate and generate ERs. So as not to lose the
benefits of these ER=, the decimion passed at COP29 allows for afforestzhon and reforestation
project actvities and programmes of activities that had been remstered under the CDM to
transihon to be registered and authonsed under Arhicle 6.4.

210. The wind-down of the CDM 15 the subject of larger negohations, with some parties
aiming to shut down CDM operations by 2026, All habihiies and expenses related to the fund's
closure would need to be pand at the time of closure. Lizbilities, including ASHT of $18 4 mullion
and unrecoverable assets of $6.7 million, as well az fimd closure activities, would need to be
pad off if the closure were to fake place on 31 December 2024,

211. The Tmst Fund for the Infernational Transaction Log 15 also gomg through smmlar wind-
down talks; if the closme were to take place by 31 December 2024, a total of 51 .8 oullion m
habihties would need to be pard.

The Trust fund Paris Agresment Credit Mechanizm

212, The Conference of the Parties serving as the mesting of the Parties to the Paris Agreement
i their fourth sezsion on 19 Movember 2022 requested UNFCOCC to take necessary steps to
establish a trust fund for the receipt of the shares of proceeds to cover admmistratrve expenses
charged as fees under the Pans Agresment Credit Macham=m

213, In lme wath this decision, UNFCCC submutted a proposal to the Unsted Natons
Secretanat for the creation of the trust fund in September 2024, Management of UNFCCC 15 50l
m the process of agreeing on methodologes for transfernng assets and lhabalihes, and
operationalization of the Trust Fund 1= expected to commence on 01 January 2025, Expendifure
recorded as part of the inhal ereshon purposes amounts to $0.1 million and the Trust Fund 1=
not included in the 2024 financial statements for UNFCCC.

Note 16
In-kind contributions of zervices

214 The UNWNFCCC recerves in-kind contbutions from the gevernment of the Federal
Republic of Germany of the nght to use land, office space and other facihifies m 1ts operations.
The Chganization has not recerved fitle to these properties which remam with the government
The facihiftes are provided to UNFCCC without charge. The agreement under which the facmbhes
are provided does not entall formal cancellation poboes or tomelmes, UNFCOCC does mot
recogmize the valie of mn-kind contmbwhons of serices ncludmg the financial value of the
donated night to use the facilities provided by the Federal Republic of Germany on the financial
statements. In addibon, UNFCOCC recenves conference sermaces (miterpretation and document
preparation) # n-kmd contribution for the UN secretanat for mesting of the COP and the
subsidiary bodies.
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